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people, ASgIOTANT DISTIacT ATM 

Dor 42404BR AOS* 



(Thiringth xinatio tii.jiirf1r.Reeenber 

ed an follows  

I ask that this ba put upon the .record',: The DiStrict, 

Attorney •asked the quest:iox4. 711)14 you Oar. h 

Attorney that the entire panel of this' jury •be exatis 

On the ground that the remark ,made by :;the District 
Attorney

 is prejudicial, and. it As not 'Within the r*iaed 

by this indictment, and proof of that fact Would net be 

admissible upon the trial of this ease., 

TEN COURT: I did not hear the,D4:eitrict Attorney Mak 

any such statement. Your statement implies that :he „asked, 

motion. 

TM. ROS311331gRG : Tir.c eption. 

The jury was duly impaneled and sworn. 

The Court admonished the jury in accordance with sec-

tion 415 or the Code of arimiTula. PrCeureat- 8100 

the further trial of the ease until 2:3 o'clock P 

AIMIR Ricelss: 

'ROSRIMIRG: MayAt be underateod.•th t either I 

should object to any statement which / consider prejudici 

at the time the statemerlt• is rude or shall I wait until 



object, why object. 

MR. ROSENMEG:, Very well; then X ,trust the %Stria 

.Attorney will try and. not require my objections, being aade 

Assistant District Attorney Preis ,opened. the case - 

for the People as follows: 

May it please your onor, Mr Farman, and Gentlemen 

the the deferztant in this case hae.been 

the 0.rana.,aury of this county for the crime of: atteMptect 

„extortion The facts::0040hl the People *04  proVe.: 'ore 

thaaa::. Louis Blumenthal, on. the 9th, 10th and .11th 

December, 1911..t .lived at 202 Henry street t4e--- c'eu.nty; 

/To. 62 Rutgers SUP, in the -county of New York• 

9th day of December we will prove that  the defend 

he C amplaining witness Blumenthal .oPposite his plaee. of 

buiiness in Rutgers Slip, and d:emanded of hi 

inquired of the c.3omilaining Witnege...kf he had received the 

telephone meicage that he had sent t earli,er in the 

day demanding the $500. We will proVe. that Blumenthal 

said that had received * telephone meesage, but ha knew 

nothing about the matter, and th thereupon the dartindikat 



„ 

said. t what are you going to do about it e 

you 'going to pay the 00?” And the. nomPlainalwt 21.41trusedi'• 

and 'thereupon the defendant said "If you don't pay it 

will blow your head ff.. 

The People will prove the'clock in, the  about two 

orriing-u -. 

-NB. ROSMNBMG: (interPoling) No your °nor'., 

know. ouractly what Mr Prois is 'about to stete.-, 

'Mt COURT: Well,I. do not/  $o I cannot rule on• 

1M ROSBNBI1RG: Then ask that he state t private- , 

ly to your Honor, tso that, it may not prejudice the jury,. 

because. the evidence of that which Mr Prism is about to 

state cannot be admitted legally in evidence- in this  case?, 

THE COURT: Then I shall pay the jury the compliment 

of assuming that they are all of aufficient• int,elligencte 

to disregard Mr Preset Statement, 'becauee.t 

them accordingly • 

, MR. ROSENB:BRG: The wrong will then be done,. 

shall 0190 

THB) COURT: No, no, the wrong will not be. donee 

on, Mr Press • 

MR. PRESS (continuing:) The People will)rove that 
ok,11. 

at 2 o'clock on the morning of the 11th of December, a 

bomb Or Acme other instrument was exploded in the hall of 

the residence of  the cimplain witnels at No. 202 Henry 

street. 

4111111-



?re ftioR44-0t, 

obj eat to . the stateotent made„,i by 

the District Attorney and ask that your Honor direct the 

jury to disregard that: Statement that it would not  be 

Misaible in evidence, and it prejudices the 'rights of this 

defendant upon this trial. 

PRFi COURT: .gentlemen almonish you at you are. 

to determine this case from the eivid.ence and that 

You may- hearken unto the opening of th District Attorzle71 

which is intended to ahoy you the relation between -the' 

teptiviony and the different bits of it as it is Presented, -

and -to enable you to understand the bearing TOlioh the tes-

timony .1351.as upon hint the District Attorney'* 'contention 

but you are to accept no statement lade by the District 

. Attorney unless it is supported by qvi,derios hereafter' ad-

duced. 

MEL ROSAITIMG:' I except to 7oUr HOnor refusal' to 

direct the jury to disregard that statement 

TW COURT:' I have told them to disregard it. 

vat. ROS3X1331CRG: also except to your Honor refueal 

to direct the District Attorney io øtate nothing further' 

about that bomb throwing concerning -which he has just 

totted. 

TH3-COURT: I do not know this case./ fit semis 
3., 

incompetent ox irrelevant sh 3.2, =calla* i ,-when it 101 

offered f yoU, object**. 

• 



I. take in exceitioirt. 

PRISE' (continuing); And _thereafter we wi 

arrested while he and another were readiag an accOunt of 

this transaction, and on. those 'facts the People will 410 

for a verdict at your hands. 

1R. ROSNB]RG: Now, the defendant moves to have 

the Court direct the Di t riot Attorney to elect upon which 

Count of the indictment he intends to proceed to trial. 

- TWA 'COURT: Mr, District Attorney, I do not know what 

the 'counts are, but if you  can elect*, it is well to do so. 

MR. PBSB: I cannot at the moment your Honor. 

me n connection with that. The defendent demands "tha 

the District Attorney state upon which 'prowision,'-ofithe 

law,- or  section of the :00de this defendant 14 being * 

rslgtved for trial. The indictment ' down t state the 

otion of the. law under which this defendant is, oharged 

with crime. the crime of ottoptoi4 _extortion and there: 

ar, two distinct rime* of ion defined by 



riti taint more definite and mitts* in due Course hrive 

You have not .desturreiL to it; you have made no 

- other -motion touching the indictment, haVe, you 

rosmalm.: 

THE- cow : gr Dittriet AttOrney, 

can properly intimate under what section of the liw you  • 

propose to proceed, or under which. .count of the indictment 

• you are going to seek a conviction, it would be 

proper thing to do so, b  1 make no direction.. 

MR. PWSS: Well, if your Honor please, 

ney for the defendant had had ary doubts about the indict-

ment that he Would have ptoceetted es you have suggested 

long before this. i• am not at the moment prepared to go 

di to prove and, that he actua3,1i did die. 

THE COURT:. Proceed with the case, 11,1* District At' 

o•  the District Attorney scoop 



TI.IX COURT: I do net &teas-. I have directed\ the Die-

Attorney to proceed with his case. 

URI PRV613; The Dirstriot AttorneY -does no 

X T XI• IVZ-'11 4 B NT It A L, called, is a -vitae**. on. be-

halt ot the topple, and being duly !Worn* teStificd trhough. 

Officialerpreter Rosenthal as followel 

140idinttet 284 Madison *treat 

.3)I032:41.KAIIINATION 3Y MR. 

Blumenthal, what was the name of your hnelisad? 

..toUis Blinn 

..Whe.t, was 

Where•did. he live on the 11th dsy of.becemberj 1011? 

202 Henry  street,. 

Did he have a place of busineide-

'Where was his shop on the 9th, day of Deoember,1912 

Zn the ,eamo 

Had lie any place of business it  65 %Aga, street? 

the sante place: where the shop. is now. 

Was your buisband, the ,complaining witness in the  case 

the People against Charles Viti 

• inikrrjely oross-wcamine the witness as to her Personal know].- 



Do you remeraber. the date? 

.11B ROSIMBIRG: / object your Ronor, as incompe 

immaterial and. irrelevant. I have admitted 

Obj ecti on—overrul ed itco eption 

the week was it that he died? A Sunday. 

About nix or seven o'clock in .the 

evening. 

Where did he Ole 

Roovisimm t obj inccapetent, immaterial 

rrelevaiit 

Objection ',.ov rrul Alto ept i on 

A In the Offiee of Witkin 

'Where is that, if you-know? A In Division stree 

or of Canal; street 

Did you see his dead 130d3r? 

ROSSITITO: I objeorupon the ground  that the 

witness flax. already testified that t er husband is dead, 

and it s not disputed, by the defendant. 

Objection oierruled ption. 



^ 

3A1004.- •-•*4k;-, 

It 

CROSS..3ZAMINATION .311Y BOSPMBITIRG 

Were you in the MagistrateCourt of the City of New. 

York on becomber- 13, 1911t A- 

Q. Were you in tho Magistrate 13 Court of the city of 

'York; Borough of Manhattan, Third District, on either the 9th, 

10th, 11th, Igtb. or 13th .of DeceMber, 1911? A No, I was not 

there., 

Did you ever • see your husband in that Magistrate 

-'0.0-ixtt on .either of the :detee which Z have •mentioned? 

Atintlt know, I did not see him. 

.9;•iB 

, .BOS=BItliGt I move.- to -strike • out that part of; 
• .the Wiitneas testimony. wherein .She stated that her -Uwe... 

Iletid Was. the 'complainant in ••:0•:crtain _ease and 'it „now' .; • 

appears that ahe was -not present, and her information mit 

be Ettirg1.7 hellrtia3r-

IVO COURT: Well, is Ythere any objection 

lat • MSS: No 014 action, your 'Honor. 

TR4 COM: Strike' it out. The law will presume it 

from the siMilarity of names. 

I T. MURPEY,..• oailedanddulyswox'nasa 

witnees on behalf of the People, testified'. as-

liesidence' 3,23 Cherry. street. 



T-I[AXINATIOX B R. MISS: 

Question withdrawn.. 

Q What was Louis Blumenthai's home addreSS, 

did he live- A 202 Henry street. 

Where was his place of business 

-EY PR110$1-

-pid,,you ..airost this defendant? 

On whose aoMplaint did; you arrest him? 

.01 eat. . TheLrecord • 

•

 

evidence. 

THE. COM He may *newer- the •question. It it 

• Roalpmaqt 3zootuon:0: 

,On ;the :c0iplaint of 7kOula Blumenthal. 

IOWA Blumenthal, whom you halts Atosoriboa, 

present in the Police Court. when thi* de 



Q I ask you to look at this paper, and see if that 

gnature of Louis Blumenthal? A - Test air, it is. 

Did you see him- write it on that oeca,sion? 

PRE$S I now otter, this eogiPlaint. in:_evidenee's 

MR..ROWBrAIG: Z object .as incompetent* immaterial.. 

and irrelevInt,.-and: hearsay') einci not the deposition eom 

violated by law* authorising its admission in evidence., 

THE COMM., Where is the • la*, on *huh you. rel. 

Distric t Attorney?  

MR Por the admission, of thia:- this is only 

or the purpose of identification as tp the individual 

touitt•BluMenthal being the same who is  dead, 

•.ROSIOTB-• .306: Z. will  admit that. 

,THE.'COURT: We will .receive his signature for identi. 

ication at titt's time, if that le all yen want, but you'S' 

And I so specified* for the purpose of identifying 

Zonis Blumenthal vb.° is dead as 4he Louis Blumentba3. 



Jamorttlainalt against .this defendant. 

•'7101 .0QURt; Y0u, have :prOlre4tii ihat 447e1045r* Iii(A; this 

for idootifl4at4it:at. this titto* 

(Marked, People's Exhibit X for .:IdentifieatXO0).,,, 

BY UI. DRESS; 

4. is 18414* Bç3wflenthal: Eqprei the complainant in the ease 

.The People against :.Charles Vitualky.? -A 

q Did you ;see his dead b041 A Yes,. a 

That 1 all. 

(No  ereseNexamination 

ANDREW 00R 0 U RItE,. called nd duly sworn 

en behalf of the People, testified as follows: 

(Residenee 480 Bast 140th Street). 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY R. PRBBS:. 

&Bourke *at is your business?, 

official stenographers connected with the City Magistrate's 

Court, Pirst 

.qt, Were you ihe stenographer in the City Magistrate's 

Court of the 3rd District, on the 13th day of Deoember, 191 

I was, 

Did you take the minutes in the ease of`'the People i 

the complaint of Louis Blumenthal against Louis 

A Louis -- Charles ItitViXr. 

Well, it is Louis on the outside Oharlios V`itittiCr 



kieare•V; 

14 

Z yei. 

4.. Halite you got these minutes with you? A Yea, . sir. 

is this a, bOrrect transcript.of. your stenographic notes' 

made on that .occasion at that hearing? A, With the exception 

of those few trivial changes which X made out there. 

*ill you make those ohanget; please? A All right, sir. 

By MR. RpgrfiBERG: 

Q Will you announce them Mr. O'Rourke, so that I can make 

them in mine? A .Yee., sir; will give them to you.right after. 

BY MR. 1'RIC6S: 

9, Are those a correct transcript of your stenographic 

notes made on the occasion of the hearing in the case of The. 

People; etc on the complaint of Louis Blumenthal against 

Char3.ea Vitusky, in the City Magistrates Court 3rd Distric 

. on the lath day of December; 1911? k -They are, sir. 

On that ocoe.sion, can you tell me Ndio Vae presiding 

Magistrate was? A According to my notes, the presidi* It s-

rate- 0312.0hiLt day was 1164' Robert C. Cornell 

II Who was the representative of the District Attorney 

office present on that occasion? A Mr. Lockhart, I believe his 
, 

Marne irtti 
'A 

And whO represented the defendant on that da A Mr. 

Henry Rosenberg. 

And you were the officialstenographer, You have said? 

A Yee iir. 

trA. 



Ira - Leuil.-.Blumenthel„ a witnenn on at .0oossi2on? 

.notes wav There min such a -witness .the 

cosplaining wttuens 

Tap be Mr. ItoOklia t -for the People? A Ito 

waii. he cross examined by Mr Rosenberg, the attorney 

the defendant? A Ye sir. 

And that Uri .Rosenberg 0.s the name Mr* -Rosenberg who 

VePresepte the defendant on this veaasion? A Yen, nix,. 

Ma. MOSS it 'your Honor please, 1 offer in eW 

.dence the testimony of Louie Blumenthal, the direct and 

,orosase.exatination taken in. the City liaiatra1e's Court, 
3rd District! 

THE 'COW: now, under what section Of the Cede' 4o you 

zanke. that offer? 

11:1‘ 

Vhe People againat. Elliott, 172 NolCiiZ believe 
, 

in thoroughly familiar with the ease* 

THE COMITI 1 kn,ow the case, but 

to retro". memory• 

.PRIOSS Your Honor will also recollect 



\ 
vvv--

34 

The other- case I refer to le the ease of The Pospli 

of.zthe State of New  York against Charles lierowits.4..tritet, 

before your' goner, in whiah the same question was .ra40141 

and on the same utharity and the testimony was 'admitted 

in that dale. 

TB COURT: Was that tate passed upon by the Appellate 

Courts?' 

MR. TOMS: •NO, your Honor* 

MR. ROSENBICRG:- There are several Miele", Will Your 

Honor let me get an objection in? 

TIM COURT: X have told you you oouI 

t OTIS • 

MR. ROSIRIBERG: The defendant obj cots to the introduc.-

tion of the Gest3.mony 0'; Louis Blumenthal) given in the 

Magistrate's Court of the City of /Stew York, 3rd District, 

referred to by the present witness upon the following 

note your oble 

grounds: 

Pirst: That the said testimony i inoo etent 

avant, immaterial and hearsay. 

Second: That the said testimony hap not been reduced 

by the Magistrate before •wb.om the Said testimo # given, 

to the to  of a deposition in the presence of the Wes* 

as proTidod for by Subdivision 4 of Seotion 8 of the • 

Cede or Criminal Prooedure d. because of the failure te, 

So reduce the said testimony t the form of a de esition, 

• 

611911E-7 



Blumenthal . has not been read to; or signed • by the said- louts 
, 

'Blumenthal; as .provided by law, and as further provided  for . 

by Section 264 Of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 

Pourth: That the said testimony of Louis 'Blumenthal 

is not a deposition Within the meaning of law, and there is 

no proof that the said testimony was ever readby cr to the 

laid Louie Blumenthal. 

Pifth: That there is no legal evidence beOre the 

--Court establ-i-shingeth.at the charge Contained ,in the indict. 

merit herein, was the same charge upon which the defendant. 

was arraigned and the preliminary examination had before 

• the Magistrates' Court of the City of New York, at which 

the said testimony of Louis Blumenthal was given: 

Sixth: Tat the defendant ie entitle d as of right 

under. the laws of the State of New YOrk, to be confronted 

with the witnesses against him in the presence of the Court, 

land vihich right is guaranteed to °him under the Third'Sub-

diviaion of Section 8 of the Code of Criminal Procedure; 

Now, if your Honor will turn. to Section 8, Subi.divir 

ston '3 of the Code of Criminal VrooOdure YoU iril. fintl 

among tb.e rights given to. the defendant to produce witn 

412 his b half; and to be confronted with the witness* 

against hi3m7iitthe presenci of the Court 



• 1-
- THA.COURT (interposing) Yee, I ,am • quite familiar with' 

It 'tan been held that he had that right in the 

liagiatratest CoUrtir and that if he bad it .once the la 

is complied 

MR. ROMBERG: 

. words On th.t and I think.I an  convince your Honor 

I Can refer your Honor to the case you...haVe in 

your hand 4ria show .7oit the absolute diss1milarity 'between 

the two. 

TITB COURT: Well, I know there a. 41073irailarity. 

I see it myself« It io new and novel, and Z" may say a n3.30 

cit,testipn o law, 

'MR. ROSEMIERG:'. Will your Honor let me show you the 

Very 00Sfy that went to the Appellate Court, and my aon 

"4 A ZAWCX012 xA 0 by_those oases? 

a a leading case th 

if you have it before you 

is the Gilheoler ,ce.ae 

Appellate Division, page 234. 

TEE COURT: NOW, nd to tie, and, do 

ea..d. If you do will nOt be able to ree 



want to refer your Honor: There is no doubt in law that if 

a defendant had the right to cross-examine a witness who 

appeared. a1  a preliminary examination, that that evidence 

Would be entitled to be read in upon the trial, proVided 

two things concur; first, the identity of the charge, 

and secondly, that the testimony be reduced .to writing in 

the form of a deposition and signed by the person who Om' 

tifiedg It you will. look at the. Gilhooley 040e at the 

bottom of page 23, you will see that the error was claim-
. cuku.4.4. 

ed to have been, inAthe de osition of Minnie Seymour, taken. 

at the preliminary* examination, and the Appellate Diyision 

of this .Department said ',The witness Minnie Seymour las 

sworzt, examined by ion and answer in the presence of 

the appellant, and she signed her testimony. That is the 

point l-want to make. She signed her testim ny • The ai!as. 
a/4k 

of the *people against Vingok,in 125 N.Y., also, your Bonor. 

TEN COURT: Now, let mel'aes that oases 



y in Ufle with the atatement: which made a moment ago. 

MR ROSENIT20: Well, the point I make is this, a 

:itkecitied by  the Glahooley (mom., and all the cases to which 

want to refer your H071037! There is no doubt in law that it 

a defendant had the right to cross-examine a witness who 

appeared at a preliminary examination, that that evidence 

would be entitled. to be read in upon the trial, -provided 

two things first, the identity of the charge, 

• and secondly, that the testimony be reduced to writing in 

the form of a deposition and signed by the person who tee-

ttfied. It you will look at the Gilhooley case at the 

bottom of page 235, you will see that the error, Was...,pIaixo:. 

ed to have been infsthe detosition of Minnie Seymour,. taken 

at the pre.liminamy examination, .and the Appellate Division 

of this tiePartment said. "The witness Minnie Seymour was. 

sworn examined by question and answer in the presence of 

the appellant, and she signed her testimony.* That is the 

point 1 want to make. She signed- her testimony. The gai 

of the people against neck, in 125 N.Y., 'le o, your Honor* 
t. • 

THIt COURT: Now, let fierile that case. 

R. ROSIMBHRG Yes, sir.. 



case in your favor, 

UR* 11013ENBERGt 'Why,- certainly it is,  

II COURT: 2 understand the pCilit you Make,, that 

you distingnieh the Gilhooley case larE-19nYtng that 'th 

deposition viva never signed? 

R. ROMBERG: And inthe  02.113.00ley case it e 

signed-, and that is .why they admitted it in evidence 

TEE COURT: Z Anderetand your point. 

'US* ROSUBVIte:.No'w, in the Elliott case, let me call 

your attention to that, The People against $111tott, 1/2 

N.Y. That was, the -come which wasfirst tried and Dr. . 

Brooks died between the first trial and the .seoond trial.. 

THE COURT: Well, • the only Point here is whether or not 

the faning to sign that. affects its -reception. 

MR. ROSENBERG: The statute  itself eayegt 'wider Sub-

division 3, that the testimony so given' shall be reduced 

to the form of a deposition, and Seotions194 and 1204•of the 

COde of Criminal Procedure provide that the depowition, must 

be signed, after its haVing been read to the witness4 Now,. 

the Elliott case, let me just shOW you the distinction be-

tween the Elliott case and the case it b. Xn the Elliott 

Case the. Court of Appeale distinctly said thtthe,reason 

they admitted the deposition or the evidenc 

given upon the itorrOir trie4, vie beilkeli upon Section .83O6?  



even* of, the death., ab,sente or. 'insanity, of a, .p 

testimony may etvan. The. 0,our,t of Flipp 

Seat:Lon 33331 vib.lok define*, 14.1;4 an *Lotion 

Court. tan: be -introduced trt evidence, must be bo pnreuant t. 

authority given by Sub,-division 5) Section 

otherwise the section say we are 'entitled to: be cOntrortted 

with the. wttnossee eXceP:t 

THB COURT (Interposing) 2 vn$ertad that What 40 

you say,. 'Iitre District Mtorxey, as to tb fai1rG to sign 

thie; deposition? 

MR. MSS; If your 4.p.por Will xesd the section of  

the law, you, will ftnd, that the County of New York is ex 

Oepte4 on the question of a deposition* 
, 

tM COURT Well, I shall give you an exd.opian and 

reoette 

MR. ROBENBMG: An right Well, i this considered 

then 4 deposition), your Honor, as a Whale 

THE COURT: X shall receive it in evidence and give y u 

exception. 

MR. ROSRFBM: To which fe defnd&nt excepts. 

(The testimony of Louis B31unenthal is marked Peapis's 

Zxhibit 2 In e'rideno0 

VB. IMIlarAWS: Toes your 



..tion and to \1;isi read aa'e depoSition, is the whole of t1.214 
•.' ot;vot.. 

to be read.,, orxmar.I requir 

admitting: this . in evidence,_ 

.Of it, which I :(onsider hearsay or 

THE COURT': If .there • are bjedtion, 

the objections as they arise. I have received the 

tin.  If you lieoire to  obj-ect X will hear•yoUr'objeo#0;4:.. 

'MR* ROSICHSERCti Well, In order that there. •cari-be•tiO 

misunderstanding, in view_ of the ti0t that your Honor .hars... 

admitted thid alleged deposition, and testimon.Yi.-1.034344110 

.it as a deposition, I rely upon your Honor' s ruling, . and.: 

roXy upon .the exception before; 

- THE COURT: well if you desire to object to .any pore 

upon your objection. . lirow proceed. with your ,readiaig 

If& ROSE01410: One moment. I wouId:like. to have it 

admitted that this .testimony was written 014 r by:the ste. ...-

nographer the other day., 

M11., PRESS: The stenographer has testified on the 

Uses sta,rii that this is an exaot copy of his.stenographio 

notes taken on that occasion* 

ltR0 ROSEOPRG: It was written out only Yesterday 

day before yesterday, nu you admit that? 

R* TiRICSS: Yes! Z will admit that,-

UR, ROGENBIEGI Then it is admitted that the stanogrsph 



Or write out these minute.- tilat Sr. now considered a de 

sition? 

MR. FRISS: Mr. O'Rourke, take the Btsnd 4uat one 

IARBOT PAMXNATION BY MR. ToRigSSi1 

Mr. Cionourke how long have you been engaged as an of-

tidal stenographer? A Over four years. 

Before that what occupation were you A Stenographer 

for about ten years previously 

or ten years previously you had ,been a etenographer? 

A Yee, 
an official 

And for the last four years you have *been stenOgrapher 

er the atty. Magistratei Court of New York.;) A Yea, air, the 

'Magis'tz'ate's Court 

When did you transcribe your. if:Item 0:f •the; testi ny et 

/souls Blumenthal? A Yesterday morning 

That was what date? A he  14th.--

4. The 14tb. of Vebruary, 19/2? A. The 34th of liebrU 



Q Were they ever U.-inscribed befoie yesterday 

q That is all. 

MR. PRESS (Reading) - "Louie Blumenthal, ti 

DIRigaT imatitextur. 

That is your name? k. 'Louie"Blumenthal.. 

MR. AOSENBSRG: Well '2 object to that. testimony. 

The District Attorney has not started in to- read the ex 

hi:bit which is in evidence, not that I ask it to be read, 

but X tell your Honor that be has not started in in to read 

the deposition. 

THE COURT: ,Well, I supposed he MS 

is the matter/ 

MR* ROSTEME,R13: There is some other .par 'tof it. 

THE COURT.«. You will read it correctly, Mr. strict 

MR. PEESS: Your Honor, I bel eite 2 ant capable of 

reading it. -I wil2 start again., (Reading) nu the City 

•

 

Magistrate's Court of the City of New Yorirst Division 

The People of the Sta e Of Now York, On he complaint 

ouis Blumenthal, against Charles Vitiasky. 

Obarg Attempts& extortion.  



4 

"Wednesday, \December 13th, 1934. 

Cornell,.. Magistrate,. 

Mr. Zockhart,A$sietant =strict .4ttorneY, 

proaecution: 

K. ifenry Rosenberg, Attorney for defendant. 

Andrew O'Rourke, Stenographer, 400 East 140th Street-, 

New York Gity# 

The, Court reads the complaint* ,0,0. 

MR. ROSENBERG: Now, that 2 obj eat to, as not a depi.00-

tion contemplated by law, and not the deposition of touio. 

Blumenthal which has been -admitted  in evidence,' and *I take' 

an exception. 

MR. PRESS (Continuing reading). *The Court reads the 

eamplaint:. 'Attempted to extort from him the Ourt of $1500., 

by threatening. to do him bodily harm. Ile says that upon 

the date of the 9th of December, at 65 Rutgera Street, this 

.defendant said to deponent that he would bust his head 
over to . 

unleoa he paidim $50O. Depottent refused to comply With. 

the defendant I a demand. 

MR. ROSENBERG: One -moment. Before the Ulan • is 

read, I ask that your Honor read. that, 37 

not within the is sues here, and why prajudø this jury with 

smitten which °lowly :will prejudice. the Mind or the 

agaiast Va.* defendant, and which eennet be proven? 



TH3t COURT: t do riot quite understand your, objection. 
.41(4, 

-What is t he preolie point that you wish Stricken Out  

SR, R0031;BSRG: X object to the District Attorney' 

reading the following paragraph. 

ME COURT: What is the following paragraph? 

be has not re4 t yet? Taet me see it first. 

ROSSEXISRG: Thai-- last paragraph. 

(Ur. Press bandit the exhibit to the Court.) 

pnast. Your Honor, t have etarted to read from 

*Mumenth4s and counsel objected. Z era reading 

it all ara willing to do t1un that he wanta 

TO _COURT: Do you want that a tatement touching 

Omitted trOm the ,reading? I want 0.4tuiderstan 

ection. re that your objeotiont 

that is Osolutel 

THE COURT; DO you Wish that omitted? 

• R0133/1B3RG: X wish the whole of\ tb. 

. TH3 -COURT: Ko,rio I have ruled against you on that1 

I ask you now the question,do you wish thatiparligraPh touch«. 

ing the i)norabl omitted? 

lett* ,ROSIMBERCI: Well, X wish t 

the "holt of hill testimony omitted. 

TH3 COOR.2: Ur Rosenberg do, not spar. 



.148.triO.t...Att,Orney has . react. .•up:. to the IstateMent...teuch 

the bomb. Do you .wish the stPatement touchig the bomb 

omitted. and. stricken out and  not broti.ght to the attent 

of the jury?  

mit. Rau:nowt t claim that ia absolutelyeg 

.0** that the jury should. not hear 

THE COURT: Very well. Then omit 

statement at this time, Irr. District Attorney. 

1!4‘.• CRESS: Consented to. 

.NZOuie Blumenthal ) the comgaltant..) *-i#0.-4tay.jiworn 

eatifted.as folioWe;,. 

.:13:1XR3CT •11)EWNATIO)it 

What in your name/ A Louis 14unientha.11 
107_ • . 

:Where 4.0 you livet QQ(Ir. Henry -1414.e 

.1:t What ,ia your, business, .A B14010M#12*. 

'4- Where is your . place of 1=4.i:10:Mt. • 

gere strte.., 

4 In the county of New York? - 

How far is4'ziyour house from your place of bust:tees 

About eight bloolm 

On the 9th day of DeceubeF, 19L1, were you in 

horesphowing place in Rutgers street? Yeas) sir 

Did you. see this defendant there? A Yes Iair 



one and tWCke, Saturday in  the .afternoon. 

4 .t.A.d: you -hare  any conversation with hiort. 

- never had .4 conversation. 

Q .•Did he talk to you? A Yes, he talked to me. 

He Asked me for. 

Zutt state what the convereation was 

conversation wax, / bad a:Couple of telephonts' he tele-

phoned down to me•and.saked Mofor 

ROSERBIKI lbw* I object to that lest answer 

.concerning the -telephone call-, on the ground that the 

witness is not • shown to have known the defendant's voice. 

THE COURT:. .Well, the opporti.03,11,:7 Tao .tiwn. ant 

*here .to have :brought that up. Go eon. 

10, ROsENBBRG To which thedefendant excepts. 

141ti 14031SW.(Centinuing reading): 

DU he Say who. he was over the telephone? 

No1 sir, he says Want 45'00 from yoU,. 1 says 

'OPY I cannot give you. 2 watt to see the prty4. 

He says Ilbn got lots of friends, you can find out 
#00) friendsAwhouwan go for 11.2 have no friendsl, 

don't know., That was Tuesday. Saturd afternooab 

about fifteen minutes after one, •I see this man Coif! =Mulct 

• with 'a horse and wagon. He said to mat COE over him*. 

'Q 'Where was he standing when is si4d that? 



a Ibiook :ereta place1-cr.* 65 Rutgers atree 

t.Come trier here, t 40 the Mitterly 

ILneyer Saw that maw* ..110.. :00,y0 Dontt you know iltett 

id '1 don't know you.; 'Tau neyer heard 

about the .$5pq11 I Said you had 

says IX, never heard.' Afterwards he *aid What a 

you going to do about 

X Said 1Por what.;. X don't know 

Q Were you right there'? A He was talking, 

he was there He said  to .me What are you going, ti 

do about the $5601._ I eaid I vrill not give you 

penny, I don't know. Then e said *If you donut., 

4ock up 4500 1-vril2 'blow your head off. 

Q Where -44dathis -cnnyersation take place? 

in my place on the other aide. 

Q,, In front of NO. 65 Rutgers street? A flaf 

from my place the.other side* 

14- Inta vfas' Pteeent at that time? 

and John Wilson, 

.•On what floor cl,o you. li4e in Henry street? 



'What happ ed 133, -*our place' RØiu7- Street,* 

MR.-ROSMISERG (Inter oriing)' X object to that as 

incompetent 'immaterial and irrel,eTan . addition  t 

each of the objections urged on the introduction of the 

supposed. 'deposition* 

THE COURT: Well, the objection to the question now 

read is ,overruled. 

• ROSESBERG: Exception.. 

KR PRESS (Continuing re4ding) 

*Defendent,Pli: counoel• Obje tion 

question allowed. 

MR*, ROSEN:Mar ( InterPosing) I 'ask that the 

answer be stricken 00 as not reeporisiYa. 

THE CatIRT:r; Go on,,. finish your reading, 

U:14 R03402.04G Exception,c 

A. TRIOS (Continuing reading) "Here the official 

interpreter was callecd., 

Want this man to speak in Yiddish whew. 

'Oyer a question :is 'put by the District Attorney.* 

ROSEITBERG (interpos I object to the state-

ient read as to .what the. Court said. 

THE CtRinTr_ Strike out the .statement 

.31R.,PRESS (Continuing reading) 91. Some time late 

bOmb there exploded and dsustan e entire heues• 



XELX0101111:5340.1 74terporsiii bjeet as .inOtospeof* 

tent1izenater:i01 anti•irrelevant. and  not  within the iSsueS . . . 

in this oases and an  attempt.t0.00,tabliah_.a;separate 

and distinct in no wise oonnected. With. the charge 

UOfl trial, 

• ROSENBIER.G: Bzoeption, 

MR ?MS (Continuing read,ing 

'CROSS 3MAIIINATIO1: 

Blunienthai, how long asyou in the country 

A Seventeen years. 

Ct You are a citizen, are 

citizeni ea a business mane X have not taken out 

any Papers Oa yet. 

Tou underetand Fngcarry Ion your business 

3nglish, little bit in naglish and a 

You Understood every word. that was said by 

the 'brit:4 Attorney', A Yesv 

to the time that you were .rtpeplying through the 

intezbpretert- you understood everything that was said? 

and slowly so that the O' 



f.E3 
it.rpretsr? AYes, sire 

1,4 It you don t tmderitaxid my,question, 1eaSe 

the rudge, will you  If you cannot expreSe yourself 

'English,- do ,it through the interpreter? All right* 

Q On the 10th day of December that was. Sunday 

that correct? A Yes sirs 

..Did yo see this defendant at any time% on  December 
.... 10th„ yes or ,no? 

INTERPRETYR: ' He says he does not understands 

.pr.et er s Statement• be stricken•Out , 

TEE COURT k Strike it out. 

PRESS (COntinding reading): 

through interpreter 

*sew hiski:. not on that day* 

That. Tfas Sunday X at t 

have no 

g about? 

What' hour did you eay o Sunday morning there 

was an explosion'• Sunday morning ten to two. 

MR ROSENIMG (Interposing) i One moment s 

object to the question LW not part of theissues 

case,. and not germane to the issulit tzt-

his OVII question, your 

tion ov r 'Exception 

PRESS Contimuing resting) 



• "t• 
: 

o ,c1 Ok. Sumtay. aornig 7 A MOnday- morning. I 

"Did.'yOu 000 ; -the defen.dant at any time between mid-

night Of ,SUndar end eight -0:clack::therfollawint MOndifir 

morning? A Where co4d X have Seen him, t remitting*:im 

the tains at that time during the night. 

you sea hitt A have not seen .him, except that 

about seven or * quarter after seven that morning *he* 

X saw him reading .a paper On PorSyth street near 
Delancey street.. 

Zen 't.. that where the -defen ant has an: .exprees wagom 

with a havge ientt that where he was standing4k

 Yee

 

lie wae reading a Hebrew paper, ie t that :right+ 

A Ita, didn't read it: himeeAffIbut I know that he gay0 it to 

another manto1 x.!ead for him, • 

You were not there when he gave the paper to the 

other mutt 'A. X II/aye. noticed that the other mom 

hae been hadirig the paper before him. Ie was 

and .this man was. listening to hint 

ct Is it a fact. that front_th Saturday when you .saw 

• that: you saw he defendant 'until the date (,),f the arrest,. 

haIre you didtilt see the defendant.; ,As that fact 

not seen Ilia- un that. morning.. 

What time on Saturday- December 9th, wae it that 



4 • 
yott spoke to the defendant, and that the defendant: Spoke tip 

That was on the sidewalk at what street  

street .on the ether sidei..acroes the way fro)* 

• ny Place. 

And. the defenant was there with his horse audi 

isn't that right? A Yes about half a block away 

from Itly 

fl Were you alone when you were taking with the 

defendant? A 'While he was' taking to me about the 

money at the time X said- r would not giro him ;the money-

then he  said teU X am going: to take your head 

:that time there were two men hear by, :011n Wilson an. 

They are both here in the court .zoom. 

DtailkiD,A14VS COUNSEL: I should like to hay* 

Cohen and Wilson excluded.. 

THLCOUR  Yes40 it they -axe within re 

Tell them not to go away, 

Q Are 'Meson and. Cohen connected in your busineas? 

Wilson is working for He haa beendsnd 

working for me new yet. 

Q. What does he dol ilson A Ite takes care of the 

herself, .drtres out with the heroes and brings them in, 

does to them' in genera aid, does entering of every. 



dinner, etc. Doe* odd.* and. ends in my place. 

Its he related to you? A 

Was he working for you on that day? 

ft tailor by trade. How can he work for mej  

nHow far was Cohen and Wilson from you when you were 

talking with the defendant/ A About Etc far as. from 

me to this gentleman (indicating the stenographer) 

About three feet? .'Ack*116-"Just about as we are 

standing, the three of us together. 

Q Cohen and Wilson and you approached the defendant on 

the opposite .side of 'vthe street, is that correc 

Woo Cohen :and Wilson were on the other side.. 

were -calling me. They were just approaching it the 

king to this man and while the 

defendant told tie that he would take my heed off,* that 

he should take my head. oft.. 

Q. D1C311' t he say' Cut his head off Didn't he 

say 'Take his head off?' know what they  

about taking your head off? A. Be daid to rn 



you will not nook Up the money', I will blow  your head off* 

THE COURT: Did he tell you that in..ingliShiv 

Yes six' X jumped up on the -wagon He  44.40t 

'Pre11 0,1*. of course, I was on the -wagon* The number 

where he 3ceeps, his horse and wagon:, 101 and 102 Delancey:-

• street., X was on ,the wagon, That time X .came in in 

the nighttime about. ftre O'clock,came right to the stio, • 

tion house and reported, I just Came in at the time. 

3.00k out fOr h 

(This last answer inAb oken Baglitslu 

T113 0)11.112g We will stop here, gentlemen. 

The Court admonished the jury in accordance with 

section415 of the Code of Criminal .Procedure, 

the further trial of this case until 

161 1912, at 10130 o'clock Adk Ift• 



Now 'ark, *Vebruary 16 19120 

Jai Itesuaed, 

is (Continuing _reading 

*Whitt language did the defendant. speak- when he 

about • blowing your head off, Zuglieh or tiadUatt 

told ate 1T- will blow .your head Off* inangIieh,. 

Didntt you tell the Judge that he spoke 'Yiddish 

to you, didatt you tell the Judge that the defendant 

spoke Yiddish to you? A Teo will blow your, 

head of 

4.4 

:la :that .1riddiahl Did you toil the Judge that 

. • when the defendant. to you he *peke in .Yiddish? • 

know that he said  ity",:jrnglieh. to ma: ill blow your head' 

offt, unwed upon the. wagon,* 
11 

740, all the ,Other talk he spoke in UdLdieh? , 
few in Dfigusb. a,12.4. -a feW in Yiddish* . 

, 
Did y-ou take Cohen and Wilson over as witneSeetst 

Ago. 

Haire y u spoken to " ohefl and Wi4eon about thia 

case? A I nertrex%-' 

.Did either Cohen or Wilson tell you what they otad 

ar in this case? A 

41 Did Cohen or Wilson talk about the 'case with oti 

114--

'7 



• You hare never spokes, to either Cohen or ,Wilaer 

about the Case? A Spoke with Sam Wilson because he 

is liorking for me. I told him' to do anything. 

But not about the case? Did you ask Coley, 

Wilson 'vhe` r they renumbered the defendant 

about blowingyour head A After they see whi 

happened. on Monday, so they say what the 'maw.done to 

ROSIVIIREt (interposing) Without waiving 

the objection interposed to the reading of the deposit*O4 

;moire that, that be  stricken out. 

TEB COURT ,k Strike it, out. 

PRESS (Continuing ' reading) 

Did you speak to Cohen or Wilson and ask. either 

of eM whether they heard the demand made upon YOU for 

'money?, • A Yes i People came around and I told 

them what he 4010" -   

MR. ROSENBERG.(interp Aing) 

from *People came around* be stricken out as not re. 

eponsive; 

MR. PEBSS: Ithgre was no objection taken at the tii 

and it was lir. Rosenberg's OM =ASA eXaminetiolK. 

TR31*COURT: iilaTiet it stsa4. YolebrAngh 

Mr. .Rosenberg. Why did you not ask to strike it 

,out then '-and there? Why did. you Iwo& sleep on your 



THE COURT': 'No, except on this occaeon. v•en. 

great 1cmer rieds. 

181. ROSENBPROI 

stricken . Out 

THE, COURT: tell1 i,litrike that out, 

MR PRESS Continuing reading) 

Did you ask Cohen or Wilton whether either ona 

of the* heard the defendant de*Ind money from you  

A Yes, :X hate asked them, they 'old me *0 

Q When did you ask them that A 07ohn W11001.. 

1..ROSESHMO (Interposing) II ask that that 

answer be stricken out as ,not respOnsiirs to ttos.qUestion.• 

and purely hearsay, 'without waiving the objection. 

*IL if PRESS: There was no objection taken atthe 

4111d it your Honor please it is responstre* 

THE COURT: X will deny: the motion 

MR« ROSENBERG: Exception. 

MR PRESS (Continuing reading) 
7 

Is that all that you said? • A Yes 



Q gyou ask ;Wilson whetheit-he heard the 

made- by tam for the no'neyet 

asked e 'Have you borrowed •-any-money from him?* 

said ixOAi 

1.1R- nosznauf (Interposing) 

the answer after 'Yes be stricken Out , without waiving 

4he original objection. 

MR. Mk& PRESS: r. Rosenberg did MA object to it in the 

police court. )3 Was milked by him. 

Mt* ROSIOD3Mallay / just maXe tbiø ozie objection? 

TILE COURT: You bare already made an objection to the 

entire, deposition., Now': you will not be :deemed to 

have waived that objection unlese you expressly waive 

it  that objection stands. It is not .neoessaryothereforep. 

- for you to flay every time you make an .objection that you di) 

.not':we.ive the Original objection to as to preserve yOur 

• . rights* 

• UR. ROSEIBMW; 

evidence in that case? Do you mean to say that this 

jury is entitled to have retold on this trial alovalillegal 

evidence brought out perhaps by some other 

THE COURT': I merely Say / am g0ing to crvirruled this 

ROS To which 



(continuing reaigng): 

qt. Is that all Wilson asked you? A 

man wants to take my head elf if I 'don't give •him 

*la did Wilson sa,y' to that? egt He said 

ing at all because he does net know whatthe Money would :be 

due him for, 

nq Did you ask Cohen whether he heard the , demand 

made? ' A Yes, sir, after that Cohen also asked me, Ke 

Said !What *tat that man demanding money from, you for? 

I said *Well, I don't know whit I would send the money, 

he should demand it.' Thereupon Cohen "went awky, 

ROSEVBERG:, I ask that all the answer following 

es, sir," be stricken out as not, responsive to the ques—

tion., as hearsay .and voluntary [statement 

PRESS; There was no objection made ))3r 1r :B.casen.. 

berg, Ile brought it out and it is responsive; -4, 

Well, let it -stand, 

MR. ROSE XBERG: Except i on. 

TM. PRESS (corrtinuing reading): 

"1. Is thxt all you said to Cohe 

eident happened, than I told him what it was. 

"4 Igs that all you. ever spoke to Cohen on 



• which you -had with the defendant ,Saturda 

is all right 

iket bn Saturday you aay  you went to the detectivet saw-

tept iTS • Murpllyi is that right? A On Saturday X didn't 

see Murphy  

0Q' Whom did you se? A X have; not Seen Murphy on 

that Saturday, but after I have closed wry place, of . bU.eineSS 

t ten I went to the 7th Precinct 'Station and X•told that 

to the lieutenant* and he said  "Go over and report to the 

IN, Whom did you see.? A I saw Cohen (?).$ that WaS 

one of them* another one X donit -know that his 'name 

Itg 18 that the Atdridge Police Station? A. lia,dinont 

act rou saw a detectivel, Cohen? _ . 

tiq You told him-youtory? A Yesair 

(4, Th44 was the,talk you had on Saturday? A real 

sir, I also told him that I had been called up on the, 

telephone on three or -four occasions- somebody demanded 

from me five hundred dollarsi azi1t1xn he amp himself • 

at about a qu.arter af-4or one to the ihopi ft2ld hie said mat* 

tie matter syith t45 tiyo hnrc d 1are?1 X said 

E* said fDidn't you get• any 



• SeTeral telephone meSsageei but d 

'wculd be Owing that money..,I don 

about that said 'Mall then I want. the 'ft/m.1=n-

, dred dollars or I 11,1 take your head off tit 

MR. ROSENBERG (Tnterpcsing): I ask .that allfollow" 

Jug the answer nest sir be stric3an out as not  respon", 

sive and purely a voluntary statement* 

VIE 'COURT: What do you .Sat, Mri District AttorneY?. 

N11,4 PRESS« The question asked was "You told hixa your 

story? A Yes,  Q, Was the talk you had. on, Satur-

day? A Ye-sh, 

X hale no object ion to it be&ng stricken out, 

0011R,T eInterposing) 2he Incident is close 1 

Gentlemen, when I Strike out testimony it JO out of the ---

case and youare not to consider it, axu I hay`e paid you 

the compliment of asetuaing that you knew that fact t, 

that when it is out, you are to forget it 

MR., MSS (continuing reading)  

preter you told to. Detective., Cohen at the Madison St.reet 

Station on Saturday, 

hi,* told all that 



MSS: 

:hale to do it, but I ask t]&t that he reirwtated i 40.0*.•• 

• c.f the foX1Owin.g..• qUe1tion..I4r .11r* ..Rosenberg - •.(Reading): 

That was t aik you had on Saturday? _A Yes, 

air, T also told him that I had been oaUed up on the 

telephone on three or four ooasiena, 1:4 owebody demanded 

from me five hundred ' dollars' and t ban he came himself at 

about a quarter after one t o the Rhop and he said "%tat' is 

the matter with this five hundred dollars?' 

don't know what to say«, He said tDidnit you get axr tel 

ephone messag efts 

TO. comet Who is 'she the defendant? 

P11ESS4 The defendant, yes, sir* 

MR 110_8E11:MG/ He said he di dn. t knog Irhst it vats 

that telephoned- and tlen he said that he came 

TIES COURT; Then he i talking about the defend-

PRSS  Of course he 

TU 001311T. Very -well; if that i a d rstoo44-

233.883 (continuing r 

X don't know to viliom Z wou3A be owing that 

said *Mel' then; X want the tive huiadred. ollatrs 

will take your head ofd" 



pretax. you told to Dateetive Cohen ,,at the Madison Strseil 

on,Saturday.0 December 9sthius 

THR is vras 3tri ken. out before Qnthe-

Diltriot Attorney's consent. K. now desire to with.' 

cut and I Will permit hint to do so and give 

PRESS(continuing reading) 

Did • you over talk with the defendant before De, 

comber  19333 A X never spok e to his, never saw hist . 

Preilous to thiAt,* 

Tiq As •a, matter 14 ittot you don't 3.g.teW vp.th whom you 

talked on the telephone before* December 9th, do rOu? 

There was. one telephone message that. I. reboil/0d 

on iledneadayi life said 'What i.13 the matter-  with that 

•

 

five hundred?t,, I 8014 "-To Vd10111 shall I. give that monfiy, 

know. .anyth,ing about it Be said. tIrOu will find 

out, you can find it out through a party of Ydur friends 

to whora to give it And then because' di dn t ,know what 

to answer any more to that.,  so I simply hung up the telfil-

phone. and stopped a1together* 

T1 COURT  Strike. it all out. 

•IMi. .PRESS} One momenti, your lioaor,* 'the ometplainin 

wit neat states in the testimony here. tb,a;t when this de 



fondant -eallsd for him the first time. on the. %gat be said 

you reeeive the telisphone .messages  for the five hung., 

•,1L. ROSENBERG:. X ask that the'answer be firtrieken 

all that follows after UlTof as clearly hearaay 

THE.COMV: I passed on that precise Poigt ..recently 

in a ease where ki nEpping was the 4:therm', :Tirgie tee* 

phone conversations X have received as part of the rep 

have received them mac with, some doubt as to 

their propriety4 

MR,VRE8S1 The defendant 

first 'Oonverbat 

,z93 aouRT1 X shall have to resolve this doubt in 

faVor of the people, 

MR. ROSEMARG:i The Wendant excepts. 

IttLy MSS (continuing reading): Was the tele* 

phonic admire rout ion in. Yiddish or in EngXishl A lie spoke 

in lieb,rewo 

itg, What X want to knew is as a matter of fact you 

di ft:it know. with whom you were talking over the.telephons 

A lloW can I know, I (mutat know who spoke.., 

*TIM COURT: You saw eNo"?. 

ROSE143:120-1"Intsrppoing):',- I izoys to strike out. 
7 

telephonio communications which have been received in 



evidende in.t his depolition :upon the ground that 

appears for the first time  that  the affiant ewear a that 

dick not knot . with wham he. was .speaking over tbritelephorn 

Mot ion denied,,aexcept ion., 

• MR. ,PRESS colt inuing reading): 

wQ, Whatever demand was made upon you for money was 

nade by word of Mouth and not ig writings is that right? 

A Nothing written4 

•-1!:4- It .was only by word o thl- yes sir.. 

0, Did you know tbat• Cohen and liaison were imetiate* 

ay behind you or in -..front of you vten you. Were talking with 
the d efendant, A Yes, I .knew it that they gams up to 

bec,ause • he called, me out 

ottl Didn't you invite Cohen & Wilson .ko come over to 

thio other side to act as witnesses? 

illIEVENDAT S COUNSBL: Object ion, 

HMS CO= Obj act ion suet mine d *. 

MR. ROS4NBERG (Interposing) e Correct that, that ws 

the District Attorneyet object ion *-

MR. PMSS.e. Al). right iN I will consent- to anything.. 

(Continuing re adi ng 

Didnet yob claim that the defenamt- went to your 

oX business and in the, presence of 

made the dercand for raoney2. Didn't you claim that at  any 



!TEM CO Did you .ovikr se4r that 

be was the Only one tho came up with his 

you claim that the, defendant went into your stable 'or harse-

• manded this money? t that. What. you C3Aime.d 

. ‘A..No, I nØver said 

;.:Didrib You there were or seven men. around 

you  When he ••No, two men only. 

er this demandi was  Made for the moneyl.dithit 

,the dgendoigit on s. Wagon and drive Oft? -.A. 

ajr ,he went Up' on the.. wagon, all by .himse4 drove.** 

• #1:1 Did he  tal1 to you while 110 704. .04 the wagon?... 

wagon,: I anr talking X aM talking 

doing away? A Re jumped tot the wagon and went 

• *A That , was about .wh;lat time o the aft e rnoont 

A Isifteen minutes after one; 

'Q. Then you went over t othe Madison Street Station _ 

Rouse and made your report? A Not X- first finished rv 

work and closed up tke place; It was between five and 

514 •T. then went to Mad 

On the eafile dear), .13eturda0 A /Sri sirs 

Did .1411304 and Cohen go with you? A /0 t 



ou tell hint} Wi 

over to the station house? A No 

"Q You knew at the time thia 

that it was an unlawful demand. -dtdatt you, at the time 

you knew it was an unlawful demand? A I knew because 

knew, that the 'Slack Band ,demanas money in .that manner,. 

sit Why di dalt you have tUi edefendant arra et e 8. at , that 

HDIgTRICT ATT ORMST: Objeot ion 

sTIES COURT I Objecti on east allied* 

Be jumped Upon the and nbay 

Did You cry out, ma" e any out cry at the t me? 

A 'Why should I do anything like that? I donit know what 

theman would intend to dci. If a man demands wale/. he 

might have a pistol in or4er to shoot me, 

xs that the rea*.n why you didn't mak 

cry* that you -were afraid of being shot? A. .Z didn 

know what to say that. moment because imuiediate3zy as soc.41,-

44 he told .me he would b14:iw my head off} he jump d Upon 

the wagon and drove off:S 

4, WILS04} called awl dt;Ity 'sworn $4. 

in behalf of the People, testified gik ronows: 
Dntrge W MINT ION :BY El PRESS: 

(Reikidence 7.3 Bowery 



Yor whom, did you work oil the. 9th dayc 

LouiEi Blumenthal. 

Mr, Louis Blumenthal? 4 Yee, 

40 The complaining witnetia 1.n t hi acase? 

laiin the complaining Witne se don't know,- he is not her  

Odurt* 

BY Mt. ROSENBERG; 

Now, do not volunteer anything'. 

Louis Blumenthal alive? A No,. sir  he is•not.. 

Por Alom did you work on. the 9th day -of December, 1911? 

A _York_ Mr* Louis Blumenthal; 

itt On #14 day di d you see thisdefenilant?, 

tt flow long had you before that been working forMr, Blum-

enthal?, A X had been working with him now over six yearn. 

On the day in question, the 9th bf Deoevaiber., 1911, at 

-Iyhat hour of that day was it that you sat this deft:n(18;0U or 

the first time/ A It was shortly after. one Oo 20ck, maybe 

about a quarter past one,- it might .have been a 'little bit 

earlier or 3.er, but around that neighborhood any way 

fit At the time you saw him what were you, doing? 



Tax lak -Willi. o3vtaS he with ow one? -dreve 

21 a 'MOM by himself. 

at At \the time you, first- av.whim Wa,I3 120 speaking to auy 

one? A Then I first saw him he drove with his wagon up to 

• l . the ehop on the. Other side fromthe hopi. not: e p to the xa 

Shop,. but aor-oas . the street near a little Park lie beckoned 

to lir. 331umenth.a1 and .1(rt Blumenthal walked Over oh 

la You s aw that? A Tee, s 

ct After that that did you de? A. I is still. attending 
to vut business in the ftlop) inside. 

And did ybia so pnto the street vi; 17 A Tee, air, 

4 at Was the  o aeasion o f you g,oln onto t1 e t rest? A I 

had a horse finishedl I Was taking 'him in the stable.s 

tt 

the street? 

•Ots. 141* 
the defendant 

n order ti.0 se into the, Stec140' had you to. ;go "ntiri 

ad. to so onto tbe. at rEet  yes,: sir,; 

w near .0.4 you aproaoh ,t o,10.0 Blumenthal and 1 

when you went onto the st reot?. A T wao• within 

nine feet of them', azty wa,y, within nixie feet, 

9, Row long had /Tr, Blumenthal, been t1kiz to the 

fendant when-you got within nine fe'ot of biu A etween four 

and filre minutes.* 

Dtd You hear W. Blumenthal soar anything to this defend,* 

ant or'this clefendAnt say anyt to Mr Blur nbhal and if 

sot, what wan the comersati n? A I did.' 

Tell us just exaabl-  whit t1-1 defendant 33a and 



you -heard the.defenOnt• .say to :11UtslOrithe,3, wkat":.B1tusenth4a. 

said ;1;..0-'hiM? A He said in. TOW.Oh to .:Mrsic Blumenthal 

A_The .defendant sitting here 

Yea? A nXch wiUrint hundred. dOIlars.„, 

- .WhiCh being tran-elaed means: what? A W want Li ye 

hundred dollars*, 

Wh.t.did Blumenthal _ day to him? 

'What .di d the defendant say -to Blumenthal? A 

get your head before long." 

d efen dent then do? 

wagOn and drove away, 

Was that the entire coniereation 0.. question withdraWn. 

fa Did the defend ant only speak in Yi dash or Hebrew? 

One part was in Hebrew. One vestion wag. AZ Hebrew-

first one, 
.4, Yes? A And the second one was in Znglish. 

That is to seif, what were the words that were in 

lish? A loT will'get your head before long:* 

41 What did you do, did you still h.ave the. hor8e. that 

4, Then what did you do with the .horSer 

. Had you ever seenth 

you knot( him 



ism you had ,ever Seen A Yesw.iz 

DO you know where -Ur,. 3 umentlial 

December? A T .di 

DO yOU kilow where he -live.d on the . -10th of. Deeetber 

A resli: s 

Do you know where 10iliived. on the. IR* of 3)eeenber4,. 

A Yip,: 

3010re •404, those three dates,. i* At 202 henry at 

Were you in Aft alum enthalls bituee on the j2th of 

cember 1911? A Zarly in the morninOt ye84 

ur of the morning were you. there? A About 

.tive minutes pest tive. 

Alive ',aft e r rive? A 

4 tted you 1*On, in his house on 'the. 1 b, oc,f Dece2uberi.193.1? 

he condition eL t house on the .11th 

centfer, 193.1 t five o'clock in the morning? 

1, BODNBBRG: Do iio ter ii t Iv Court rules. 

obj ec t as incompet I immaterial 

.a,S not 'binding upon tlie defendist and not within the issue$. 

rid not .r.fi hin the char 



$4 

Nor, I ask ta Court to direct the 

they  =et not infer anything from tta es-

aid it once. If the,  thing 113 withdrawn., no inference can 

IDe taken from it it the question is ,asked and not anekered 

no inference can 'be taken fro21 the quest ion'. 

06tui.r2:- do not know any sucb fool law WS that. 

BO1BR t except to your Tionorits remark., 

THE COM: The remark Was for you*. not for the 

TEE QOM: L you wish I withdraw the remark 

there atlything else? 

MR RORG: NO, sir., 

TEE COURT: Now- 'strike out  the .ent ire: .colloquy • and 

Jury, will not .pay arty attention now or..altr time to 

hing that JO Withdrawn fr:,em.tlie 4aseo 

—1ER 20411141140: T obaect to it bein M, rioken fro 
• .ruivi,u7a4,..,,,,k, 

rec  ord. T insi 4 matt er'og repo...do, 

PrESS. Th 



• •.,Inr-4. 

.5 
C10313840XAVINATION BY till. • Rosn-ARG: 

Vow* Wilson, 'did .you ever have any trouble with; kumen•-. 

thal Jut which reStated in Blumenthal ,having you arrested f or 

, stealing? 'A Do I have to answer that qttestion?. 

Ita." PENSat I object, your Honor. 

TER COOR2t. I sustain the object ion,-

11R .ROSEIVERGI To vithiCh the defe-ndant .eceptei 

it Did Blumenthal cause your arrests Blumenthal, the comb. 

plainant cause your arrest f or stealing money from him?. 

PRESS,: I .object 

Objeot ion sust ained„. . Exception.. 

Did Blumenthal thereafter cause the complaint to be. . 

wit drawn against you, at your request? 

-- UR. PRESS t, I object 

Object ion oust ained" 314t,cepti on it, 

. Did you Steal any money from Blumenthal while u were 

in his employ? 

MR; PRESS: Objected to  

-TITE POUT: You cannot go in o the mat er r 

at an.. 

MR. ROOMER I am asking him vthetr or not he 

sane money from_ Blumenthals 

'HZ

 

COUP; /f that i.gyoizr question tot zuly r3wer 

t hatio X havo *lust ained 40 obj eat ion- to that questions 

(1u stion repeat dl A Tess sir, 

1 

:1 

6 



Ihen"as 'tilt!? A 2)ur.$00 the Oonth ot timber 19,34ii.: 

-iiLthat .correct? 

And how Long !Ore yeu in ail., because or that .arr 

UR. PICECSS: Obj eat ed to. 

Objection s ustained. xcep 

41, 'How inx012 did you  steal from 231umenthare • 

how much? 

4 At one time? .4 Yes sir, 

cash or by chek A. In cash. 

And you then fAIPified the boots Which YOU were 

keeping or him* iBthat riellt X did not,. 

'You d not mark it up in the book . di d you? 

Vrnite Otolie sixty do3.1ars* 

.4/, that .w as in Totectimber, 1910,s ia t 

5i thgtat to correct e • 

17/hen did you ge back 

* A In :anaary, 193,1 

41, 'here- ero 

111 

oy—o-t Blumenthal 



eiderrt is closed.• 

MEL'MORON xcepti.on. 

And from. sianuary, 1910, wit 1 3auuary, 1912, you, con 

tinned t o be employed by Blumenthal, is that correct? prom 

Xanuary, 1911, until January, .1912, you continued to be em 

ployed by WasegiMill4., Louie Blumenthal, is that correct? 

A Yes, sirs at his place of business. 

Q, now, you said you told this jury that you were within 

nine feet of Blumenthal Virtan you heard the demand or this five, 

hundred dollars made* in Yiddish is that correct? A. Yea1 

You are sure ofthat A ee, si 

D you remember testifying in the Police Court, in i,the 

itagistratets Court) on December 13 1911? 
1 A 

-cementer 'tea* 

tifyingt 

Will you keep your leSice up? A r b, 

f you will excuse me, I will do the best I cant 

4 All right Was Mr. Blumenthal taming with the de* 

fendant for any length of time ' while you were at Blumenthal* 

Q, Tb.at 3.5 to saY„ you were at Blumen hal a shop? A. Y 

tio.ldinyour horse,is ti 

out from the •!hop with the hos 

Coming Olt. from tb5 -shop w 



urt been 'finished being shod; 

Zettdiiig a' horse 

Did you not ice Blumenthal and -the defendat on the o 

4 %drift you tell the Court that it was.from flitsy to 

sixty feet,/ A I have never measured it just giving a 

guess that is all. 

et- I ask you didn't you estimate the distance at about' 

fifty or Sixty feet? I ask you whether you said that  in th 

Court? _A I' might have said it, I don't remember, 

4 Well, that examination was on December 13th, .1911, 

isnot that „right? You will admit that that was the date? 

Q. And that was two days after you maw Blumenthal api the 
*op 

defendant together, is that ri ght? A No, 'air* 

.Q; Well, how_ many days was it after? A ..11ropi the 9th to • 

the. 13th is a little more than three days,. 

Q Well, then, • four days, is that it? 

Well, the matter was fresher in your mind Vien tIn 
• t, is now  isn't that right? A Certainly. 

4 It was clearer? A Teel sir, 



'SO •j,.t ou said #....1r45 about.. CiCty feet 1;11.0nt ,Sr0.1.4Were 

:morO .11.10 be right .than '.3rou.are:noW". is that right?. 
. • 

13.." now exactly, 16epatise I have never maaaured' and juat 

Ting a guess at the distance. 

Well." it was acrolla the street? A Yea, 

...You are sure of that? A Yea. 

Q And the street, frau sidewalk to sidewalk", .or from, curb 

to Curb' was at least fifty feet, is that A I'won't 

answer that question* because .1 won't aan because I d Aft 

know exa.otlyi, 



jury Same idea aiiOut tart 

'feet., I wifl give an epitimate at that rate. 

about half 'a block" A It.is:nOt erectly half. 

estimate that •as a half a block. It is this way, .by the shop, 

the øhop i on ere iip, if any if SrOU know that that alii) 

is divided, by smell park, and on this side of the park the 

wagon was standing and on the other aide of the park 1.0 the 

And that. is at least 40 or 50 feet? Yes, at least., 

Q, Now, didn't you hear loud talking between Blumenthal an 

the defendant while you Were holding your horse on the 'opposite 

• side of the street? •A While I wars,holding my horse .021 the 

opposite aide of the *street? 

Q Yee. 'A I wee not holding any horse on the Opposite 
is44,a of  the street. . 

q Vela, while you were on the opposite side of the 
, 

street at Blumenthal's *hop, didn't You hear loud taIkirz be* 

tween Blumenthal and the defendant? A 

Q And that continued. for how long? A.'Betten 'four 

and five minutes. 

  Are you sure of that? A Yes, sir* 

And Was t talk A11.3niglish or Yiddish 

flat close nougb: .to, understand -what it Wass . 

ut you know thv were talking? 



.\ 
.the .gesticinistiens: of their ha diVan4 by the *wiper* of their 

mouths that they were talking. 

Didillt you else hear the noise 

certain 

a noiae I heikrd, 

they were talking? 

And it  was loud enough for you to hear across the 

A Yea, sir. 

Q Are you able to tell the jury what was said during 

that four minutes' talk, loud talking .while you were crossing 

the street? I Cannot, no sir. - 

Q 

• street? 

You knew. A Ye sir. 

Can you tell the jury anything that was aaid? Out-

aide of What Ihav,e.„anewered'already4 

Q Cant you tall the jury anything that was said tiring 

those tour minutes of loud talking? . A Not- air. 

q :fat it in lilt:Li:ea or Yiddisih?. A That I. caret 

tell, the defendant and Blumenthal were talking loudly 

at you say, and didn't you take your h.Orse and let it run up 

what they call the run of the stable? A Yes, sir. 

- How far Was this run in the stable from Blumenthal's 

blacksmith shop? A It is just exactly by the *hop. 113.e "hop 

stands back from the curb or sidewalk a little bit, and. the 

stable is next to it and there is a run goes up..I. had to pass, 

are Wass two or three horses standing by because in Saturday 

are ,pretty busy, and )1,ad to pass by and X went over and 

t close to then and -wh t I have  just testified to, those are 

ID; 



the sentenoe I have. heard whil was there. 

But. you are Aura you heard in Yiditish tettand made. for 

500? A I tosetit4,14 to that alreadY. 

were. those words with will 7inf hundred dollars". 

Translated meaning n want five hundred dollar Nit 

I don't know what he refuted. I will use his  

words, if You want  them that way. 

I ask you,, did not Blumenthal refute to give him any 

A According' to his words yes 

C Did Tait Blumenthal pay he would not give him. any money 

Ilidn,q um! that 1.arguag ett, 

Didn't he nay that/ A 

You .are ,ture of that'? A 

4, At the time you say this demand Well marle the defendant' 

I ohow you a photograph and I. 444 You whether th 

the horse and wagon, a photograph of. the horse and wagon which" 

Well, can You describe the herse and wagon you sow? 

A. A wagon similar to that.. . Xt was a bay horse with a top 



Did you see any name on the wagon? 

You won't say there was not a name on it? 

You. know j Was a bay horse? 

A bay horse as shown by thits Achibit A:for Identifioik 

A I don't know. I 'can't say by that picture. 

And the wagon was *a covered waginl.A Yea. 

dovered with canvas? 

A canvas top? A Yes, 

Something Similar to, the picture, this eXhibit1 

Something similar to that, yes, sir. 

Q,

 

Was the -wagon standing at 'the curb on the •OPPO.site, 

aide of the street? .A 

Wan the defendant on his wagon When he asked 

in Yiddish for the $.500? A He was not. 

Mier() was he? A • Standing on the street 

•Ct In the street? °A Yes sir 

That is in the street nearest to Where you were 

b. correct, nearest to the nide where you w 

a what you mean by that 



• 

• 'other...side.: of.; the•Street he:•:.Wao• tome. 2. 

0.. he close toown wagon? .. \. • 

Q He was  t :on. the. •side..neareOt to the idosolki the 

.other side Of the street was he/ A No, sir, he wee nearest 

th left hand; of .the street • going towards the river...Hi5 wagon 

•was standing  on the right hand side and he was on this 

(indicating). • . 
Q That is, On which aide, I-oft•ar.right? A Left.. ;MO 

wagon was standing her (indicating), here .is :the park hereby• 

Rutgers Slip.- - I don't know if 'you have been there. If I am 

not mistaken his -wagon' was  standing here, and on this aide of 

from that wagon, a short ..distance, he was :ataxia-lig.. 

How' far from the Wagall was he otineutigt. A Not 

further than from  here to thl.s. first 

About how zioy teat 'would you say .that iz, about five 

*feet/ A Well, .five feet,• yes, t"supposei-

Q it was done. in broad daylight wasn't it/ 

ta And there were a number .or people around there it the. 

weren't there/ • .A Passing by,  certainly-. 

Yes, a number. of People passing by? ,A: Passing by, 

but but not on that aide of the street, because there is no side, 

walk on that side of the street. Ttor.-e• is only It :Istfall little 

bit or :sidewalk. The park is tomcod up by s: railing and there  

is o sidewalk about that sides most or the people Use the 



ther side te pals 

V.02a.t. gisWeet orbits° Were Water 'street or 71.7011 

street! -A Between Water .0.114 Cherry .this happened: .Cherry 

One side and Water i.e the other side. 

q, Cherry is to the north and Water to the touthl. 

erry Jo to the west and Water to the east according to my 

:north and south, is that right? A Rutgers Skip ,runs 'north 

:south, yes, 

And Cherry rune east and we A Yes. 

And so does Water, runs 

No • you are Wrong: If I had to explain this .question in 

this vay, here 'is the East River running here (illustrating);  

the next street to that 1.0 South -street, the neit. is Water 

street, the next street is Cherry street, Rirtgers street comes 

through then, going down irrom Canal street to the laiit Divert, 

Now, you can call that north and south or, east and west,. 

whatever you irant 

Which is it, north and mouth or east and we...,.. 

Slip? A I wouldn't be able to answer. that „Question., 



itiOnt 

:-.people. do you estimate •wer•ii paelking by at the. 

couldn't say.o. 

Can you give the -jury rionle 4d ter 

on the sides. eXactly -say how many. 

Q‘ Can you, give the jury some idea how many persons po004. 

by during the 'iour'miniztes when this loud talking between 

ialumenthal and the defendant  wits gait* on? .A Thera might 

have been ten. or fifteen. I couldn't,  say exactly about that. 

q Weren't there.people driving homes and .wagons in the 

highway during that time? 4 'T didn't notice., 

You won't sely there were not? A I will not.. 

Is that a prettr busy street on Saturday at noon? 

Not on Saturday, no, far. 

.4 You said your place was busy on Saturday?. , A On tie!, 

count of its being a Yiddish holiday, and the horses staying 

it the Stable-, this is a Yiddish shop and  we have a chance to 

shoe them on Saturday. 

Raw many people were in Bluxaenthal s shop at the 

Seven men outsider of myself. 

And oanyou give us the names of those men?. 

can't exactly give you their full names.. I can give you, the 

name.of most every one of them. 

%ring the four minutes you heard a- loud dismisaiOn 

ou were on the Sidewalk on the opposite side cif the street? 



was, not on the sidewitlit. 

ginning of the conversation. 

Then 'during the beginning of the discussions vthich was 

loud .enough  for you to hear across the- street, you were in the 

shop?. . A Yea, sir. 

You: are sure _of that? A  

And how long were you in the shop while the discussion 

was going on across the ,street? A -atuit as Z said; between 

four end five minutes, and this horse had been finished, 

were finished shoeimg the hors 

him .in the stable. 

Ci How far were ydu in tb. 

- Was going on. torose the street? 

and. it is my business 

the shop and .sometimes I migb.t  be -

Q, (Interrupting:) How far from 

tiara the entrance? A Maybe 30 feet., 

.0, Daring these four minutes you bare described 

shop whileCthis lOUd 

A Sometimes I might be 

he end of the 

'Mission was going on., did you see a young ion Illmed. 

the shop? A Yee,, sir 

Where was he during that time? A At 

During the four minutes of the loud ,die 

the street? A He was not there. 

0, He was not where? A He oame ju 

Tersation was 'breaking ,uR) he brought down 

ner to 'hlin rom his house 

his di 

en n 

lost .the t 002r-

din 



that ia e had not been to the shop? 

n the ehop. and left his dinner in the office. 

He got there just_aa the conveiriatian was break 

et about breaking up.. 

Q Is that right? A Yea. 

And when the conversation was breaking up he was  

&op dalivering, Illumenth.al' dinner? A He was not. 

Q Did you talk with Cohen about this o.epe? 

crtY way? A He has askme many_ tits when .we.• 

were going .to be called here for the jury or what we *ere to be 

called for. 

Haven't you peen him in the Dist 

A Yee 

And -haven t you talked to him about what you were 

, going to say?' A .No, not with hit, but we talked to the Dia 

ttiat, Attorney. 

Q Well he was there while you talked to the District 

• ,Attorney? A Yes, he was. 

Q

 

He heard what you told the Di5triot Attorneyyou were 

going to say? A Y. 

And you heard what he said he we  going to I 

Dietrict Attorney? A Yea, 

times were you in the District Att 

fioe, did' you have a meeting there? A Only ono.e. 



w„ when you saw that the defendartt--did the defendant 

at any time get on his wagon and drive 

finished speaking, y 

Q. You-s the 

h 197anything to Blumenthal after he got on 

hiø wagon and was driving off? 

You are sure of that? - A Ye 

.Q Did. hee soy anything to 'Blumenthal at any time when he 

was on hi6 wagon? A Not that I heard. 

You are Sure or that? A Yea., Esti. 

When the defendant drove off  did. he drive faat or sloW 

A Well, he naturally had to 4tXn his: wagon oroun;ditnd he ktart-

ed on a walk and then on a ittot 

And he walked the 'same as any _other...horse-would ,go away? 

And you didn't notice the name on the wagon 

didn't, no, sir. I didn't pay any attentions 

-Did Mr Blumenthal speak to you at that time? A 

Q Sure of that? A Certainly. 

Q Did he say anything to you about that demand which you 

say had been made that that time? A Not at that time„ 

Q I am talking now of Deciember 9th, 1911? A I.. have an-. 

lowered that question• 

You understand i 

Did the defendant say while he was on his wagon



11) 

about to drill* off, bloW your head off ? A I didn't 

hear him say it. 

You did not hear was on his 

ou claim you heard the defendant say I wifl get 

head yet"? ,A No, he said your head before long 

(4, PI will get your head before lone? A Y 

Now, you ere sure those are the *Eccaot words he utile? 

The exact words. 

You are sure of that? A Yost Earl 

And those words were spoken in ..11n4ish? 

yes, sir. 

And the other word* you claim were spoken were spoken 

in Yiddish? A 14/bat question? 

This defendant's? A tiit words I heard, in 

Yiddish, Mr Blumenthalts answer was in Engliah, and his retort 

was in Bnglish. 

Didn't you Nee Yr Bltimen hal on the es stand on 

Comber 13 19111 in the Magistrate's Court? A I did. 

Q %an t yoiz hear him say .that he oould not talk Inglish 

he d to be ,s,pokin to through an interpreter? A I di 

you, or were you in court when he was examined? • 

ecoluded from the court room by your *orders. 

were you excluded until after Blumenthal had partitt 



his. story? A. Tia Was talking in broken iInglish.'•, 

,•11raanI•t. there az interpreter • examining and talkir.tg to 

lUmenthart A A o.on•as the interpreter i•aPproache.ci:tira..1,..• 

laded .from the court rooni:by i• your (*.cleric., 

Q By the Judge's ...order? A Well, by your., request, an 

But it was while Blumenthal was on the witness stand, 

t. it? A Yes, 

Q And it was while he was being interrogated throu 

Q And didn't. you before that before the interpreter got 

there, didn't you hear Blumenthal say that he could not talk 

33;r1 lish arid he had to ,speak through an interpreter? A I did 

(?, At that  hearing?. A Partly in English and partly 

through and interpreter. 

Q Well, now, was 'Blumenthal able to• 

thorough 

Not as good as you can, -A No, .sir. 

How long a time elapsed between, as you claim, 

fondant asked for $506an4 the defendant said he would get his 

head before long? A Not wrer a second's time, a minute's tim 

are the sentences I hesd, and 



• 

'4\ 

'72 

t en•he seqUnte4 his Wagon and Went :away. 

it.ike the: etateMent 11..I Will: tgIrt your head. 0'00 

long" spoke*. while the defendant: was on the -tkpreet?i.He 
• 

Woe just about :to mount his wagon. If I can illtietraite to yuu, 

w 1 stand up (ilisietrAtin ) Here is the side of. his wagon,. 

he 'mg just- putting his foot psi the step when he turned" around 

and made  that remark. 

• Qi While he was stefiping on the wagon? A If you know 

what the wagon i, the step attached to the shaft for a foot-

° d-to get up on the seat. 

Q And while he was doing that hie back was turned? 

A His back was turned, :and he turned around to, make this remark. 

q While he was in the act Of getting ,on the WagOn he 

.turned around to make that *remark? 

yap., 

A His bead was •facin 

q How far away was Blumenthal at that tim st A Blumen-

thai Was Olo exit° him than I 'was. 

How far wee 'Blumenthal frank him? - deuldn t• be 

more than four feet. 

Q How far Were you at that time? A I was a*.ay fr 

Blumenthal; I just can't say, but about nine et or so. -

have given ,a guess.. 

qr Are you sure that the defendant- was in full *Jew 

time that y 

17 was. 

say you heard a remark made? A 

Hie *Pao Imo in full view. ' 

He certain 



Did you-seei anY one else th,a you knew outside of Blu-

menthol while the _defendant made"that.remark and while Blumen-

thal mai his answer? 

Who elts.e did you sea therm, who else -did you see) there 

while these remarks were being made? A The men in the shop 

and everything else around there. 

9, Men were over in the shop, were they? A Yes. 

• Did you see any person whom you knew at the time Mitt 

you say the defendant made the demand for $500,- and Blumenthal 

replied "Go to hell", and the defendant said will get your 

h.ead- before long"? A 



'au of? A 'helve to mention so man 

.1411 Z haye to' mention the names? 

-Wh(m2, did, y *is around Blumenthal?. A liOw .Olos 

Me did  you gee around Blumenthal at that time W141 

bit "'alleged demands were being made, and alleged. rei34011r.g.171,1, 

Oh Will have to / will ask you again, how 400.10.d you 

mean to Blumenthal? 

q how close to you? A There was right near Me a men by 

the name of Cohen. 

4 ,What is Cohen' a name? A Sam, if I am not 'mistaken. 

.4 And vim Ohen„ whom you: say listened to 'what you were 

telling the District Attorney what you intended to swear 

q ,:reu are ewe you saw Cohen? A'certainly (tid, rap. 

Q Are you eure of that? A Yes, sire 

Do, you remember _me asking you this question and, you 

making this answer in the 'Police dourt on December' 13th 1911: 

Were you with Mr. C*en at the time? A No, sirs 

was Cohen at that time? A I don't know myself,* Apra those, 

questions put to you at the time in the 'Pond* Court and did 

YOIX swear to those 

q Well, wasn't the matter cliarer and frillier in your 

on December 13th than it is to-day? A Why,* sertainly 

to that itt You said, on December 13th you did not 'xi 



4.••• 

• 

Coixon at the time Interrupting I don't.think X mate 

that remark that: X did .not .see7Cohen at the :time, .1,f: X let net . 
mistaken, it gone! to My mind, - you asked me 'where Cohen went 

after this. happened and I aid r didn't know where- he Went.; 

q I wok , you were these queistions, put to you and d4 you 

make these answers:. lig-, Were you, with -Cohen at the. tin*? 

A Nov,. s3z. 4 Where WAR Cohen at the time? .A X deon t 'know. 

myself.. Now, X ask. you, were those questions put to: you and . 

44 you make thole answers? A I donut remember: 

Now, X ask you was Ma* question put to you and did you 

''.make this answer. 4 You  did not. See him? A I Saw hint 

around there,_ but who, .virb..erit he was., X',couldn't you 

tell the Court on Deoember 13th that? A That X can't anemia. 

myself, X don't- remember. 

You don't remember? A Noveir. 

But the Cohen whom : is416 z.jeferying to in itiati:(pprOlut 

**Ora to the same Cohen, Sam Cohen whori, You :1210o- referred to! 

in your testimony to-day; is that right? A Yes sir, 

Does not this refresh your recollection as te whether or 

not Cohen was there or in your sight, this question and answer: 

*4. While the defendant was engaged in eeillreriatl.mh lath Blu 

rit,ortithal -A Yes). sir. 4, Was 113tuntentha3. alone*, he was 

alone with him, are you sure of that? A Yes, sir.* IOW, deep 

refresh your reoolleotion te whether er not you did net 

n tthe Polio' Court that Cohen, that you -did not knew 



. where .0ohen- lfas...st the. tiMe.? -A B, sirs, it toes' .nst.* 

now t1.7.s.t at. the time this 111114 was .f4altlaick....vith 

.•.B.luitenthaV.O.One there was t:fObody..elae•talking with him. 

rid.:yoU. did not •see, .Cohen• -at the time time..the'.4efentlin 

!as talking to Blumenthal? A X did,. 

You dill? A Yes,si.r. 

•q Are you sure of that? A Yes 

Vas Cohen in front of you or behind you at th 

'Kay be three or .foUt4 feet* know he  had brought the 'dinner 

'd.ovria and put it in the office just as 1 was bringing out the 

horse to send it up the run, he came up, behind suppose 

, her coed have been avray,from niS four fee 

WO behind 

You noticed. Am on the opposite 

q And that is the last you 

&Cross the street behind, me. 

'But you didn't see him 

Uced. him behind me, certainly. 

behind  you, did you notice? 

saying thrift sr four 'fest, 

q Mien you noticed. him behind. you, mitre-rim 

ng behind yea? A. 

shop side if the street? A I just had *tartest across th 



said betwoen Blumenthal and the defendant? 

td you make any memorandum of what you cla 

ant eaid to Blumenthal and,. what Blumenthal' 'said to the defendant? 

Only what X got in my head. 

Only in your bead, is that right' 

Did Blumenthal said anything to you on that day, 

taer 9th, about the toklig that he had with the defendant? A NC- sir. 

4Ure ot. that? A,  

jai know .Blumenthal ,brothers, don't yoU? 

Are you working new? A Yes, el: r. 

or whom/ A or one of hi S broth.erm in oonnectio with 

biuvtife 

t or 'one of Biumaiithalls brotb.ers9 A Xfl oonneotiknk with 

louts Blumenthalis wife. 

WhiCh'Slumenthal is conducting the busine s? A He is 

known as Benny Blumenthal. 

BB.DIBIET 31MINATION BY°1111.. PRBSSt 

You gave testimony in the Police Court on. the  13th Of 

December, 1911, _before ..you saw the.Distriot Atterneyi As that 

trite? A Yes,sir, 

4 Ant you gays this testimony 



atter yowbad been, excluded :rem :the room4.. 

A yestAtirli 

Q An  you told : your -story in fulX in. the police Court, 

..didnIt you? A. yezi:sir, what I have been 1303ced I tc14.• 

4. .11b$ was the District Attorney with whom you bad the: it;tott.-
4 

Weraati_ono A X can't zay. 

• 4 Did you ever see me in the District Attorney' office?• 

A At what District Attorney's office? 

Xt was, in tb.to building.? A.Yealsir. 

Q Tad you talk to me about this case? A Yes, f3ir. 

Did I suggest anything to you to to say? A No,sir, 

9, The testimony that you gave in the Police Court, to the 

best it your recollection, is the same testimony that you give 

here to-day? A yes, sir. 

UR. ROSIMBESO: One moment. I ask that that, answer 

be stricken 'out, so that I can =Iva an objection. 
• . 

to the witness being permitted to characterize bib own_tO0. 

There is no iuestion pending t vittiola the 

- objeotion is practically applicable? 



BY TEI2 COURT: • 

What does -that mean? A I am a•Raman Catholic. 

BY THE  6TH TUROR: 

Did. you ever learn the Xewish, language or lowish? k I 

.have not thoroughly learned it, but I have been working in a 

Tewish Shop for over six year,  and during that time I ba/re. 

-picked it up fairly ,.well, not thoroughlit but well enough to . 

get along. 

RI-CROSS ICKMINAT/ON BY 114 ROSSEBERG: 

Q You were asked..by the District Attorney whether or not 

you had giVoU your testimony in the ?maim Court without seeing 

the District Attorney. As a matter of fact, didn't you talk to 

Mr. Lockhart the Assistant District Attorney in charge of the 

'Magistrate's Court, before you took the witness stand?,. 

Yes, sir, I did. Now, that recalls it to my mind, but. I. cadre t 

know itto he was at the time. There was some gentleman called me . 

in his office and asked me what I heard. 

ct. Was Cohen with you at the time? A Yes. 

ce Cohen was with -you at the same time? A Yes, aril 

He told his story at the same time? A Yeossir, just a 

few questions were asked, didn't take ,that much .time. 

Q In addition to seeing that District Attorney, you have 

seen Mi'. Press in connection with the oase being prepared for 

trial, bays You not? A Yes, sir* 



And Cohen was there at the mese titte? A g• 

Who else was. Up lixeret A Detective Murphy 

JIe was there at th.e same tiI\neS A Ye sir. • 

on behalf of thelaeople, 

preter Rosenthal, 58 follows: 

(Boaidence 113 Broome street 

=REM -EXAgilIVION BY ItRI. PRESS: 

your business? A Tailor, 

9 A shirt cutter or cloak cutter 

• 9 Are you in iatiy.way raided  to Louis Blumenthal? A No, 

Did you know Louis Blumenthal A Yea, sir, •.certain]  

9' Row long had •yo u known. him? A About, four, years. 

9.. Your. years? A,- .Vour. Or ilte:...years 6:00100:44-.11410. *tf,. 

..344.e. at hiS .house?  

9 Did you-Visit.'at ue hoUSe?. 

Q. 44: you, .f.lvor Woxit• for  b.1441 A NO at 

'an. acquaintance ,or a friend?  

..,044* -that'*  .;14.40, 

Nowt (to you 



tO 8 shop on Saturday. 

:ct- You brought h.18 dinner to the shop" A Tee, air. 

•Q Vihe.re did you get 43,8 
ho gaVe. you his dinner? .AEs 

Q :-' , And you  took it • to the shop, • you A Yes sir. 

At Rutgers Street? 

And you arriVed there 'about what .time" 

quar..iter" past one.. 

100 did you do With the dinner 'sten, you arrived at his 

shop? A.. ; put 40 dinner 4071# in his office, and I went over . 

to 1310.1t.c4 3 told.  Wan: "Go and  have your dinner.. 

UA hia office? ,A. X put his dinner. 40vpr in his Office 

and r told hini, I walked over to him to • tell him. 

• q Where was he at :the time  you put his dinner in hit 

across the street. 

ISA he: alone? • A He was -talking with, 'thte 

. q Be was talking with this defendant here t . Yesleir. 

And  when you, put the dinner down in the store, you sal: 

you Walked .aorosoh 4, To Mr, Blumenth4l, 

ay to lir. Blumenthal? 

obj sot, as incompetent., inmaterial 



%at did you say to him? 

/ said 11110-41 Blumenthal, go and have your dinner 

is getting col4011 

4 NOW, did you hear Mr. %menthol eay anything to thi8 

defendant, or tb.igt defendant say anything to Mr,. Blumenthal? 

A X heard this defe,n4int 'aay,to Mr. Blumenthal, be id in 

:eWish nob, will habert fmf hnndert `11 / want to ba!e 

five hundred do3.laro6" 

That is the .Briglisb, of it? A Yes, OZ. 

And what did Mr. Blumenthal say to him? A Mr. Blume 

thal said to him-1170u could. go to hell.'" 

. ,Vhat-Wid the defendant say to him? A "I Will get y 

head 'before long." 

will 'blow your head 

After that, ihat did t .difendant di? A 

wagon, hi tumid around hiandbs ride 



You say you did not ltva with.1(r* BlUmenthal? &:No 

Were you at his house .on the 9th  when you got his dinner 

from his wife?, 

4 there did you get the dinner? A Xn the 000' 

mean that you took to Blimtenthal? 

the shop. 

Q, Where .did you get it? A 

Then, you were 

Yes, lin his house.. 

Englieh) Vat kind 0 

Objeotion overruled* 

rough the interpreter) A tenement house, 

flooro 

_What floor did. Mr. Blumenthal live on 

The nttai floor. • 

4 Is that the top floor? A No, ,there is a 

TOW say it is a four story tenement hours ? 

five but with a stoop it is six. 

How many dights of stairs had. you •to go U 

Wr.Blumenthalts apartmentst, A our  

Did he have the whole floor or only ca. ci 



Were you In that house and in Mr. Munenthalts apart-' 

/sprits later on the 9th oflDeoenber 1911 'on theAsame darP 

r, I have been up on one dgy 

MB. ROSENBERG (Interposing): Zust anSwer questions 

and do not livilunteir' anyth*E!g.. 

houae and got xis dinner? 4 About 12 o'clock. 

4 When  you back there again? 

Monday. 

Q You Wor* ,not there gn Sunday, were YoU/ 

not there on Su4ay. 

What is your business? A Cutter, cloak cutter. 

'eat vas your business On Deoeiber 9th, 1911? A 

was not working that day. 

it •I ask you what was youi busnee 0* that day? A 

same thing, cutter. 



My; plait, was in 57::&, 61 West Houston street. 

cm ft you work for there? A S. Miller. -

Miller? A NO, George Miller. 

Was. not working in December. 

You were not wor)ting at all the whole month 

en *eve you working- for Miller, A Movember.. 

Vovember Of 1911? A Yes. 

z$ that. right? A YeS 

And then you left Miller' employ, is that 

When. 'next 41.11 you work for anzir'bodylt 

15th of Unitary. 

4, Until the 15th• o Xanuary ycau were idle? A 

1411:erl 

44,- And you are Working there new? 

now there., 

Ito* long did you stay with Miller? 

worked for XiUar, Old you work 

A Yes, 2Z1 si day. 



.41 And where did you live in :December, 1911? 

street. I lived there for two-years. 

And whom did you live with there? A Glick 

4 Mr. Glick? A. Yes. 

CI Have you got any parents, here? 

Are you married? A No, air. 

THE ,COURT: 15 it necessary to go further into the 

life bit ó17 of this individual witness? I think you have _ 

perhaps *enough to let the jury know what manner of man is 

*MR. ROSIVBERG: Very well., your Ronor.., 

How far is 113 Broome street from ?Teary street Where 

Mr. Blizsentha '1iYed? A Well, I doet know exactly, how far 

Q well, can't you give the jury some idea? A. Well 

don't know the streets. 

Q Where is 113 Broome street near? Near Wiflet' 

Pitt, Tight in the middle of the block. 

Q Where was Mr. Blumenthal? A On t 



4 

Is it five bIecko Or ten blocks? A 7ress 'where? 

Qt. 'WO* Snow( and enry  Otr,eet? A Well, it is about eight 

'Or nine becks,something like. 

you know whether, or did Mx'. Blumenthal have a sor-

e.nt in his home on December 9th? A Not sir. 

Q. Sure of that? -A Yes, sir. 

Whit is that? A He never kiacI a servant., 

What'. . A As far as I know, he never had a servant. 

When was the arrangement - made for you:to:go to Mr. 

Blumenthales house On Saturday, • DecOmber 9th, for the purpose of  

- bringing ()Tejo 

merits' at: al 

the family. 

s, dinner? well, I didn't eke any arrange-

alwaYs 00410 up there on Saturday to visit 

That's all, and his wife' asked me a favor I 

should :bring his dinner over to h in, bettaUse he is too bus 

tattirday,, an4.1 brought his dinner t shop.. 

And that .was on this December 9th 1934? A ye 

011' 

sir, 

Dec ember 9th, 1911. 

A You said you were a good friend of Mr., Bli.mienthalla in 

his lit-a:fie? A Not in his lifetime since I am in Amer - 

low long are you 'in Arne:2140 A Ptir 

Q You are able to talk and understand 

Tell not very much• 

4 But ,you hallo.untorst od m,thing 

years.* 

lish are you? 

t Prose 

IWO/ 

1 



\ \ 

ou',herel •iday, didn't you t, col-044a- I did* 

And YOU understood everything.  ..that t'alked you  tooday, 

Lan't that night ep A NO every :word, Some the interpreter -told 

well, /everything ve aeIed. you you understood, i 

.-that right? A Yes*, 

tt And you heard Mr. Wilson on the -witness stand to.day, 

_dldntit you? A Well, yes, sir. 

And you heard what he said, did& 

A yes, sir, I heard what he said. 

So, that you are able to have your exam 

in English? A No, not very well—. 

ct You arc not? A 1,1o, 

oU yes, or no 

ination conducted 

Q When you were in the Police. Court on December  13 1911, 

didn't you tell to Judge that you could not understand any 

English, and you wanted an interpreter? A Well, want- now an 

interpreter. 

Q .*.tiad. you then say that? A well, 1/ could sp 

English, not very much, N 

did 
q Will you please answer the question, you on December 

13th *en you. were 043.2.4a as a witness in the *Polies Court tell 

el  a little 

the J'udge that you couldny t• epee* English, an& you' wonted to 

give your testimony thz;ougb. a Yiddish interpreter . A yes,sirs . 

..aft 



'tau werstlien ,aWorit through a 'Hebrew interPrettor 

And your Whole •examination, direct and ,cross examiziais 

tion waS conducted through a Itebrew* interpreter/ A Yes, 

THE WITFESS: X claim here X coadn't speak it. 

Is the matter about which you halite testifiedo con-

cerning the conversationwhieh you claim you overheard between 

Blumentha and the defendant 'clearer in your mind, to 

was it clear in your -mind on December. 13$ 191i/ A Well,. 

this X don' 't understand very well. 

Q Now, have you spoken -to Wilson about what you were 

going' to tell on the stand to-day? A (rn 

When he got 



'Did. you ever talk to axybody about *hat you 'interest 

to say an the staid hex•e tou.dayils 

Q 'Did you ever talk to anyone what- you were going to * 

on the stand here tov.da.Y1 and /mem Was listen 

It You are*Vare of that A Y*401, air* 
 '-*fM 

Were you ever with Wilson in this building telling 

any one what you knew about this , case? A MI slr. 

You are  sure of that? A Yes, 

Q, You understand that question) don't you, do you under-

stand it? A Yes sir. 

q Now., do you remember the day of thel7th when 

case was on in the police court? A Yes s 

remember 1,t. 

Did you ever tell anyone what you were going 

, before you got on the witness stand? 

Q Sure of that? A Yes, sir. 

q Did anyone ask you what you knew about the ca% 

you went on the witness stand? A 1o, Br 

Q Did you go with ID? loon to any _vie and. tell that, 

pereon in the Magistrate's Cour% on December 13th what you 

Were going to say or what you.Irnew about the case? A Well 



•ct You are sure of that*? A Yes, sir, 

Q Were you with Wilson at Eny time at which time Wilson 

told what he knew about the ease? 

it Were you with Wilson at any time when you told in the 

presence of Wilson what you knew about the case? 

Were you with Wilson at any time with the 

Murphy? • A No:, six‘, 

You are sure of that? A That. 

Q. You know Ilr Tbirphy-.) the policeman don't you'? 

A Yesc„ 

That is M. Murphy, the witnes in the 

Oelw him in the Magistrate a court.. • 

And you havo seen him in this oourt 

see him now, 

(1), Didn't you see him yesterday? 

You saw him the ,daj before yesterday?The' da,,Y 

before yesterday, no. 

Q Was.yesterdaY the' firs 

A Yes but the day before yesterday I dial'. See hlan. at aU. 

Were you ever in this building, in ay room Of traft 

iluild.ing with Mr. Wilson and lir, Xurphy telling any one what 

you knew about the 0-ase tee we wort subpoenaed by thi 



D•ietrict AtternAY, Mr.:Press. 

.1)0: you remember telling the jury that you had never 

.spoken about the case in the pretience or Wilson or Murphy? 

A Tee, we spoke about the case before Mr. Press. 

Q 'Tau did speak'? A 

Q Don't you know what I was. asking yoi before? 

A Well, I didn't; understand very well, 

4 You did not understand it? A No. 

q Didn't I ask you whether you understood the 

No, you did not.. 

muritt you say yes? A No 

Nbv?,I ask you now, did you tell Nr Press) the 

Assistant District Attorney, What you are telling on the otand 

today? A Yes, sir, the same thing, _ 

And  was anyone with, you when you were telling him? 

Mr. Murphy and Mr. W3.laon, both were nide, 

Were in the same room while you were doing your talk  

they were listening or not. 



A 'Not very large 

E.  Z, Didn't you go down to Mi.' Prlso With Mr. Wilson/ 

A Yes, sir;, 

Didn't you talk Over what you'in goi.ng to tell Mr. -

A NO, 

q When you got to Ur. Presses roaml Yr. Pres 

what you knew about the case? A Yes, sir. 

I told him. 

q Then Mt, Press asked Wilson what he knew about the 

ease? A Yes. 

(I Isn't that right? A Yes 

q.And Mt. Wilson told him, is that right? A Yea. 

And while Inlson was telling his story to xr, ?Tess 70U 

were listening, isn't that right? A Well, I told what 

Well, I was not listening very, because I couldn't unders and 

You couldn't inder tend? 

CI Then 94U)sere BterLin ad you oouldni 

Yes, 0ertaiay. I suppose. he tnks bbtte Aigr.t.iah than 



Did Wilson tell his story to: VreMt first or did yá: 
tell your story to Mx'. Press first?. A. He told his story 

first. 

And after he got through telling his story you told "your

Storr, is that right? A Yes, 

Now, you have testified here to day that the defendant 

said, *I. will: get your head belong long?* DO you remember 

that A Yes , six. 

You said that here to day, didn't you? 

Did you ever hear anyone else say those words exceptong 

the defendant? A No, sir, certainly I. never did• 

Who else? A I only heard him ray that* 

You only heard the defendant? , A Yee, siO• 

Q Did you .ever 'hear Wilion use those 

used it on the stand, 

4 Did you write down those words? 

can't- write any English. 

Did you write it in Yiddish? A Yew, sir do 

• Q Well, did- you write those words? No.,  

Row, do you remember in the police court did, you ever 

say in the police court that you heard the defendant say I 

will get your head belong long*? A Yew sit, he 

blow your head off 



said. 0I will blow your head off* and I forgot to *say "I will 

-get your head be2Ore long*. 

44 Then you forgot to say in the police court will get 

your head before long*? A .Yes.• 

la that right? A Yes 

4 When did you remember* that the defendant litaid 

"ill get your head"? A Right when went • off from the stand 

in the police catlike 

You were asked in the police court aren't tou, what 

the defendant said at the t,irae* in Yiddish through an inter*, 

retfm4 ian1t that pight/ A Yes) sir4. 

• 4. And you answered in Yidclieh through.an interpreter  

A Yea 

But you say you forgot to say *I will get your bead bero 

Is that tight? A. Tha.tta right. 

When did' you ever repeat those worda from that day 

until this day on the stand?, A to,. sir, I don't tile that 

language - 



. . 
.411: ,,f-a144,444-445`..* 

Ntitt whin- you first heard or rather Where was the 

defendant. wagon :at . the 't time .you -claim the defendant and 

Blumenthal were talklmg together /: A This question you 

don't understand* 

Yoti d nut understand that. 

• la Now, aóe whether,.- (uestion repealed through the 

interpreter) A- Standing acroas the street, right near 

the park, Where the park le 

It was -across the atreet from Blumenthal shop, 

is that right? A (In laglish) ,Yec4 that right. 

q Now you are aure of that  A Yes I an sure Of i 

ck tile wagon was 843r °etc thea street? A. ACi•081,3 the 

street. 

q And the defendant and Blumenthal were across the 

street, is that right/ A Veli X can't eay saroisa maybe 

they were  standing ,not from the pax* there is a mall 

att. 

4 How many feet away is that from. Blumenthal a place of  

bus iness? A I have not measured 

You were examined on that eubje6 leeurt,. 

weren't you?. A Yea sir. 

gr And you-ream:bear what you, said in the police court, 

-do you? A Certainly, X 4. 

Toet you remember saying in the polla Court that it 

al , n the =Use= side of the street that the shot was on, 

of 



that Blumenthal Ye*,.oñ the same eide*.b t 

wirer  here is the' park and the wagon 'standing right there Judie. 

0,p,t443/4 - 

Q Didn't you swear in the police Court that Blumenthal 

and the defendant and the wagon were, on the same aide of the 

street as BlumenthaVe shop* when the demand for the money -

was' made?, A Yee* sir. 

,4 Was that., true? A Y*** Sir it is on the same BIAS* 

It is, the same* it is ight by the patit* and the pal* ie right 

alongside Mr. BlUmenthaVa shop* right on the same side 

call that park it is two parks there* 

Q You reniember we spoke of that in the _police -court 

examination* you remember that don't you? A Yes 

rememlierit.. 

Q When you say that you went over to where Blumenthal 

was standing* did you go right, alongside of Blumenthal? 

A This I don't understand., • 

Q (Question repeated through the interpreter) A Ye 

,near to Blumenthal* close to Blumenthal. 

fex did you have to walk in order - rom•the-

blackemith u -- Elumenthalts blacksmith shop, unta you got 
to Blumenthal and the defendant,  where they ware at ending? 

Through the interpreter) ot tar ,I don't know e,xaotly 

how Thr. 

Can't  you -gi thebury some idea? 
to, 

In Ncilish) o.• 



iC • 

‘, 

Bl4n t you say half a brook - away didn't you Bay in, the 4 

01 ice couttl A I -said Might it is hat a block or might 

it is morethen_ halt a block, I a t say exactly hECI 

block# 

Well it might have been mote than half a block? 

It might have been less,. I have not measured i 

what I sa4d4, 

Thetis 

When. you got there that day t a quextetpast One you 

sa,y it mast is that correct? A Yee it:o. 

qr. Where did you go'? ; am talking about Blumenthal' 

where did you -go? A  This X don't understand* 

(Queet;lon repeated through the interpreter 

you went to BluMenthall'a ShOR, With Ogle dinner, 0,0 

•shop 

is that tight? A (rn Yea* 

.And went with the dinner pail. into 

is that tight? A Yes sirs 

You pa the dishes in Blumenthal**, shop/A. 

Ie. that right? A That* 0 right.. 

Ct Well, up to that time did you, notice anything wrong 

enthalts sho 

YeS 

up to that time that you, went -into- the. shop, A (Through th 

interpreter) I didn't n.otice anything wrong* 

Oi Was anyone in Blumenthal!, shop' at the t 

Wilson. 

.At the t YO brought the disheS into the 1stop was 

.any'b 'there/ .yes, Ur, Wilson was in there* 

r 1 I 



In laglish) While you were in the shop with Wilion, 

did you notice ,anything wrong? A I didn't take. no noo. 

tioe on it,  

Did you hear Blumenthal talking while you were in the 

• shop/ A go h r seen TA r Blumenthail before I went :to: 
the ehop. 

4mow but did you be  Corte. 

and I *law. 

While you were in Blumenthal's shop did you hear Blumerna. 

that talking? A•.Ifot in the .shop. Outside when I walked, 

oUt X heard him talking with the defendant. 

Was Wilson.- with you in thaI hop? A Ie 

Did you both. go eut together? A " No 

!rent out firot. 

q You went out first? A Yee? 

And you walked toward Blumenthal? A Yes 

'Are you sure of that? A Yes,. air, 
• 

G., 

When you got to Blumenthal you found Bluiuenthsl talk-

ing to the defendant? A Yeas air. 

YOU axe sure of that  A Yes, 

d we.a not Blumenthal on thó i ewa3, when you were 

him, A NO sir* 



said. in Yiddish az want BOO"" A VOL not tar from his wagon. 

Do you remember this quest ion being put to you and you 

making this answer in the police court while you were being 

examined and answering through a Yiddish 'interpreter: *41. Where 

was 131umenthal when the defendant was making that demand? 

On the taidewalk". A There is no. sidewalk at -al 

Didnot You swear to that in the magistrate's court? 

NO, sir, the interpreter made a rfOistake«. 

ct Who !lade the Mistake? A The interpreter.. 

The interpreter? 

4 Was this question put to you and did you make that 

answer in Yiddish through a Yiddish interpreter in thepolice 

court: "4 Was he on the same side of the street where the shop 

Yes, sir, not far from it, 4. Was it on 

the same aide ofthe street that this took Place between Blumen-

thal and the defendant? A. Yes, that was on the 

where the ho is.' Mdd you swear to that in the police coutt? 

A Yes, sir, it is on the same side where the shopis*,positilrer. 

Right here is .the shop and right here is the street, 

he was standing right here (41lustratingl.) 

You know what they call the middle of the stret dontt 



1).0 yo yea or:no? CoWtaitatX 

Volt-3=w. What we ,c41. the Sidewalk? A Tea, 

:And you  know what we Pall_ the • Onme aide  or. the !street, 

etreet? Yea:, 

New was there any talk between Mlument 

defendant 

(Queati withdrawn.) 

Q Did you hear all of the talk between the defendant 

and Blumenthal? A Yes, I heard it, 

q well, you heard it/ A Yes, oir. 

Q And you have now told the jury everythibit that 

Blumenthal aaid to the defendant and the defendant said to 

Eaumenthal at the time you are talking abOUt' is that oorreot, 

A Thiel don't underatand. 

Q ((uestiourepeated through the 

said everything what I heard myself. 

Q wen, did you hear, if anything was said you WoUld, have 

heard it, wouldn't you? A Tees I heard him Bey "1 

head off blow your head 



that ell he said? /Ing 

You understand that question, do yOu A Yes 

You are sure of that & Yes, sir. 

You are sure of that/ 

114. P11.48S: Be has said se. 

Were you in position to hear everything that was 

said between Blumenthal end this defendant at the time, 

(RePeated through the. interpreter) All heard was 

Q Well, was anything said before the request for the $500? 

A This X did 'not. hear. 

Well, you were standing there, weren't you, at the time? 

 A— When I came there X found this man talking already. 

When was the first time that you heard either the 

defendant or Blumenthal *ay anything? A VIOA 1 got, near. 

them X heard this man, the defendant say X want $500* 

ct How far were you from him at that time? A r MIS 

One foot, and before that nothing else Wit0 aid betwesn'' 

Blumenthal or the defendant, by Blumenthal*pr the defendant, is 

that correct' A Before X heard the talk Abett $500 I,did 

'Well were they talking before you got there? 



Were you unable to hear the talk until you got within 

foot of the defendant and Blumenthal?' 

E. PRBSS: our Honor, We have thrashed this 

matter out, we have thrashed it out incessantly. The 

man has stated that he only heard these words, and 

that he wail within a foot when he heard them. 

THB COURT: Then wh3r go over it time after 

The Court hereupon admonished the jury in accordwiee 

with section 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure and 

took a recess until 2:10 o'clock P. M. 

SAMUBL CORB N, a witness for the People, resum 

thec1/4vitilm5s stand. 

MOBS EXAMINATION CONTINUED BY MR ROSENBERG; 

Mast question repeated by the stenographer.) 

have that question answered? 



R. PRESS: Objected to - 

THE COURT: 1ft, Roienberg$, it is just possible that 

your question is not plain to the.wiineso, Change the 

form of it, 

q Well, what X want to know is this, are you able to tell 

" the jury anything that was said between Blumenthal and 

the defendant except the demand for the money and the reply 

Blumenthal (Repeated through the interpreter), A Nothing 

Q Are you a cousin of Mrs, Blumenthal? A (In riglish)'ff 

Are you in any way related by blood or marriage to Mrs, 

nthäi. or to Mr. Blumenthal? A  

q Now, do you knowhow many times .you stated In the Megigias 

tratels court in answer to questions out to you, that the defends. 

ant said he would blow your head off or blow Blumenthilos head 

off, or blow your head off (Repeated through the interpreter), 



NOW, 1'..am taXiarig Of how: mar "times did Yg?A..S 

Court when .7 you: we re on the-  wit ne Sawatand.,, 

questi.ons pat 1?y the District Attorney or by tb.e 

fendanttSlawyert that the defendant, said 0r will blow your 

head off?* it I car" remember that 

4. Well, was:1ft it more than ten times that you answered 

t at quest ion? A Not even 'five times* 

MR. RO$EWBERG, Will you agree with me, Mr. 

the number of times the minutes show? 

Ert PBES: Ij4l1gree to the entire minutes in the 

Police Court being introduced to oho* any variance in the 

testimony, I ask all t o go in, 

ROSEVBERG; All I want, r, Prose, *ell if you 

will not do that I will have to .ask each question", 

q Weren't you asked in the Poll oe Court this question and 

did you make this answer., page 24: og Do you remember- anythi 

that you heard this de fe dant - say? - A Said will ba.ow 

your ea1d of.'" Was that quest ion put to you by the District 

Attorney and did you make that answer? A (In English): I 

al Now, I ask pau aether this quest ion eats, put to you by 

District Attorney, and did you make this answer, at patge 24: 

HA, After Blumenthal said to hili *Go to hell is what did the di 

endaut say? A lle said II will blow your head off," 

that question put inuLe that answer? 



Weal,- now. did you forget to 

sometime, or did the interpreter 

h.ose .instances? 

lat. PRESS: X submit the witness.has answered' and he 
.-; 
said he did forget to say that, 

ML ROSENBBRat Then he said the interpreter made a 

. mistake, 

PRESS: lie did not in relation to that,. 

'ME 001E1T* Well, you may ask the question. 

qtz!pt-i cm repeated through the interpreter). 

I myself- forgot to say it if 

Was t s rest-ion put t 0 you 04 ..orostf-examin ad; ion and 

did you make this answer* page 25 of the crass exarainsition: 

And :the statement that tI will 'blow your head eftwas 

in Yiddish? A Brtglish.,* Did you say that? 

Was t 1i $ quest ion put to you en CroSEIR*SiSalitt at ion and 

did you make this exam r q, Blumenthal eai&, 1Ou can go 

to hell' after the deferidant aid, 1Z w13.1 blow your head 

A To be sure of it I can't tell, I can't think just 

now, but as far as I remember and as Z know that ;Or. Sure is 

that he Blumenthal, said t o him in 3.nglieh) The 

other. fellow repeated as X said in Inglish to 

M X Will blow your head off? 



In the. Police Court? • • (XII:. Xr1g01.11. . 4.14# . 

No. What.. language.. did thi defendant !peak ..‘ten 

for it be money, aceordimg to your claim? ..A. 11441,044. 

In Yiddish?, A -Yea, 

:11 You are oure of that? A yes. 111I0t.will 

• 4 In at language did the defendant epeak when he said, 

according to your claim, "I will get your head yeti I will bioW 

your head off?" A This was said in linglish. 

In Snglish? A Yes, sir, 

ft Totter° sure of that? Now, where was the defendant 

when he said "I will blow your heed .offt" (Repeated througr 

the interpreter) A Ile was walking towards his wagon  ,.,and 

said to him "I will blow your head off." 

Then he was on the sidewalk, or in the middle of the  

et root when he said t bat, vthich? A They, were on the street.. 
„ 

On the street/ A Yes, 

You are sure of that? . A Yes. 

On the streets you Mean the middle of the ietteet and 

mot the, sidewalk, is that correct? A Yea, the middle o t 

street. 

And was the defoxiant facing youwh.en he said that whil 

walking or was his back to you? A Well, thial atilt .n-otica, 

I di dn It t eke any notice, so much. 

q, Well was he walking away from you when he said I Will 

your head off?" (Repeated through the interpreter 

0.7r. I- - • 

X7. 



dOntt remember- that., 

you sere hot* many feet 

when he said that? 

lat. MSS!. I object to that.• 

was One foot, away from him. 

ItbSPBERG:: No, I beg your pardon. 

4, (In Znglish) All right,- were you. one foot away fr 

the def end ant whe n he said *that? A Well, I don't remember 

tb.iø I guenif they was about a foot away or heat* a foot aw 

I don't remember it,. 

it How far was the defendant from Blumentb.al When. 

that? A Well) I b.aventt seen. 

Didnit you see Blumenthal at that time?.. A 

I did see him. 

41. We U., how far was Blumenthal from the defendant when 

he said "I will blow your head offu? A They were not f 

they were about a foot away. 

}row many? A About a fool .or not a foot at 

about a quarte r of a fo cit, 

1V/ell, after the fendant said "I will blow your head 

offpu did Blumenthal say to him uGo to hell"? A NO bore 

he said t o him ',Go to hell after he said "I viiU blow 

your head off because you r efuse to give the ney " 

trave you nor: t old .; he whole o tho conversation that took 

plaCe betwcen tho fend ant and Blumenthal at that tine (Re 



't Well 'if anything else Was said youvere near .eno 

it, weren't you? A Yes:. what, I have heard I am saying 

4, low., was the-re perfect quiet between Blumenthal ax4 

this defendant until -t he defendant as you claim, made the d. 

mand for five hundred dollaxs? • A Maybe they had had a ponver,o• 

eat ion with one another" and ,,shen I came .up to them X heard 

, that I said I 

tt Did you hear any talk between tke defendant and Blume 

thal before you reached t be point of on  foot from the defendant 

or Blumenth.al? 

Mai PISS: If your Honor please.) respeettul,4 

subiniti this matter has been gone into, gone over and ‘o•Vori 

this witne SS testified that •as he approached .he saw them 

talking and 'all he heard was that _he testified 

) 
THE COURT: Objection duhtain di 

MR. ROSENBERG: Exception. 

Now, before you took the witness,-

tratets Court, did you talk to any one what you intended 

You are Sure of that 



Z; do Underatand it* 

Did Wilson talk to any one in your presenoe before h 

took the wit neitstistand. in the Metrate, 

CI Were you there too?. English) 

4 What? A Yea. 

Did you talk to the Diatriat Attoihey7 

asked me quest ions and I then anSwered *hem., 

.4 -Didn't t you say a moment ago you did not talk to avjeone 

in the Magistrate deurt before you took the witness'-et and? 

A Well, ,they have not talked to irs' but r talked t 0 the. Dim, 

it riot Attorney. 

ct Hays you seen Ws l Since 'December 9th? A Yes 

If/Ives you been to her home? A Yes$ :sir:. 

116ore you/ A Yes*, sir, 

4 And have you spoken to Mi. Blumenthalts brother si.nce 

December 9th? A NO, sir, I don't know them very goOd*. 

-11 you have never seen him? A I dEntt have 1.10. businesi 

h hint at all. 



WX-LLIAM C 0 H N, called and dui,v rsworn as 

on behalf .drthe Peop3.e,"testified as follows: 

(Residence 1445 Madison avenue). 

DI1ECT EXAMINICION BY RR. PRRSS: 

q You are a member of the Police lorae 

York? a sir, 

it And have been tor how long? A- Pour years.. 

q What precinct were you connected with on the 9th 

December, 1911? A Detective Bureau, Seventh Preoinet•• 
,-• 

q On that day did you see Louis Bliuitentha.1 

MR , ROSEMER e et 40 not binding upon the 

fendant 

Object ion oirerruleci. Exoe t 

Yesit 

ROSBUERG;. I object also at erupting to .eori-

roborate the alleged testimony a Louis Bumentlial.Fid 
t ake- ada exception. 

CI, Did you? A Yes,. sir. 

Ct And what hour of the day did you see him and 

MR RO I object upon the ground that it 

is inc omp et ent immat erial and irrelevant and an 

to corroborate Louis Blumentha 

Obj cot ion overruled. Nxoeption• 

A- Around six osclock, at the Seventh Precinct. Station House 

There 4 that? A 247 Lladisori street • 



PHI LIP 1URPUY,a, witness call 

of the People, testified as fol1cw4. 

DIRECT3IXA11410Z TOW BY MR, PRESS: 

Officer MurP13.73 did you arrest this defendant? 

It When and where? A On the 11th day o 

The 11th day of December? 

ta, 1913,? A Yea, 

Where? A At about 7:30 A If, at .Porsythe and De-

Who was with YOU, at the time you arrested h 

liouis Blumenthal.. 

Was there arty person with the defendant at the 

There was some other Man.' 

Q At the time you approached him 

Two of them,' the defendant here and Ell other man had 

newspaper in front of them. 



BY MR. PRESS: 

q WaS it a Jewish newspaper they had in frcalt 

saw them, 

wouldn't you, in a newspaper?. A Yea, sir,. 

(t So it was a Jewish newspaper you saw them reading? _ 

A Yes, sir. 

Q,. Did you hear anything that transpired between t YAM, 

did you hear wbat one said to tke other? sit No, s 

Was the defendant's 'wagon there at the time? A- ther.0 

was a wagon there vihich he said was his wagon. 

st Now, did you .have an  c onversat4on with him at the ti; 

you made the arrest? A I did. 

ct What did you say to him and what did he say to .you? 

A I walked over to him with Mr. Blumenthal. 1 told him X MO -

going to place him un,der_arrest on suspioion of having CW064 

at is what you  said to the defendant? 

re did y.ou say -the bomb had been exploded?. 

MR. ROSE MER G: One moment 



Tell us juin exactly what. you said-, Offiber?. 

Obj ected to ueation withdrawn. 

tt Tell us -exactly what you said to the defendant and wbat. 

said to you? 

ma .goszinEnG object upon the ground that it 

an attempt to prejudice the defendant by la.legal. atid 

eon:pet out ell deuce, by attempt 1i1  to prove a separate and 

diSt*nct crime against the defendant, witiv,which he JO 

not charged. 

Object ion overrubd. Xx_pepti on* ' 

I told him I was arresting him on -suspicion of hairingl canoe 

the explosion of a boa?b at two a.m. ,tim that morning. in front of 

Mr. Blume nthall a apartments on the filth floor o 202 Henry 

reet 

Q. What did he ssy to you? A And then said SPor the 

reason that Mr id that you went down to his place 

of busineas at -65 Rutgers Slip on the 9th day of December .and 

drnanod five. hundred dollars from him under a t4reat to blow. 

his head off." I said "Now, did you go down and demand that 

money and make that threat?" He says, "I did, Iwo sent' 

down by two men," I sa.d "Who are t]205e men?" He said 1!I 

donut know, they gave me a. dollar." 

q. Did he say anything with respect to the explosion? 

further questioned him as I went along, If he kneW 

anythiu in regard to the explOsion. of the bomb, and be said .he 



but- the:t he and kis friend ifere just ree.ding_ It troy., z 

newSpeper at the time I cate up*. 

And ou. then placed hi*. -under -arrest? A. I had him 

under arrest 04. the .`time.. hat was while I was on the 

o the. station house* I was conversing with him.. 

't And you took him *here? A To the Seventh Precinct' 

Station. House 

et. DO you have • Any further c onve, ,S),44ion: himl- at 

4. 14'00120g .mot:s _only on the same line as I. had 413, along4 

I 'asked .him several times it. he could tell me Who. these • men. 

.were that •fiptit him down there. • and he always .answered Nb 

that he di dalt 4kovr them. 

It When wss the/ .last time, if you Can •reco3.1ec4 

0.•*ed.him,vtio these two men were? A I think it. as in .the 

•StiEtcitt house... 

ct

 

On .that flame day? •A Yea, slit on t samen.orning. 

9, And he couldn't tell you,. .1 s thst . right? A lio, at, 

he ..c ould not 
er. 

How far is this station house, or whet ettc4iolj. house 

are you connected with or 'were you connected with. on the 9th 

of December? A The Seventh Precinct 24'7 Madieon street 



rictly in the back. 

&out how fair would" you say is  the rear wall of 202 

t might be probably 50 or 60 feet steuething like thatr maybe 

a little more-

Were  you. in.. the station house on tb.e morning of Deon' 

ber 11, 1911, between the hours of one o'clock in the morning. and . 

street clock in the. morning? A Yes, sir, I wee in the back 

On reeerve duty, Or whet kind of duty? A :Yes 

I was on night duty. 

While you were in the station house at that time, or 

between thoae hours did anything occur? 

MR ROSEN:S.:MG: One moment. 

(Continuing:) An explosion. 

R. ROSENBERG: Wan, I -ask that the answer be 

stricken out. I asked the witness to refrain from answer-

ing the question. If that answer in in there I would. 

like to have it stricken out and the jury directed .tc, 



Strike,it out It in not strictly 

sponilys. You may ask, what oocurred.. 

What occurred. 

R. ROSRG: X object as incompetent, immaterial 

and irrelevant,' and not within the issues 

case., and not binding Upon_ the defendant 

to be in Wards. Connected with the defendant. 

Tra COURT: Well, if it is not, we will entertain 

Your motion to strike it: out. 

B. ROSENRITRG: But the damage will then be done.. 

TIM COURT: I cannot help it., I am bound to genuine 

by the District Attorney asking it that the question is 

relevant. If it is not, we will strike it out. We will 

meet 'difficulties when the arise. 

11R. ROSIINBIRG: Well, I give notice now to the Die-' 

triot At,torney--

TIM COURT: Nor, I have ruled upon your question. 

110 may answer the question. 

MR. rt OSIGIARG: 1 except_ to your Honor's refu 

permit me to make a statement which I claim Will gu.ard the 

rights of this defendant, which I am' required to do under 

, the authorities of the courts of this State. 

(Question repeated by stenographer.) 

loUd noise like an =plosion. 



RopngfmGt I object. -as not binding. upon the..de-

the same objection as heretofore. 

Objection overruled. Ittception, 

q .-what Ind you ,do? A I .immediately ran up Anto..1(a41.--

.5ort 'street eroUnd. into Clinton,, and Clinton into. Henry,. And 

when 1 got around there I heard a  woman-

Never mind that. You. saw a woman, did you'? A Well 

it was on the fifth floor. 

TEE -CoUBT: Only what. was done not what was said. 

Q Did you see any one when you got into 'Henry street? 

A Yes, sir, I saw apolicanthéri. 

Q Did you have a conversation with. thet policeman or 

.with any one ithere? A No., *hat attracted my attention was.. 

sort of a soream-

I heard first and -then saw- afterwards. 

A What did you hear when you got into Remy Street? 



t 4 :  
rebi, 

1111.. ROSYMBWRG: •Same.•obj ection and ex° option. 

A scream like "Pir 1„c4;ked 

looking out a window. 

Q Of What house wee the woman looking 

Q And .did you go into that building? 

Q Up ,to what floor did you go? 

where I found all the disorder. 

ftat was the condition 

there? 

A 

and saw 1 'Axon 

• out  202 Henry. 

A Ye 

To the fifth floor 

of the fifth floor when you, go 

R. ROSBRaltiO Obj acted to upon the same•grounds. 

THE COURT.r District Attorney, will you ,connect 

it with this defendant? 

Vft. MOSS: If your Honor please, the contention f. 

1031111 

the Peopie here is that this testimony is relevant, n view 
• f 

Ce the fact that thie. defendant _made the &inlaid and admit,-

Jed having made the demand for two men, and that the morn  

ing 'after, or rather- on the morning of the nth.—

THE CCORT (Interposing): Then your theory is the 

theory of ratification? 

MR. PRESS.: cactlyt your Honors that under .the: Aeci.-

sion in the People of the State of New , ork 'against .1\11, 

Andrugna, it is relevant and competent te timonY. 

THE COURT: tell we will receive it at this time. 

ME. ROSENBNRG: It is obljeoted tb.° as incompetent, 

iiimateria1 and *irreievant not binding upon the defendan 



,:•-•"•• • 

not within the issues reined here and in 'nowise oonnected, 1 

and exception., 

COURT:-. 

ROSBABREIG: May it be understood that this obj 

tion applies throdghout the line of this testimony? 

MR COURT: Well, I do not believe you will be 

with that objection.- If you will be, I will 

satia-

take it " 
• 

in general form. 

101. BOSMERG; All right, then, I will object every 

time I think proper I must object. 

MB COURT: Very Well. 

Q (question repeated through stenographer.) A.- Well, 

- the door to Mr. Blumenthal's apartment was blown .00mPle ly•off 

the hinges, and also at the base a.* of the door was A sort 

hole blown into the marble flooring in the hallo and there 

was in the private hall of the Blumenthal apartment, there were 

several holes in the ceiling and in the wall, and in the base, 

and also on the adjdining floor, 'there was a few:holes in that 

door, . and the two flats at the back of them were also stew 

holes in that from something, and the_whole front of the 

waiter was wan all blown off, and the ceiling was down, and the 

Window, the whole window was blown out, and some of the ataire 

•was 'broken. I founds it that time-several people coming out of 

their afartment into the hallway. 

q Did you see Blumenthal on that 00 iion? 

ICC 



1* 1. 

ThiS: 65 RutgerS, Slip Where Tiltunenthall s place .of  busif. 

peas A in the county of P'efiW York, .it? A T 

And hit residence, 202 Ilenz7 street, that IS in the 

county of New York" A Yes, sir. 

CROSS malnanoil BY MR ROMMO: 

You had previously spoken to fr. Blumenthal before ar-

resting this defendant? A I spoke to him the 0E410) time that 

I got in the building of that morning, a little while after 

was in there ,.a few minutes after. 

And you arrested according' to your statement, 

defendant and charged him with suspicion in connection with 

Jim blowing up that building? A Yes, sir. 

And you took the defendant to the police stattont 

Madison street police station? A Yea, air. 

Q And you there arraigned the defendant before the Ser-

g ant at the 'desk? A Lieutenant, yes, sir. 

Q, And you there made the charge against this defendant 

of suspicion. in Connection with the blowing up of that •building, 

is that correct? A I did, yes. 

Q, And your official note :book which you are required 

keep by the rules of t)le Department concerning the 4rreet of 

Persons, contain an entry of the foot that you arrested_ this 

defendant. on Suspicion of being connected w tkt the blowing up 

of that building? A did 



'Q And when.yOu made the charge borers the_Lientenant 

the desk, at the time of his arrest, _Was Blumenthal alongaide 

of you? A ite Was there. 

And within Your hearing you made the charge? A.He 

was there to make- it himself in that line. "Me had to be there 

Q, Didn't 11[2. Blumenthal tell you on the morning or the 

10th Or the 11th, was the date of the arrest? A The 11ih,yes. 

Was that Sunday Morning? A 'Monday Morning. 

Did he tell you on :the morning of December llth Where 

you could find this defendant? A He didn't tell me exactly; 

Didn' t he 'take you to Delancey and Forsyth street? 

A, didn't take me directly to Delancey and Porisyth he ;book 

me to several places all over the East, Side where express wool.), 

ct And didn't hertall you the name of this 11 

No, he didn't tell MA his full name. 

Didn't he call him Charley the CriPPle? A 01ter14117 

ct And he told you he knew Where Charley was, d 

A He said if I went with him he might be able to fin 

Q

 

Now, you. did find the  defendant at the corner of lorsyth 

and Delancey street?- A Yes, sir, pear the Corner* 



Q A bay horse? A I don't know what kind of a horse was 

on it, I don't remember. 

Q I show you a photograph and ask you whether or not 

that is a photograph truthfully representing the horse and 

wagon at which the defendant was standing at the time of his 

arrest? A -Well, I can't say, because I don't remember seeing 

that sort of blanket, on the horse. The name I didnl.t• notice 

either; I know the wagon was much the same sort of covered 

Now, _didn't the defendant tell you.-in answer to. 

questions questions that two men asked him to deliTer a measitge to Toouili 

Blumenthal? A He said he was sent there by two men. 

Yes, and that's what he told you?' A Yes. 

you he didn't knew? A I° asked him Who they were and he Bei& 

he didn't _know who they were. 

oj Didn't he tell 'you at that -time that he got a dollar. 

for going x' there? A. Yes, sir, he said he got a dollar for 



1 
mid t he tell you he drove over there in the very  

horse, and wagon which You found there? A No that was not 

mentioned at all. 

Well, did 't  tell you he drove 

and -Wagon? A No, I didn't ask him. 

Q Didn't you _ask him? A I didn't ask him how he went' 

over. 

Q - Didn't he ell you he Went over with his hor 

wagon?. A • No, 'air, not to my recollection.nt 

Didn't he tell you that he went there in the middle of. 

• the day, in broad daylight? A I 'didn't Put any .of those sort 

of questions  to him at all, in reference to .that because Mr  

Blumenthal had told me the  time he went there. 

Q Now, the -defendant speaks Tinglith. very poorly. Oaten .t . 

be' A Att spoke it all right with me. •X could Understand him... 

and he could understand me. 

• Well, you are mixed up pretty much with the 'Yiddish. 

Ea.st Side persona Yiddish last Side individuals, is that ri 

A Yea. 

Q And you have been mixed up for a .great many years? 

A. 'About five years • 

Q, And you have sort of learned their jargon, tan' thst 

igbt? A Well, a little Of it. 

Nofl, isn't it a fact that this defendant tweet* ter" 

poor lInglish? A Well don't know I wouldn't 'cell, it poor. 



MR. 11068 (ciallin Mrs Blumenthal,. 

ME. BOSPIBMG: One question, 1427 Murphy. 

(1 At the time of the arrest of this defendant didn't be  

ask you to take Ms horse and wagon with him to the station 

house?. A Yes, he did. 

That is- in. 

T H L B L tl If I? 11' P r A LI a witness recalled /on behalf 

of the -People, testified through Official interpreter no 

enthal as follows: 

DIRECT-VAAMINATIO11: BY MR. PMSS: 

q. Do you remember the Monday morning, 

,The 11th of January, 1911? 

Yes, or the lath of December, 1911? A I cant° 

CI Do you remember anything occurring at your house? 

ORMIBMIRG: I object as incompetent irnaterial 

and irrelevant, and not binding upon the defendant, not 

within the issues raised by these pleadings, and an attempt 

to establish a separate and distinct crime not charged 4n 



At what )3.our of the morning did. it 

Same objection and. exception. 

Two clock Monday morning. 

_Was your husband in the apartment with you at 

sleeping? 

Same objection, ruling and 

It the lent room. 

What drew your attention or what did you hear? 

MR. ROSBIMMRG: Same objection and exception. 

heard something like a crash, a loud crash, 



q Where did you go. hein you get out of bed? A lre went 

the dining room. 

V, What did you: find when you got into the dining room? 

same objection and exception. 

found pieces of iron n the middle of the room from a 

Wereany of the doer 13 disturbed, leading into '.your apart-

ment? A All the doors were in good order. 

Were any of the doors at all disturbed, .leading into 

your apartment? A he dbfors were in order. - 

q Tell us just exactly what the place looked like 

Same objeation and exception. 

. A everything there was torn and broken. 

COS IMAMINATION BY MR. ROMBERG: 

q The room that you say you were sleeping vith.y0111 hus-

band in, was how many rooms away from the dining 

q And the room in which you were sleeping Was, 

damage done to that room, A Yes, a- piece of iron came 

q Came in through the three rooms? A Yes 

q Now, do you know Stua Cohen? A No 

4 You have soon hAra in court, rt you? Yes, 



Tou 'saw him, on the Wite at$nd her 

A. Yes I did. 

Did you ever see Sam Cohen before to 
stand? -A Yes. 

x.s ha.arelation ,yerurt? •110..• 

X8 he a friend of yours? .4 No. 

_4 P#6.13 he call at your ,houee A ita Used to come up 

in awhile 

,Then was the last time he was at your house? A He 

there on that Saturday PA Which the tan came. to  Aemana, 

MR. EOSEMERG: I ask that,. "the day en which the man 

came to demand the -Money" _be.stikoken out as clearly hearsay. 

I have .no objection to its being fixed by consent, 

-comber 9th,. is that right, Mr. Press? 

PRESS:, quite agreeable. 

Whattime of the day was it that Sam Cohen coo to your 

house .on December 9th? A I dont remember. 

Was it in the morning or afternoon?' A In the afternoon. 

That time of the afternoon was it? A I donq remember 

exactly, but about one, I think. one o'clock. 

!ffas it later than one °to/oak?. 'Al am .not mare about it. 

Well, was Sam working .on that day, do you know? A No. 

Wall, was he at your house all of that. day? A *A 

4 Did he come n adoidentally, or 414 you sond for him on 



.Did you have a.servant girl at the time? A No. 

That is • 

MR -PRESS.; 1 .have to recall Officer 'Murphy., if -yoUr. 

'Honor please.. 

• Q. Officer Murphy, how long have you been on duty in the. 

iicinity of Rutgers Slip? A Well, I was there in that vicinity 

in fait I broke in there, and I was there for a year and a half 

in uniform, and then I went to the First Branch of  the ,Deteatir3' 

Bureau, which also took in that 

Are you familiar with 65 Rutgers Slip? A yea; air, I 

have been around there for five years, through that neighborhood. 

That is BlunterAktalis ,place_of business? A 7res. 

Will you describe that place? A There is a park there 

.extending from Cherry Street to Water Street,, then there- is an-

other section of the park extends from Water to .Soixth street,.and 

on both sides of the park there is a street in the Slip.. 

q, Now, opposite 65 Rutgers Slip where the complainant's 

place of business is, is there a. sidewalk on the other side? 

A Just a small little walk, probably about that wide (indicat. 



Yes-, sort of a wall, and then like a railing on .tóp o that. 

Q And what is the distance, or what is the width of the. 

street opposite 65 Rutgers_ Slip? A Well, I &mild judge it 

to be about 35 feet something like that. 

And was the sidewalk on the same side as the place of 

business -of Blumenthal, the complainant, was there? A :Yea* 

CROSS EXAM/NATION BY R. ROSENBERG: 

Now, officer, how does Rutgers Slip run, north and 

does it run in any other direction? A Well, I don't know—what-. 

you would call it. It rims, I thi* I would call it north”an 

south, I wouldn't be sure. 

Now, Rutgers Slip itself is only 35 feet wide frozi curb 

tocurb, I am talking ofltutgers Slip, at the 'point of 65 Rutgers 

Slip, from curb to curb? A I say I think i is about 35 or may 

be, a..little more, 1 wouldn't be certain. 

`q Now, the sidewalk on the Blument!aal shop side it% how 

wide, if .you know? A Well from the curb. to Blumenthal% 

4 The house line? A The house line I Should judge to be 



You gr. now *e*oribing the width of the street :opposite 

05 Rutgers Slip, is that: right? A Not the sidewalk, 

Q - YOU, are,. talking (Interrupting) You asked as 

from the *Sidewalk, 

yes but yo U are now describing the point opposite 

65 Rutgera SUP? A les* 

that correct? A Yea. 

(lc Now, to the south of 65 Rutgers Slip is a little park, 

is that correct? A Right oppositt: 

q Opposite? Then you call the opposite side Of the street 

the site of the park, is that correct? A Yes, that is one side 

of the park. 

Q One side of the park? A Yes. 

qWell, 2sx2ft there one side of Rutgers sup 414, 

Rutgers Slip? A One site of it, yeso 

osite 65 

Q Ant then how far disitant is it from 65 Rutgers Slip, .• 

the .house line, to the opposite side of Rutgers Slip/ Zn other 

words, the west side of Rutgers Slip? A Do you man the west 

side or.. Rutgers Slip, opposite 65? 

Q Yes. A W41,. Judging, as I said befor 

feet'. 

probably 45 

Q well, is iere a park intb,e middle of the street? 

A N.9t no. 

Masi 65? A yho park comes in between the t treats 

Which t st to? A Rutgers 

,M1.* 

ATV. 



s there .one continuous side-walk en the salt 

side of Rutgers slip A On the. east side of the slip? 

4 yea is there? A Yes? 

Q And ie that the east side of Rutgers SUp where numellw• 

•thaltS plaoe of business was? A Yes that is.well — 

Is that correct? A Well, there is a Erdal sidewalk - 

On, both sides of the park. 

q I SM talking now, the east side of Rutgers Slip, the 

place where Blumenthalls place of business Was? A. Where do 

61.11 MSS, is the sidewalk along the house line or alongolde the 

park, which is it? 

Q The house tine-4f.Rutgers Slip, nthe eaEt iide. of the 

street? A Certainly, a sidewalk there. 

Q About ten or twelve feet wide? A I should ludge*Is. 

ct And that runs all the way down to Cherry street? 4 

runs from c#erry street down to South street* 

-4 And then from South to Water there is Another sidewalk 

of about the same width? A No, from Cherry to Water and feast 

on the other side of Rutgers slip. 

sliemak? A Yes, certainly. 

And that ,xums parallel wit east .side of the stroste„, 



• Dose it run in the ssme direotiOn, 

is on the west side of Rutgers Slip. 

But it runs n the etoe direction, A Yes. 

And there is a sidewalk on that side of the street? 

tt And, that is about the muse width is the east side? 

No, think the sidewalk, in front of 65 Rutgers Slip, the Cl 

trance to the blacksmith shop is wider than the sidewalk on 

the west side of the olive 

Q How wide is the sidewalk on the west side of the street? -

A It may be a few feet less. 

pi Well, it is about eight or ten feet an 

may be eight, may be a little less. 

Q That is all. 

MR. PRESS: 'THE PEOPLE REST. 

MR. ROSEN33ERG: The defendant now asks, the 

now demands that the District Attorney be compelled 

elect upon-which count of the indictment he intends o sub-

mit this case to the jury. • 

THE COURT: *nit have you to say, Mr. District Attorney? 

MR. MSS: I will answer it in this way. your HOnor, 

that the People prootked under Section 851, Sub-division 1 



ROOIDIURG: That is only * deginition. 

THE COURT: WeU, Which count of the indietment? 

'MR. 'PRESS: The first -Count of the indibtment, 1.f your 

Honor please, I believe .corers that. 

THE 0OUBT Well, proceed. under the first count at the 

indictment, upon the District Attorney's election. 

MR. PRESS: Both cunt s are practically identical. 

Suit one igenent your Honor. 

Tug come: vent I wiai withdraw 127 rul 

bistriat Attorney has further looked into it. 

MR.- PRESS: gust one moment, if your Honor pleaec.. 

The secomik count of the indictment if your Honor please, 

850 and 051,, SUbs.division 3,.; 

THE COURT: well, which count? 

MR» ?BZS:1 851„ Sub-division 1, the s 

the indictment,. 

-4-1712 cotMr: You delire then to go to the PA 
eecound count? 
MR. PRESS: The, your Honor. 
MR. ROSENBERG: Then does your Honor dismiss th t • 

• qt.' 

count of the indictment? 

THE COURT: NO, no, I say we will go to the jury on the 

fist count. Beyond that I. make no ruling at Present. 

MR ROMBERG: ,Do I understand your. Honor, that the 

,District Attorney claims that the second count of the lniik 



THE COURT: I do not know, 1 cannot answer that ques 

haye ruled) and we will proceed. 

MR. ROSENBERG! Z. ask now that the defendant be advised 

what particular law he is charged violating, and what 'par-

ticular section of that law it is claimed that this 

merit its brought upon? 

THE COURT: I have ruled as fax' as 1 am •go ng 

ROSENBERG: To Which the defendant excepts. The 

defendant mares to strike out that portion of the testimony. 

...given by Officer Murphy and by Mrs. Blumenthal, concerning 

the explosion, at the home of Mr. Blumenthal' 

. THE COURT: Motion denied. 

MR. ROSENBERG: Will your Honor let me get the grounds 

in? May it be understood? • 

THE COURT: Well, is it essential to put the grounds 

in? You have made your motion broadly. Is it not better 

for you to have it made in broad terms? 

MR. ROSENBERG: Then, if your Honor please, your HonOr 

understands that I direct my, attention to all the testimony, 

concerndng the explosion of the bomb in the house, and sqr 

THE COURT: PrsoiselY, and I have ruled'upon it broadly 

ML ROSENBERG To Which I except. The difehdaat asks, 



in visvi of the election of the District Attorney, to dismiss 

the ,firet oount of the indictment? 

TIM COURT: I haievruled on all these- points. 

bring them up again? 

MIL ROSENBERG: But your Honor ha-s not dismissed A? 

THE COURT: NO, I said I would not. I said we would go 

to the jury under the second count in_the indictment,"but 

beyond that ruling, I made no ruling. 

The defendant excepts. Now, the dew 

fendant asks your Honor to advise the jury to acquit) and 

the dismissal of the indictment upon the ground 

first, that the facts proved do not oCistitute a trim 

Second, that the facts proved do not constitute the crime 

charged in the second count of the indictment. 

• VEL ROSENBERG: Third, that there to a material Taxi*. 

ance between .the -crime charged in the second oount of the 

indictment and the facts proved, that the facts alleged in 

the sseond count of the indictment have not been proved, 

and the facts proved have not been alleged; fourth, that 

the 'People have failed to prove the charge contained in 

the indictment beyond a reasonable doubt, and by comp). 



• MR. ROSENBERG,: That the crime proved., if any; i 

other than that charged, 'other than that alleged, in 

the seSond count of the indictment 

THE COURT: Motion denied* 

MR* ROSENBEITI: Your Honor denies, the motions, and 

ANNIE VITUS ICY, called and duly sworn as a witness; 

on behalf of the defendant, testified through Official In-
%) 

terpreter Rosentb.,al, as follows,: • 

(Residence 312 Henry street). 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSENBM:_ • 

, Q, Talk loud in your language so that the last juryman 

4 Do you remember meeting Louis Blumenthal? A lei. 

How long are you in the country? 

on six, about six years. 

Do you know Louis Bli.mtenthal? 



Q.  IDien did you first meet him? A 'Before Chriatmass 

at  the time when my husband was a3,rea4 a couple of  weeks in 

the tomb's. 

ROSSIMIRG: admitted he went to 

On December 13th4? 

• 3Wa, Pit/SS; 

inl. POSEMBRG: rt is admitted that the defendan 

was committed to the Tombs on December 13th the date 

the holding by the magistrate. 

4 Was it after December 13, 1911? 

4 Now, when did you firet see Louie Blumenthal) the comet. 

A I don't know the day exactly, but it was a 

004ple of weeks after my husband was sent to the Tombs: 

Q Where did you see Louis Blumenthal? A In the store 

of Mr. Xisenbe 

Q 'Where ie Mr. Eisenberg's store ? A Down town acrois 

Q. Who Wal present when you were called in to :see. 

Blumenthal? A Well, 11V4 Eisenberg was there and seysra 

othem and they heard what I was talking to gro Blumenthal,. 

did Wig -Blumonthal, 



tell the truth about -why my, huebaudwaaxrested. 

Q Did Mr. Blumenthal tell. you 'what he would say? 

be  said. he would tell the truth that no money was demanded', 

ct %1st who did not demand 

did not denumd any money off himi 

that before the indict 

• What did Louis Blumenthal say' a: out the Grand Jury?.. 

A He said he would tell the Grand jury that my- hueband didn t 

al* any money off him, that he said he should stop the fight 

and take off his hands. He said that Ay husband came up to 

him, to Blumenthal, and told him that two men had ,sent him 

over tO tam. 

Q What 'did Kr. Blimlenthal say that the District Attorney 

said to him in the Grand Jury room about what you have just 

said? 

MR. PRESS: I object to that, to anything the Dietriet. 

Attorney may hare said to Blumenthal and what 'Blumenthal said. 

I Understand it', 

it is not the faot /want it 

y. of youruestion that 'I do not tie. 

ant 10 show that 1441e -this laultken 



Blumenthal concerning it, and: that Blumenthal then 

told him 

THE COURT: Well, should you not bae asked that 

question  Of Siumenthgt3.0? 

Nft4 ROSEITIMG: Yes, this was long- after the police 

court hearing,„ your Honor. 

UR. PRSS I have no objection to • that testimony 

going ,in, provided X can call the afisiStant in charge of 

the Grand Zury to rebut the testimony. 

TES COURT: Do you consent to  that.? 

R. ROSSIIBERG.: Wifl you let me see the minutes . 

of the Grand 

THE COURT; ITo, no, he could not do that. 

against the law for hini. to do that. He would be guilty 

Of crime if he did that. As I look at this question it 

is legally improper, but if you are willing to open wid* 

the doors:, co that your testimony may be rebutted, the 

-District Attorney consents. It by consent YOu 

men wish to ,introduce this evidence which I deem incompea-

you may do- so. 

11R. ROSIMBERGI Well, I want to get the benefit  

of he teetimony, of. this Womanil testimony.. 

TilE COURT: sow, I have /Alt he matter right before 



MR. ROSENBERG: I want to get the benefit of 

this womants testimony, and 1 therefore consent. 

—NB. 'PRESS: Well, Your Honor, thgu I may rebut 

it if 1 see fit/ 

THE COURT: Yes. Now, if you introduce the to 

timony he may rebut it. 

(I Now, what did Mr. Blumenthal tell you the District 

ney tokad him in the Grand. Jury roam., about the evidence that 

he gave there? A Mt. Blumenthal told MR that the District 

-Attorney had a fight with him, why Mt. Blumenthal did testi 

differenAly in Essex Market Court and differently in the Grand 

Jury 2400m. So Mr. Blumenthal said that he told the Dietr Pt' 

Attorney that here in the Grand jury room he -tells the truth, 

that he said he thought in this way he Est woad in this 

he would be able to get out of this man, the defendant, *the 

two men were who sent hip, but seeing that he could not get. 

out of the defendant who the two men were, because the 

defendant did not know the two men who had sent him 

going to ,tall the truth, he was saying the truth, 

.(1 Now, did you have any further, talk with BluMenth4 

on the same subject a, concerning which you have Ault testified 

and if so, when and where? A He told me more abOut 

and he told me I shOuld not cry, should nOt-worry4 that sgir 



lay husband would be out and would bet that 

the truth and my husband would be all right. 

Q, Did not Mr. Blumenthal say anything about buying 

theatre tickets", and if so what did he say about that? 

THE COURT: Now, is that germane?Do not go 

fax  afield? 

1R, ROSENBERG: There was some talk that Blumenthal 

was to buy theatre tickets one of which was to be for 

this defendant. 

THE COURT: Well, if you think it is germane, go on . 

The District Attorney does not object. 

q What wan said about theatre tickets? A Blumenthal 

said that he had taken theatre tickets and that he would 

my husband with ticketa to the theatre. 

Q When was that, if you can recall? 

Bunday, he *as then to go to court. 

Q, When was he to go to court, the next day? 

Q That is, this case was on for trial the next day? 

Yes he told me that I should not cry, that my husband will 

r. THE COURT: Now, this is not under the stipulation" 

it in not objected 'to, but do not gb too far afield'. 

Q Mdd you bare, any, other talk,, and. if so when sad 'Where and 

who was present? . A He used to send for lie man,* timell 



• and talk 

During all the times .he sent for you what .did he sar 

to you" A The day he went to. the Grand Zury he told 

me not to go to my husband to wait downstairs; that m5r husband 

was coming down) and Mr. Blumenthal was waiting until four 

o'clock) wondering why my husband didn't come down. 

Where was Mr. Blumenthal waiting with you A 

Bisenberes store.. - 

Q Across the street from the Tombs? A Yew) across 

the street from the Tombs. 

Q, Was Eisenberg there at the time? A Yea. 

Did Mr. Blumenthal send any notes or letters to your 

husband while he was in the .Tomb? A Through me and through 

others he sent a lot of letters to him. 

What happened to the letters? A They were 'del 

received by your husband? A yes. 

Q Nowt do you remembler the day before Mr,.Blumenthel 

death, the day he died? A No, I don't Imo!! the.lay. 

Q Do you remember the time he died? A Yes: on Sunday. 

Q Were you sent for and if so by whom, on the Bundefi 



that Mr. Blumenthal died? A YeB:, Mr Blumenthal sent. 

Whom did he send, 

WitkInts foreman. 

Did you go in accordance with the reqUeSt made 

by Ititkints foreman and then meet Mr. Blumenthal? 

A Yes, I spoke to Mr. Blumenthal* 

Q And what did Blumenthal say to you at that timPt 

A Mt. Blumenthal told me that perhaps he could find  out 

the two men were, but as he couldn't find it out he says 

that my husband does not know anything about the two nen• 

la Go on, this is the last time that you ever spoke to 

Q Did Blumenthal tell you on the day of his death that 

ho was to apeaz in court the' next day to tell the truth about 

your husband? A He said the next day he wit, go to court, and 

as MY husband would surely be out of the trouble, that in the 



CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. PRESS: 

You did not call ,on Blumenthal and ask him to pull off' 

the prOsseUtisil in this case did y 

Is it not a fact that you were at Mienberg-s place. 

and that you had Eisenberg bring Blumenthal- there, and that in , 

his presence and in the presence of Witkin you asked him to 

cease the prosecution? . A NO. 

YOU ASYST did that? 

You never -suggested to Blumentha that your husband' 

wee Jima° ent7 • A lie himself told  me that he thought my husaf 

band was innocent, but that het thought through my husband h 

find out who the two 'men were. 

.And 131umenthal sent to you to tell you of your husband' 

and it WaS not you that went to him to ten. him Of 

his innocence? A I didn't call him• 

Q Isn't it a fact that on.the day of his death you cam 

up to the premises 13? Division street and called him out Or 

that -place and spoke to him? A No. 

Q, And isn't it a fact that fifteen minute* after, 

while you were there, he was shot? 

• 
. ROSEITBSIRG : I oba ec't as. incompetent,. mat 

and irrelevant and an attempt to i1ljeot, by. inuendo that. 

the crime e murder, which this defendant could in nOwise 



also as ,an attars t to •establish a separate and distinct of-

110„ it was several hours before that that -he 

me and I wea• there. 

And it was not  fifteen minutes before be was shot, that 

call him. 

cl And omit it a -fact that the day after he was shot ',yaw 

to be the day of the trial? A Yee. 

That is all. A The trial-waa about, I don't know. 

REDIMT-MAITINATION BY MB, ROSZNBVIG: 

On the Sunday that Blumenthal died, was that the time 

that you say that Witkinfa foreman sent for you? A Ifitkin!s 

foreman came to me and told me that I am wanted., 

Q Who did he say wanted you? 

MR• PRESS : I obj eat to any conyersati)m between 

Witkin's foreman and this witness as not binding. 

'Obj action sustained. ftceirtion 

Q Did you go to 137 DiTiE11021 street on the. døy.orBIu' 

manthal'sdeath, at the request of Mr Witkin 

objeot to that  She may 



she _went there n 0onsequence of' what he said. 

TH24 COURT: she May answer- yes 

on& that I shall sustain the objection. 

MR. PRESS: Very Well, your Honor. 

q.Yes or no? 

BY MR ROSRIIBMIG: 

Q Well, who asked you to go there that day? A Wjtkin 

Blumenthal? 

,1 submit, your Honor, that hags all been 

covered and I aid not cross examine her on those linsa. 

That was all brought out on direct examination. 

TIM pun: The question may be answered. 



Yoe. have been in jail .inoe Déob 13th? 

THB COURT: 

Ct.- Well, you have been in the Tomb0 

TRH COURT: No, no. What if he ha* been 

trying him here on the question of whether or not he is 

-guilty of this crime. 

UR. ROSENBMG-: But it has been brought out that  

there was a shooting here., and I want to shoW•where this 

man has been during that time. The jury are entitled to 

THE COURT: Well, slat your question relate to ho. 

date alleged. 

M. PRIM: If your 'Honor Please, I will concede 

that he was in the Tombs on the day that Blumenthal was; 

TE3 COURT: Very well. That concession is of record'. 

It is conceded that at the time of the alleged shooting of 

Blumenthal, sthe ocmplaining witness, the defendant was 



SS: 

TIM COURT: The question is objected to, the objeo 

tion is Esustained, the answer if any will be stricken 

Objected •to. 

ROSBNB3RG: Xxcaption4 

4, On December 9, .1911, do you understand me, on December. 

9, '1911, did you ask or demand from Louis Blumenthal ihe sum of 

000? A Xo, 

Q, Did yow on that -day, after a talk with Louje Blumen--

thal pay that you would blow his head off, yes or no? 

Q Did you or that day or any other time say that you  

would 'get his head yet, or words to that effect? A 

DU,' you have on that day or any other day, did you haTe 

Mr Blumenthal say to you "Go to hell"? 

Did Mr Blumenthal say that to you? 

On December 9, 1911, was Saturday, is thatright?. 

Where were you on the morning of December 9, 1911 

Delancey, corner of Forsyth. 
c/,

 
Rave you got any business 



.1 Show you a, photograph and ask you whether this pho-

tograph is a true liken eas of your-horse. and Wagon .whi4: you 

' then owned? 

TEE COURT Mr Rosenberg what are you seeking 

prove? 

. ROMBERG: I want to show this is the horse and 

wa:n he had, that is the horse and Wagon he went down to 

Blumenthal with.0 and the 4=7 can see that horse and Wagon 

and it will 'contradict one of the witnesses On a material 

R. PRESS: t is the material point? 

You will see it later on. 

MR . PRESS : I obj ect to the question on the ground 

—that it is incompt-fiteint, inimaterial and irrelevant. 

THE COURT: He says that you brought out some test 

PRESS: I have asked him, if your Honor Pleaie, 

if he will kindly tell me *hat the material point is. 

MR. ROMBERG: I will ten you.. Your witness Wj].-

eon swore that * Vituaky while he was getting on .the step 

of the Wagon, he turned his head around and said will blow 

your head. off". I want to show there is no such thing. as * 

$tep on that vs 



Well,.we -will take it v 

A Yds, that is my horse; and that is the wisgon 

Is that the wagon? 

IA that the same wagon that you had on  

Yen, sir* 

NB.PitSS: No obj action. 

(Marked Defendant's Exhibit A in evident e.) 

Ilan that wagon any step? 

TiR COURT: If you have a photograpb the jury Can 

There is no steps on that Wagon. 

Well, has that wagon a step on? 

on the wagon? A jump i 

TH COURT: I think you have enough on that point: 

Itow long have you .been an expressman? A 813c y ear s 

Did you at any time make a deraand upon Louis Bluman-

thal for any money? A No. 

Q Did you at any time, say to Louis Blumenthal that 

would blow his head. off or any words to that effect? 

sir, I never used any language like that. 

• Q, Did you ever. say that to him? 

Were you at Blumenthalt'a plies on December 9th 



yea- or _ t .Understand that. 
- 

Were you , at Blumenthal S shop of DC:toe:tabor 9th, 1911? • 

donl't understand that question. 

(question Topcoats& through the stenographer.) 

C Will you please state the circumstances leading up to 

your going to Blumenthal's place on December 9th, 1911? 

was standing on the corner of Forsyth near Delon.. 

•I was stand-

tug with the Wagon at Forsyth near Delancey, near my wagon,  and 

two men were coming over. They ,asked me if I am the base of the 

wagon and I say yes. After they said. "Do you know that man 

Louie,' he is a horseshoer?" This name, I say "I know Louis • 

very good." I say, "I like him:" They Aid "How do you know 

him?" • I said. "He was making my work, I was shoeing Some horees 

-by 'that- man." They said to me--there was coming o-ver another 

expreieman, he would send him over to me, an expressman to ask 

me did I know Louis, and I say "I know Louis very good." He 

said "How much you are going to charge to go over near Rutgers 

Slip," that is from Forsyth near Delancey, about ten -blocks or 

more. I say "You know how much it is worth to go up so  

He said "/ will give you a dollar to go over from Forsyth, to 

go over to Rutgers Slip to Louis, to the shop." I say "What 

is it what kind of job is that?" He said "It is a Job *0t 

oier, me going along with you." I just was going Vivi, and he 



fight to tell him to stop the fight and they just was going 

over to the shop. Near the shop I was standing with my wagon, 

and. my brother also sitting on the wagon toot he was working 

for me. He said to me "Hello 
stria "You 
know why was doming over, to 

Charley" and I said "Hello 

"what is it, 'to Shoe a horse?" I said "No, you aee.-those two 

gentlemen standing on the corner, they sent me over to you to 

Stop the tight," and. I say "They asked me "Do you know the 

I don't know them, I. say, "Maybe you know the 

---he.had last week or last night and he said "The hell with. the 

I was going away back to tell the fellows, the fellows right• at 

the corner, and he said "The hell with them,'" that's allt_. 

that's the only word's.. 

Is that all that took place? 

CZ Did you know that any one was demanding anymoney 

ntbal? A I don't know that. 2.1. I know anything, 

Would lock up. the fellows myself I navar heard things like 



How. much did you get for going over there? A A dollar. 

Was it in the night time or daytime when you spoke to. 

A That was in the daytime, just in the afternoon-. 

Q, Did you at any time while you were talking to Blumen-

thal demand of him 4500? Did you BO at any time that you 

wanted 'five hundred? A No, I didn't talk to him about 500,. 

tz Did ybu say it to him? A No., 

Did you at that time or any other time while getting 

your wagon before driving off say that you would blow his head 

Or any words to that effect? 

Or that you would get his head soon? A No. 

Did you tell the policeman, Murphy, when he arrested 

you A (Interrupting:) I told Policeman Murphy the same 

time he was coming over and locked me up, he said "I just lock. 

you up for suspicion for a bomb.n 



just coming over. from the stable it was half .patOTenin the 

morning, 'just was coming over from the stable and covered the 

and just was asking the other expressman about a job, 

and: the policeman Wine and looked me up. I asked, him "Why  37:0 

1,0ak me up?" He Said "I lock you up for"Sitspicion for throw- . 

ins a bomb." 



•• Murphy*. he told him,he said VSee Vim* fellows that sent me 

Over Saturday ',bhat.Was: asking for that same- name Saturday* 

vroat didr41 t. you ,4-eu Murphy that -yousavt.Blunenthal: on 

.SatUrdayy, that two Men sent you there? A Yestalt. 

•4 You are 'sure of that? A 'tete • 
And that you told Mr. Murphy that you were .there? 

X asked Mr. Murphy to. take my wagon along near the ?olice 

tion, I said I don't got anybody  to leave the Wagon alone 

°ant t trUst. the herself' and he says "You tell 'another man to 

watch your hose. 

Did Mr. Murphy ask you or tell you, going to the station' 

house* or any other time, that he was arresting you for demand-, 

ng $50., or for extortion? A NO, he make me,.that 

Did Mr. Murphy tell you at that time, or any other 

time, that he was arresting you because you thratened to blow 

Bluraenthalf is head off? A No. 

So the only statement made about the arrest waa that 

you were arrested on suspicion, in connection with the throwing 

Do you know whether Mr. Murphy and. Mr Blument 

ItieUteisant in charge at the Vadisea Street station, 

they arrested you, or you were arrested or throw 



(Question repeated-thro gh the interpreter) .At the 

police station did you bear Lieutenant. Murphy make a charge 

against you that you were arrested for suspicion in connection 

with the throwing of a bomb/ A I did not hear what was going 

I was in another room there. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. VRESS: 

4. (In ,English) And if ffioer Murphy says that be told 

rou that you were. being arrested 

• mil. ROMMERG (Interrupting) NOW 

MR. PRESS: If your Honor please, 1 ask that counsel 

be directelt to, take ris seat, I am about to troisa‘examine. 

TUB COURT: Yes, do that, 

MR. ROSTEBERG: Then do not answer until I Oject• 

If Officer Murphy says hetold you that he -was arreottog 

you for haying demanded OM- of Blumenthal, or you,would 

ii head off, he is stating what is not true? 

THE COURT: Mr. District Attorney, I do not think 

properly you oan ask 'this witness to characterise testimony. 



just say]  lOok.you.up just for sitspicion for throwing a bomb/. 

He 'didn't mote me anything about money/ 

,4 (In English) And -that was all the officer said to you? 

A Yes/ 
Said 

And everything else he was -Pure invention en his part?. 
• r 

MR. BOSENBEAG: Objected to. 

THE COURT: Objection sustained. Do not. characterize 

or call upon the witness to characterize/ 

You had no quarrel with Blumenthal, had you? A I don't 

know what that is. 

(question repeated through the interpreter) d you erfilq-

any fight with 'Blumenthal? A No. 

Were you intimate with him? A Yeo, I was well acquainted 

with him beoaUse he did the work for me, 

4 And he was quite friendly with y4'ou? A /to. 

4 Have you ever bad any quarrel with Inlson$ who 

A .Not _I had no fight with Wilson. 

q Had you ever any fight or quarrel with Cohen, who was 

here a witness? A I don't know him at all/ 



nests on behalf of the ,defeendant, testified as fellows; 

(Residence 20? BEL t Broadway) 

DIRECT BICAMINATION BY MR. ROSENWG: 

Mr. ?titian, what is your father's name? 

Q And he keeps a stable at 13'7 Division street? A 

Do you.know the defendant has been trying to serve your 

father with a subpoena for the last. four days, do you know that? 

You don't know that? A No, sir. 

as your father home for the last four days? Yes sir. 

Did you see Mrs. yitusky around your place  for the last 

four days trying to serve your father with a subpoena'? k No s 

I have not seen Mrs. Vitusky. 

Q •Did you see the brother of Vitusky trying to serve a 

subpoena on your father? A I know one served me, that's all -Z 

Didn't you say that your father was in Iforrietown at a 

sale? A No, sir, my father is in the city of New York. 

Where is he now? A He is home, 3.35 & 137 Division street. 

Has he been home all the time? A Yesteiro 

GI Didn't you say in the presence of Officer Murphy,. that 

you wished that your father would not be served With a Subpoeina 

in this sap 



And didn't you say that we •could not get yoiii father to 

serve with a subpoena? A I did not say that. 

q What did you say about that? A I didn't say anything 

about that. 

q Bathing of that kind? A I said there was somdbody. 

around l'oqing for my father, trying to sorra him with a subpoena. 

q That somebody couldn't find your father? A My mother 

was telling me that, but I didn't see the party. 
V 

V 

Well, your mother 

what his mother iaid. 

Now, Mr. Witkin, do you remember the day of the death 

Q What is the name of your foreman? A Max:Tonkin. 

q lia4e you, present When Max Yankin, your foreman, was row 

quested to call Mts. Vitusky? A No, air.' 

Q Mid you see MX*. Vitusky at your father' i stable on 

that Sunday? A No, sir, I had not seen her. 

Q its she theis? A No, sir, I have not aim her. 

Did you sec Blumenthal at your father's stable? 



A No,  sir... 

Are you "sure of that? A Yes, sir. 

_4, "Il'as Mr. Steenberg at your father's etable, on  the -day 

the death of lir. *Blumenthal? A Yea, sir. 

Don't you know that Mrs4 bititusky was sent for? 

sir, I was at that time on the. road. 

You were not home then, were you? A Th, air, I come 

back about eight or tell minutes before seven, fore Blinten 

'01.81 s death. 

Did you ever see Mrs. Vitusky talkihg with LOUIS Blu*Onet. 

thal? A Yes, 

How often? A / seen him once. 

?there? A At my office. 

On, Division street? A Yes. 

las your father present? A No, sir. 

14; Was any one present? A No, sir, I was the only one.. 

Vine r was answering the phone, Mrs. Vitusky came Jac the of 

flee, and while I was talking with her, after she Came 114 4t 

tlumenthal come in behind her, come walking inihe office. 

I got .done, talking over the phone, .I seen Mrs. Vitusky aryl)* 

to Mr.. Blumenthal, I went Outside after I got through With the  

phone to see the wagons and horses, end I lit M. Blumenthal laid. 

Mrs. Vitusky inthoffice. 



be that before the indiotritent-or after the indictMest, 

it you know? A No„ I don't knoW. 

Yell, was it in tixe early putt of anuary of this 'ear? 

The early part of J'an:usx7,--

Did you see Mrs. Vitutiky With. up. Blumenthal. in _your 

father's stable at any time after that? A No., sir I have no 

Are you sure of that? A Yes-, girl positive. 

Did you ever talk with Blumenthal on the subj sot 

Are  you sure of that? A Yeo,_eir. 

4. Did your father ever talk with Blumenthal about the 

subject of this case, in your presence? A 1 don't know', not 

And your father arid Blumenthal were pretty good friends*, 

weren't they? A Pretty good friends; They went a* together, 

every night -and every day as much as they could. 4$ Soofl 81 

he left business, he come down to my father's place,. if he was. 

going to a matinee or at night to a show, and tlwr breakfasted 

every morning between 8 and 9 o'clock.. x daretknow,. I never 



q, All o tkem togetler? A Yee 

Blumenthal and Eisenberg and Your father 

.friends? 

It Did you ever see Blumenthal in Eisenberg' 

Centre street with Mrs. VituskY? 

Q Did you over see Mr. Blumenthal and Mra. 

Eisenberg's pace since t he indictment? A No 

go atm to Eisenbergts place. 

q Was your father*. to your knowledge over in seberg 

place? A Not while I was zit pzesent . Maybe he was d.own 

there at a time am way, I don't know. 

EXAMINATION. BY. MR.. PRESS: 

1Z, The only one occasion that yoU can .remember seeing 

Vit.uaky talking to Blumenthal was on one occasion in 

your office at 137 Division street? 

That Was the day you said that Mr. Blumenthal 

into your office and immediately after Mrs. \Tit uskey came. in,  

q But he came first, Blumenthal? A I rely doet 

remember. I guess she come in first, while I ava 

cute in? A The\h Blumenthal 'back 



And you saw Mrs Vituaky crying to Mr. Blumenthal? 

A To Mr. Blumenthal.. I heard no converiiatibn.- I Mitt tie 

door and I went out on the IJDor. 

RRm.DIRECT ECAMINATION BY 'MR. ROSENBERG: 

ct How long were they together in that room? A. r don i-

remember, because heft the fie or, I went to breakfasts 

it Have you any idea how long they were together?, .A.Nostir 

air, I was away about three-quart era of an hour and they were 

not there, and he went away with xn,y ittth,er for breakfast 4. 
- 

L 

ISAAC EISENBERG, °ailed and duly sworn aS 

witness on behalf of t h9 defendant, testified as follors:V 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY ma. ROSENBERG: 

(Resilience, 42 Norfolk street). 

Mr. Eisenberg, you knew Louis Blumenthal in his •life 

CI, And you know Mr. Witkin? A Yes, sir. 

(), Did You ever, have occasion to have Mr. Blumenthal in 

street, opposite the City Prison. 

ft Did you ever have occasion to see Mr. Louis Blumenthal 

there in.conyersation with Mrs., Vitusky? A Yea air 



„ - 
A Tv Mr. Blumenthal.. I heard no conversation., / ahlth t 

door and I went out on the floor.. 

remember, because 'left the floor*, I went to, breakfaAt. 

CL 'Rave you any idea how long they were together? A ifot, 

sir, I was away about three-quarters of an hour and they: were 

not there, and he, went away with my ,father for breakie;s4 

ISAAC BISENBERO, called and-duly wwwft'as a 

witness on behalf of t he defendant testified: as Warms: 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY 'MR, •ROSENBERG: 

(Re si deuce; 42 Norfolkstreet). 

it Mr. Eisenberg, you knew Louis Blumenthal in his 

Q Where is your place of business? A 100 Centre 

reet opposite the City Prison. 

I Did you ever have occasion to _see-Mr Louis Biument 



4. Row often al id you See Mr. Blumenthal in your office, 

n your place, in conTereaVion with Mrs. \Titulary? A•X seen 

him in with her about threeor four times, in my place, 

4, Wasn't it more than that? A Z don't t hink so 

.4 On ontilif those -oceaeions  can you tic the time by 

the indietment in this case was it on the day 

rupt ing ) The day ot t indictment, the both o t hem 

t o my st ore, 

q That is the dazr t hat Mr ,--Blumenthal went befor 

Grand Zury? 

q Did Mr, Blumenthal tell you he was goingbefore the 

Grand Tury on that day? 

q Did he tell Mrs. Blumenthal or Mrs•* Vitusky VC wait 

14 How long did She ,it in your store On that day? 

About three or four o c look 

Q, Three or.four o'clock in try. afternoon? A Tee; 

Q What time did she get there in the morning? A I got. 

there at nine oto4.00k and I._found her in my store. X don't 

get dovm to my plce of business until nine or -halt padt nine; 

and I found her in my place already. -

Q, She was there When you got there in the morning? 

Yeas I came with Mr. Blumenthal.' We all bad breakraet to-

gethir and  we cam dovint own. 



Q. And did Mr • Blumenthal have a teak with her 'before he 

went before the Grand-Zur3r? A They had a talk together. 

Did he, yea or no? A Yeg 

And alter, s did Mr. Blumenthal te'll you that he had been 

to the Gnand :Ivry room? A. Teal 

tit And did you afterwards see or hear Mr,: 131ument hal talk 

with Mrs. Vitufacyt A Yea, sir* 

After he came frau the ‘Grand :ury room? Yea, 

What time was I t hegot. back from the Grand :ury rocd341 

according to what he  said? A I1i Past twelVe or one 

place that afternoon?0 A. Yea, sir. 

ci Did Mr. Blumenthal ever send any letter or- note :to M1. 

whiae in the Tombs, . if A 1* told my 
exadtay 

daughter to write once a note or twice, I couldnft/remeMber 

ing he could not 'read toz-. write. 

Biumehtal did that? A Yee. 

ill Do you remember over seeing Mrs Vittisky in th corn,» 

pany of SluMenthal are, place .other than at your store? Ngt 

sir, except , up in Division st root stable. 

4, That is. Witkin • st able 

% ow many tim you sea .tra Vitualty in the company 

of 41umenthaI at Witkints stable 4. Soon her that -Sunday 

morning, on that dar on the 4th or Yr* Blitmenthal she rote 
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there :in the mornings at ten or eleven 0,1Ook. 

Etc, Do you know w10 eetit for her? A X 0.04.3„div I 'tell you 

Werent you there %Oman the foreman of Vitkin sent Tor 

sent for her .or not* I seen her speaking to the foreman. 

You saw Mrs. Vituksy speaking with the foretan 

ifit.kinte stable? .A Outeide tbe t4b.30.. 

it Do you know how the foreman,, Witkin'ts tozeman 'happened 

to be speaking with 'Mrs. Vitusky? A I couldnft tell you. 

Weren't you there :when the foreman. ieft the stable?. 

A yeas sir, I was there. He went out side and he spe)ke"t o 

• But weren.it you there in WitkintEs stable with 

Louis Blumenthal a Ad Mr. Witkin, Sr.? 

Q, Before the 'foreman left the place? A 110, sir, Mrs. 

Vitusky came there before Mr. Blumenthal ever -reache d the 

office, in the morning. She had been waiting there for 

about fitteei minutes and t han Mr. Blumenthal Game in and 

I walked right. out of the office. 

I walked right out of the office. 

Did you hear what Blumenthal 

What de Blizinenthal say to he 
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'heed not worry., heSaye, go holy'e*. when the case will come up 

704.11 tniy best toi get him. out,' 

.Art  you sure of that? .A YeS, sir.  

q o death? ,
 

That was on ' Ori the daythe morn 

ingt, 

4 The morning of his death? A yes, 

q The .Morning of t1  day of his. death/ A Yea. 

And his case. was On for the following Monday? A 'Yds.,: 

sir, 

4 Is that right? A Yes sir,. 

ci Was that the last time you saw Mrs, Vitutsky talking 

with Blumenthal? A No, sir. I saw her on the night about 

half an hour or twenty Minutes before he died',. 

Was that the occasion when Mr. Witkints r roman went 

for  Mrs, Vitlisky? A I dontt know. 

4 Was Witkin there? A Yes, sir. 

q And youvere there'? A Yes, sir, 

And Blumenthal was t here? A Yes, ir • 

q Was the foreman there'? A I didn't seeh.im. 

q Didn't '79ur talk with BuenthA Vroi.t in the foreman go-i. 

ing out and dallina Mrs. Vitus? A Not as I know ot. They 

had a coriTers at i 021 out aide in the street 

4 Who? A Mr, Blumenthal and Mrs. Vitusky, auhatever her 

name is, and X heard her crying and them, was a big crowd of 

n the street, , opened the acor and I, 14 NI** Blum- . 

MUM 



169 

• enthal to some in' the offic et b&t he multi ,be *shamed of 

himself to have an argument on the street and ha came in the 

efface -and about half an hour later 

TrOlerr LTA ing) ,Idd you hear the argument? 

Wait a moment. 'Jet him finish. 

THE COUM: Go on. 

(Continuing) inuing ) Half an hour later, 

more., / clouldnft say, I ms sitting just towards the mindov,v 

And the fe llow come in and shot 

A fellow came in and Shot him? A Yea. a little 

defe n dutt in the 

It is conceded that  at the time of the tooting 

the defendant was in the T ombs 

Did ,.yo  hear the 14 alk between 'ATI^. Blumenthal and-Hrs. 

vitusiczy then you mile dhim in? A She had b ,-en crying, 

outsideThat's all Iheard o2 it. I couldn't stand  and listen 

to her crying, There was a lot of people outside) but elm 

walkedEGET aar and he come into t he offi ce . He was sitt ing just 

on one side of the e.ow window -and I %sus sitting on the Other 



do yOu know 'of. your own knowledge ,heW she 

in the morning and he told her to 'be down to night. 

buggy riding with him that day. 

BY MR,,. ROMNISERG: 

• (4, Are you sure of that? A Yes sir. 

Do you  know whether Mr. Blumenthal told the foreman of 

the istable to call Mrs. Vitusky in the evening? .A / don't 

Did you hear, do you know what Mrs. VitUsky said to 

Blumenthal on that evening? A Outside in the street? 

Q. yes,- A No, sir, she was crying, that's all I 

q Do you know what M. Blumentah1 said to her that even-

ct Did you hear_the a onversation? 

Q, Did Blumenthal tell you what was said? A 



Did: Blument1aa1 tell Mr. Iritkin what was 

then he came back from the street he was 

Q Do you remember the purchase of four theatre tickets 

or a Tiddieh theatre? A Ire telephoned --

TIM COURT: sow, what do you want to prove by that 

• What is the incident you want to prove? 

Ifla•. ROSENBERG: 

that the defendant was to be one of the 

stand it is disputed. 

124 ROSENBERG: Very well, that 

(No cross examination) 

called and duly swoin as a wit-

ness on behalf of the defendant, testified as follows: 

Residence 71 Ridge street. 

DIRECT EXAKINATION BY 10.. ROSANIMG: 

What is your business? A Expressman. 

Do you know Charles Vitusky7 A Yes. 

Do you remember when Charlie was arrested., the defend-

ant  arrested (repeated through the interpreter)? A It 



:Q •D* yeu remembe r the Saturday before the defendant wá$ 

arrested? A'. Yes.. 

Do you remember seeing two men and ;thane men: efadttg 

you for Louis Blumenthal' A .1* 

Q Was that in the morning or afternoon.? A In the. 

afternoon. 

9i Are you su so! that? A• Yea. 

4 What time :was it? - A About one or two o 

4

 

Are you oUre of the tin& A Yes., 

'4 What did -those-  two men aSk of you?' 

N1t. PRESS:, I object'. to that: 

M14. ROSB1RG: It will .be contetted, your go4or. 

' MR. PRESS' I object  to this testimony now, 

TM COURT: We will , take it subj act to tho 'premise' 

to connect. 

A . They asked me "Do you know where Louis, theblackemith 

Iniyee?n• I said, "I don't know.' Re went to Vituoky and 

asked him "Do you know where Louie the blaoksmith lives?" 

ti Who do you mean bY Virtusky? A The defendant* I 

thought it was a job, and then I went on and I wanted to lis-

t en. 

Come right down, what did you do with those two men? 

A I said "I don't know" and they went away and. went to this 

defendant 

142 What did they 4o with his defendant, at 4,id they 



• .MR, PRESgt I object 

• COVRT: stiike it out. 

ontinuing) They told the defend= 

to bring ,us to Louis, the blacksmith to stop the fight 

To ,bring him, or to go to Louis the blacksmith? 

A To bring him there, to go there. 

Q. What did, the defendant do? A He went (In to the 

and rode With them there) that 's all I know* 

T1 COU}tT: Vow, that is all, is it not 

MR. RO SMBERG: That is ell. 

MR. PRESS: That is all. 

JACOB VITUSKY, called and .duly sworn as 

on behalf of the defendant, testified as follows: 

Residence 312 Henry street. 

DIRECT EXAMINATION By HR. ROSENBERG: 

Q, Are you a brother of the defendant? A Tee, 

Q, Is the defendant your brother? A Yes, sir. 

•(1 What do you do for a living? A 1 work by him. 

You work with your brother? A Yee. 

•TBE COURT: Now, get down to the facte 

Do you remember the Saturday before your brother. was 



asking whether he knew 'Louis the blacksmith? A Y 

A Ar.e You surd of that?.. Yes_, sir. 

ra who brought those two men to your brother, the defend"
+ 

. ant? A Thie Morris Richman. 

Are you sure of that? A Yea, air. 

What did these two men ask, your brother to do 

defendant?_ -44-They-asked him if he -knows Louis the blacksmith 

from Rutgers Slip. So he said yes, then one said "Do. you  wan 

to make a .ittle ,job, I will give you a -dollar to ride over 

and tell Louie that he should stop the fight." So he asked 

"What fight?" And they said "Be knows what fight already, 

he rode over, come over there and called over Louis and said, 

told- Louis that "TOro men sent me ojr,er to tell you that you 

should stop the fight, you know what fight already." 

Q, ;What did Louis. say? A He says "Leave them g0 to hell" 

Then he went away. 

Ct Are you sure of that? A. Yes, sir. 

Did you hear your brother at that time ask Louis for 

$500? A No, sir. 

Q, Did he ask for $500? A No, sir. 

Q bid he say "That unless you give me $500 I will blow• 

your head off*? A No, sir. 

Q. What time of day was that, have y u any idea? A It 

was just around dinner time or after that 

f you don't know, say so. That ±S yourr00., 



In the early. afternoon? 

Was it? 

q

 

Were you on the wagon? A Yea, a 

THE COURT: iTow, is there any other fact you want 

from tbls witness? 

Q Have you seen Mr. Blumenthal since the arrest of youi 

brother? A No, sir. 

Have you tried to subpoena Mr. Vltkin? A Yes, 

How often have you been to his home within tbg past 

veer A I have been there three times trying to serve him, 

and his wife didn't leave 'mein. She says be wasn't in. 

4 Did You serve a subpoena on the se-n, Witkin'e son? 

4 Where did you go to serve the father, Mr. Witkin? 

A In the house and in the office, in the stable. 

Q Are you sute of that? A Yes. 

4 That time of day did you go looking for him? A I 

vent in the morning and in the night and I couldn't find:him. 

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MIL PhESS: 

You were under the cover in the wagon at the time 

conversation took place between your brother and the -cosi-



the seat in fron 

Q You did not see Wilson or Cohen there 

ct That is- all. 

RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSENBERG: 

4, You do not know Wilson or Cohen., you? A No. 

BY /EL PRESS: 

Did you see them on the witness stand here? 

Mil PRESS: (Calling) Wilson and Cohen, 'stand 

please. 

Did you see those tWo.men there (indicating 

sir. 

Q That is all. 

BY MR. ROSENBERG: 

Q Now, the picture which has been offered in evidence, 
that a good picture of the horse and wagon? A Yes, sir. 

TIIE COURT: Now, you have proved that once. 
MR. ROSMTBERG: Your Honor, I would like to have an, 

adjournment now. 
TIM COURT: I want this case closed. 
MR. ROSENBERG: I wo$14 7•like - to get Witkints foreman 

here. 
TIE COURT: Where is your proof of service of sub-

poena? 
LS. ROSENBERG: I have served it. 
nrs COURT: Then proceed with your witnesses. 
MR. ROMBERG: I would like to have an adjouramen 

the purpose of subpoenaing Mr.Witkin,Sr. 
THE COURT: What is he going to prove? 
MR. ROMBERG: Your Honor, I am advised that he will 

be able to prove th.at lir.Louis Blumenthal admitted to him 
the falsity of his testimony in the Magietratets Court; 
that he 'testified before the Grand Jury )similar to that 
which Eisenberg gave. 

TIM COURT: How long will it take you to get him bore! 
lat ROSENBIRG: I have been unable to get his. His 



BR* ROSLITBRRG: We13,1 With that e xcept ion, your Hon 

or I have no other witnesies* 

THZ COURT; And the only point you want to inquire 

orhim concerning is, as to the falsity of the testimon 

of Blumenthal? 

.T COURT: I only wazted to know the Point 

with that exception your case is closed? 

BR, ROSENRERG! Yes, sir. 

THE COURT: Very well, then I will adjourn 'here 

with the understanding that no further testimony is :t9 

MR. ROSN.3ERG Yes,- except in_g_ the foreman 

THE. COURT: No, we must try cases expeditiously* 

MR. ROSENBERG: Well, of course if your -Honor will 

not let me produce the foreman on Monday I will -have .to be 

'TEE COURT: What do you vault to pro 



TB OQUJ: WeU, there Is no dispute about that 

is there? 

M. PAWS As .1 understand the testimony that.;is 

.Blumenthal said .t o her on. Sunday torningt it that is tb 

day he was  Shot that he said to heri. oCome here in the 

evening."  

T1 COURT: And She -0ame there 10 rtS quetition about. 

that, 'What is the diOerence who brought her there 1.1 

she was there? 

might be able to oover. 

came there, and whether sb.e 

went in a taxicab or afoot is quite immater 

ROSENBMG: Weill that is all I intended. 

Then we will not hear that testimony, 

becauSe its relevancy and materialit 

ROMIBMG. Then the District Attorney 17113. not be 

permitted in surnning up to say N'Why did not we produce. 

COU.11E: Well, if he doss, there 

that r gent lemen. 

110WINZRG: Then with that utidar 

try and get 14* Witkin here 

now, Mr. Di strict Att crnsz., you have 



rebuttal at thin time? 

MR MSS: At the Moment have not, your Honor. 

(The Court thereupon ,a4zinniahed the jury in accoid.. 

ance with Sectim 415 of the Code of Criminal Procedure, 

and a di ourned the further trial or the eaae until Monday„ 

Yettruary 19„, 1912, at 10:30 otclock AsIT.) 



THE COURT: Vr0000d. 

MR. ROSENBERG: Your Honor, I offer in evidence 

the following questions and answers given by the 

witness Wilson concerning which / particularly interrom 

gated Wilson. Mr. Press does not object upon the ground 

that these are not the minutes, your Honor, but he bee some 

other objecktion. I examined Wilson particularly about the 

three questions which I offer in evidence. 

object, if your Honor please, On the 

ground that the three questions are not complete of them" 

selves, the two questions that follow explain the answer* 

to the three that he introduced in evidence. Ma order . 

to be perfectly fair in the matter I am Willing to comma 

that the entire testimony go in. 

THE COURT:. Very well, by consent take- the 

MR. ROSENBERG: Well, I object to the entiretee-

I have examined this witness Wilson 

THE COURT: (Interposing) Well, if you gentian= 

will get together I think you may agree. 

MR. P1,1385: I consent to it being received tf ths 

two following questions be put in. 



Very well then 

the three Ytu desire and let the 

4 Are you sure of that? 

4 Were you with Mr. Cohen at the time? ,ANo 

Q Where was COhts at that time? A I dontt,• 

q You did not see him/ A• Zeawhimaroud 

there but where he was I could not say.• 

Q Was he in that stable that morning? 

he brought down dinner to him. 

Q He was in the stable when you went outside? 

Q When Blumenthal was outside Cohen was out 

outside Cohen was inside?* 



The defendant and Blumenthal were on the opposite 

sides of the street there about half a block away? 

HARRtS W IT K I Ifs called. and duly eworn as a

ness on behalf of the defenses testified, as follows: 

.Residence 207 Bast Broadway, 

DIRECT 3MAMIXA21011433Y MR. ROSBNURGi. 

What is Your businets? A Livery 'business, 

Your place of business ron Division street 44 what 

'number? A 135 And 137. 

4 Division street, Manhattan? A Yes, 

tz Did you know Louis Blumenthal in h.is lifetime? 

A Yes, air. 

• Q .Were you a good. friend of his? A Yes, sir* 

Q Do you recall when Blumenthal was about to 

Grand Tury in this particular case? A Yea 

And. 0 before the indictment? A Yes.  

Q Did you have a talk with Blumenthal/ A :Fssi 

Will you please talk up so the last gentleman can 

hear you? A Yes sir • 

4 Did you have such, a talk? 

What did Ur, '331umenthal tell you he intended. saying in 



UR PRESS:I object to any conversation between 

umenthal and this witness. 

THE COURT:" Objection sUstained 

ROSENBERG I took the adjournment for the 

purpose of producing this "iitnesso 

MIL PRESS: That is quite true,. and the reason r 
-Object is that Mr. Reseaerg knows perfectly well that I. 

cannot rebut it because anything that transpired in the, 

Grand Zury roam is secret. 

THE COURT: This as calling for hearsay evidence 

and is objectionable. On what theory 40 you offer 

MR. ROSTBERG: In the find; place, the Diatrict, 

Attorney consented laat Friday to give evidence on this 

subject and / made a stipulation in open court 'againet 

my own intereste, in which I consented that Mt. WO could 

produce the District Attorney, or the Grand Airy minutes 

if necessary to contradict what we intended to, prove, 

and,tW was ea stipulation made in open court, and, it was 

on that understanding that we got in the evidence the. 

other day concerning testimony given by Blumenthal, allege* 

to have been given byBlumenthal in the Grand Zury roan,. 

what he 'told Mrs. Vltusky and what he told Mr. Eisenberg. 

THE COURT: Is there any stipulation whbrebY tt 



beCOMee competent to receive this .evidence? 

MSS: Your HonOro I said here in court that X' 

would not object to it? We could Call 1.16 this -being 

collateral matter, call,the District Attorney to contradict, 

Tour Honor held that it was improper evidence 

then, since Mr. Rosenberg insisted upon opening the door 

wide, your Honor held that that being the case you would 

allow, u to I'ebut it. Since that time I have gone 

into the matter very fully, and / find that I cannot pro* 

duce the District Attorney, because if I put the gentleman 

on the ,stand here, he will be guilty of a crime if he 

tells what transpired in the Grand Jury room. 

lABS ROSENBERG: The Court may of its own Mbtion 

have the- minutes or the Grand Jury here. 

THE COURT: Oh yes, I may give you 

Mr. District Attorney, and if you desire permission to 

produce in evidence the testimony given by this deceased 

witness before the Grand Jury, it being consented to 

by defendant's attorney, you may have the Court's per.

if that clears up the difficulty. . 

MR. ROSENBGER: May I not say, your Honor 

THZ-NURT: f Wait a moment, you understand, Mr, 

MR PRESS: Yes, your Honor. 



as to whether I Can get ..th 

Grand Airy minutes, that is a question. X cannot gat 

• •them just now. 

TES COURT: ,It is proper 

to Use them on concerti* 

3a* PRNEM: lirel1i X have no objection. 

THB COURT: "ell by consent. that question is  

received. 

Maat question repeated by the s 

he would not go againat hirra. 

Q X did not hear that,? 

against him. 

:Kr THE COURT: 

He oars he not 

that theee gentlemen 

He said he would not 

q he tell you That?(Interrupting) Noosir. 

you want the -jitry. to understand that the only words ' 



sky in the Grand 'jury tooth, is that allhe SAW' 

MISS X object to the form of the  question. 

,The jury understands exactly what teetitony is being given _ 

here. _ He Bays -I, Do you want the jury to understandila. 

mrE COURT: 1. sustain the objection- as to form... 

Q Was there any other talk between 131ctmlenthal and irqu 
as to what he vas going to say in the Grand Jury roam? A 

sir, he didnut tell me. 

14, Did you ask him what he wa0 go ing to say? A 

Do you remeMber fhe day, the cae0 was on before .the 

Grand Jury, don't you remember that, A I know he mem a 

good many times before the Grand Jury. 

(1 I know, but didn't he tell you he had an argument with 

the District Attorney because he would not swear to. what was 

Nothing of the kind, he did not 

Q Did you talk to him on that _subject? A No, s 

Did Blumenthal tell you that on the day :he went before 
II 

Grand Jury, that Uri. Vitueky was waiting at Moen:1004g ' 



Do you relliember the day that 11.r. Blumenthal died? 

Q , Do you remember Blumenthal sending your foreman who is 

q (Continuing .to bring Mrs. VltuSky to him? 

Q Didn't your foreman tells • 

.me nothing.. 

Q Is your foreman in court? 

q Don't you remember that Blumenthal did send for  

VituOky the day he died? -A Not as I know Of

to as alreedy anOweredlo 

THE COURT: it is answered already. Do not iepeat 

withh4a subpoena in this 

the objection to the quest 

Do you know that the subpoena* or that the defendant. 



_CROSS IMAM/NAT/ON BY MR. PR 83: 

Q Did. u ever see me before tosday? A See who? 

4 Me A . 10,0 

R. ROSUBERG: Your 'Honor, may I call the foreman., 

.for one question? 

THE COURT.: Let me hear your question. 

MR. ROSENtERG: The question, is *Did LOuis, Blumenthal. 

On the Sunday of the day of tha death of Louitt•Bltmenthal. 

send you for Mrs. Vitusky and 4 id you bring her?*, 

THE COURT: silk that one queStion. 

M AX YENXI N„ called and duly sworn as a witneSS-

on. behalf of the defendant, testified as follows: 

Residence 179 East Broadway, 

DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. ROSENBERG: 

MR, ROSENBIIRG: Will the stenographer repeat my 

question as I just stated it to the Court? 

(question repeated by stenographer.) 

MR. ROMBERG: Your Honor, I want to rn 

-motions with respect to certain ervi4enc. whi 

this Case tO strike it out. 



out.  that part o the testimony. Of Eisenberg, wherein he 

volunteered the statement that Isbuil; Blumenthal was 

shot • That did not come from any question which X brought, 

out but was a volunteered statement and while be  was 

Making that statement I arose and attempted to object) 

when the District Attorney) I believe Or your 'Honor 

asked me- not to object while he was 

I cannot oonceiVe of my, having made a 

ruling of that sort. 

MR. ROSEJtBERG: I arose while he was testifying. 

THE COURT: The time to, object is the time the testi-

mony goes in. , If I told you not to then it is xn7 fault, 

but I do not think I did. Mr. District Attorney,  what 

do you say about 

I object to anything being a 

from the record. 

THE COUB?: Well, you have some evidence 

that this man Blwnenthal was shot/ 



not .prejudice the facto of the: (mop 04 proved.* 

ur Honor please, the 'question. X 

this eXaMination by Er .4oeenber preaume is this 

(Reading) 

Did not your talicwith Blumenthal result in 

fOreman going out and calling Mrs. VituOky? 

awX . know of. They ha a a conversation oUtside in th* 

A Mr. Blumenthal and Yrs. Vitusky„ what. 

ever her name is, and I heard her crying and there was b 

crowd of people on the street. I opened the door an 

I told Mr Blumenthal to come in theofficel that he 

Should be ashamed of himself to have an argument an the 

• streets and he came in the office and about half an hour 

later 

4 (Interrupting) Did you her the argument? 

MR. MOSS: Walt .a moment. Lot him 'finib 

(Continuing) Half an hour later, it might 'be ten 

minutes more, I couldn't say, I was sitting just toward* 

the -window and the fellow came in and -Shot 10311,01 

MR. PRESS: There was no objection interposed a 

the time, and I submit it should be allowed to stand 

here is not a single objection to it This is in 

swer to Mt Rosenberg: 



tr. 

THE COURT: The only reason Ieuggested-the consent 

was the fact that it,. Seemed to :me to make no difference 

and on account of the statement made that t interrupted 

counsel taking an objection. Well, X must deny the 

motion. I 
MR. RO$iNBRG: To which the defendant exceptt. 

ask your Honor to strike from the record teatimony 

given by Vrs. Blumenthal, and by Officer Murphy ,concerning 

an explosion which took place at the premises in which 

Mr. Blumenthal lived, upon the ground that it is not 

part of this case, not in any wise connected with this' 

defendant, and an attempt to establish a separate and dis-

tinct crime for which this defendant is not on trial. 

MR, ROSENBERG: To which the defendant excepta# 

Now, the defendant rests • May it be under*tood that 

the defendant rests and then make the motion to strike 

and yourponor denied these moti9na, to which 

the defendant excepts? 

THE COURT: Yes. 

1U10 ROSENBERd1-. the defendant isdkess, asks your 

Honor to direct the jury to acquit the defendant upon each 

f the grounds stated beforet and the defendant ask0' 

that .those groun4s be repeated at the aloes Oa* 



and upon the additional ground that the facts set fort)), 

in the second count of the indictment have not been proved; 

that the facts set forth in the second count of the indict-

ment do not establish any -crime, and desire to call 

your Honor's attention to the fact that the crime of an 

attempt to cimmit the crime of extortion is made a crime 

by a section other than-850 of the Penal Law, and if , 

your Honor will hear me a moment on that,, I think X can 

Show you that, if there is any offence of attempting t 

commit the crime of extortion, it. is the crime of a 

demeanor which is not charged in this indictment. 

THE COURT: Well, Mr. District Attorney, I, do not 

know that / quite comprehend the point, but thi'L/ know, 

that there has recently been a court decision bOldin 

.that an attempt at an extortion was a misdemeanor, and 

quite recently the Legislature seemed to have tried to get 

over that difficulty. sow, was the date of this (trill* 

prior to the act of the Legislature or after, I mean after 

PRESS: Subsequent, I believe, your Honor, and I 

took the matter up with Mr. Perkins and he informs me 

it was under 850 pnd 851, subdivision 1.. 

THE COURT: Well, I wffrdeny you76otion. 

MR. ROSENBERG: Well, will your .4nor hear me as 

the question, that the crime is not before 



apoi  the fiegi81Oakre0 

MR.ROSMNIMR(1,, That is what I want to do4 

Honor wilA look at section 857 r the Penal Law you wil3. 

find that the Legislature ha u Oxpressly defined what i$ 

the 'crime of attempted extortion., and at the conclUding 

19117mand I claim that that amendment in no wise inter*, 

feres with the law as it 'then existed end 

TH:o COMM: ir, District. Attorn 71 let TO: 

once more under what section do you claim thiS 

550 and 8,52.$ subdivie ion 

THE COLMT: It is subdivision 1 of 851$ lir«. =Stria 

MR. ROSSIT53ERGi Yes, that i what he olas. 

ROSIOMERG That only relates 

ROSMNBERG: Now, what I urge is th1e the oOfl• 

cludIng paragraph of 857 seysrthat is the .amendment of 

1911r that the provisions of this eection that 

governed by 851 of the act, •Indeed, the Law de &kill 

the Sam'e ex cipting to thoae o.ttrw 010, aver governed :by 



f the 84to Now, 851 r the sot defines .or attempts 

to define what is fear, or how fear may be indeOed; fear 

such as will constitute ex ortion may be induced by an 

oral or written threat 40.  first, that is the section which 
3,A...114;a4A.:a aVeAv 
ni relies on ‘41. to 40 unlawful injUrY 40 the person or 

property of the individual threatened or ,tte any relative 

of tits or to any member of his family. 

_tow, your Honor will see that aA of itself must 

be recd, in connection with 850, 850 defines wbielsmt 

the crime of extortion. 851 picks out one of the 

elements of the crime of extortion and defines what that 

element consists of. In other words, extortion is the 

obtaining of property from another with his consent 

induced by unlawful force or fear .or under color of official. 

Aka 
Now then, fear as definedAas will constitute extortion, 

pw be induced by an oral or written threat. Then it defines 

the threat. My claim is this, that 857 Merely eve that 
• 

shall  not apply to where the mittere are lgovernea by 

851. 851 only appliee to the crime of extortion, which 

is the completed °rime; therefore, if 851 only applies 

to the completed crime of extortion, then 857 is the law 

under *h.ich this defendant could be prosecuted if at all,. 

THE COURT: Well, I shall deny your motion, Mr. 

Rosenberg, 



let* ROSENWRql And r refer y ur Honor to. The People 

200 New York which was the latest expression ct V op lox 

and Which resulted in this amendment 

THE COURti.` X have ruled. ow you may go to the 

jury.* 

Mr. Rosenberg thereupon closed 

cf the defense. 

Mr. Press thereupon closed the case on behalf of 

the People. 

('During Mr. Press s closing ad.dresst) 

ROSENBER.G; Your Honor, I ask that in View Of 

the fact that your Honor ruled that the question' X put 

was a proper question, Mr. Press has no right to Say 

the question I put was improper. 

THE COURT: X will instruct the Turr-to determine 

thin case from the evidence in this case and, that 

right to say. your Honor, that the only way of impeach-

tness is by asking if he VWas convicted, and 

except to your Honor's refusal to direct th#3 District 

Attorney _net to Say that. 



Gentlemen, in a criminal action, all ques-

tions of fact are for the jury to determine, Yo mast 

weigh the evidence in your own way, and in your own good' 

sense believe that which you think worthy of belief and re-

ject that which on the contrary, You think unworthy 

Be guided by the law as / declare it, and for the 

purposes of the trial, the law that I declare 46 the la, 

that must govern and control You. Pox' the purposes of 

the trial I mn infallible in my statement Of the law, and 

you must accept it precisely as I declare it, no matter 

whether you agree with it or whether you _disagree with 

for every word I say is being taken down by the official 

stenographer, to the end that it may be submitted for review 

to an Appellate tribunal, an Appellate Court, and if per". 

Chance I misstate the law, it can be correoted but.a you 

gentlemen shall set aside the law as I declare it, and- m*ke 

law of the case for yourselves, there is no way of rel, 

viewing it, and giving this defendant a fair trial under 

set, I t tell you_ • forget all ,state-

are been wail by oounse in this case, 



either the PeciPISI* counsel or defendant 

guided and controlled- only by What I say. 
= , _1 . 

It  i* teY rule in charging a Jurr, to submit t 

succinct, .clear and brief =Inner, the question.for their 

determination, not beclouding by any hifalutin langUage 

or any eloquenee of Charge, the issue TioUbmitted to the . 

jury, and it is my experience, a$ well as MY 1,10, that the 

jury should accept tie question submitted, and then at the 

. exercise of. their good common sense) in  every spirilL of 

fairness, they shall give a square deal to the ''People on 

the one hand, and the defendant on the other taking the: 

question submitted to them, and from the evidence., and that 

alone, determine it and decide it: 

The defendant is not charged with the crime of extor—

ti4, but with an attempt to commit the crime of7extortion, 

so that, at the very threshold of , your inquiry, 7141 OuSt 

know What is an attempt to commit crime in the law.. 

It is oonoeded that there was no extortion .here, 

mitting a crime and tending to-commit the crime, but 'yet 

failing to effect it. I might lunge at you, intending to 

strike you, Mr. Poreman, and the valiant .District Attorney 

being nearest to me, might stop me before my blow 

on you. You would be millarimi. There would be no 



intention of assaulting you, that is, with the. intention 
, 

of stril•Cing Yo4.1.-dcine eat' *JO tended to the strilgingi 

and, yet fell- short of its accomplishment. That homely 11. 

lustratian will perhaps help you to understand an attempt 

to commit the crime of extortion. 

It is claimed here that the defendant attettPted to 

extort money, that with that intention :he did at act tend., 

ing to commit it though it did fall short of accomplish 

Bktortion is the obtaining of property from another, 

with his consent, induced by a wrongful use of force or 

fear, or under color of official right. Year such se 

will constitute extortion may be induced by at oral or 

written threat to do an unlawful injury to the petsbn or 

'property of the individual threatened, or to any relative 

of hie or to any member of his family. 

It is contended here that at the time and Plac oarg 

ed in the indictment, this defendant came Unite Louis 

Blumenthal and threatened him with dire consequence*, to 

wit, threatened his life if he did not give him money. 

Blumenthal did not give the money, but the defendant 

claimed, did all that was in his power to carry- (Ad this 

ciime did it with the intention of commi ting the  crime 



property of B3umenthal, induced by a wrongful use of lord 

r fear, and that the fear was induced by an oral- threat to 

do in unlawful injr bo his, Blumenthal's person, coirti4t. 

him of an attempt to commit the crime of extortion; and if 

-he did not, acquit him. If you eivtrertain any reasonable 

doubt about it, give the defendant the benefit of that 

That is all there is to the case, gentle, 

men. I will see if there are any further requests to charge 

I except to that portion of your Honor 

charge wherein you submitted to the jury the question of an 

attempt to commit the crime as defined by Section '2 of the 

Penal Law, .an act tending to commit a crime, andAclaim. 

tha=1$gar=Wense, that if there be a crime known as at-

tempted extortion, it must come within Section 857 of the 

Penal Law. I except to that part of your Honor's charge 

wherein you said in words or substance that it is admitted 

that an attempt, to commit the crime of extortion was mad 

. MR. ROSENBERG. You said that it is conceded that th 

crime of extortion was not completed, but that an attempt 



THE COURT: 

to say it vas 

lak. ROSENBERG: Z except to that portion of your Honor 

charge wherein you state that the jury must forget all the 

lair which was discussed by counsel. 

THE COURT: Well, I say to the jury that they must 

accept the law as I lay it down in my charge, and if any-; 

thing has been said inconeisteht with it, neglect it, but 

accept the law / declare, gentlemen. 

I except to that portion of your Hon-

or a charge *herein you stated near the opening of your 

charge, that everything you are saying is being taken down 

by the stenographer to the end that it may be reVieWei by 

an Appellate tribunal. 

THE COURT: Welt, Whet is the matter with that s at-se 

merit? Xe t wrong? Is it error, is it false Aintriae, bad 

MR. ROSENBERG: It gives the jury the idea that Ws 

OAS* is to be reviewed by an Appellate tribunal in *Lich 

THE COURT (Interposing): Gentlemen, you must not ae01. 

sume it will be reviewed. I only indicted that to show 

you the importance of youracoepting the law as I declare 

it. I do notskpow whether it will be reviewed or not. 



MB, BOSBNBa: trairicyOur.Hiinor to charge that be. 

foz the defendant Sy be found guilty 'under' this. indict. 

!gent the Jury must, be convinced. beyond :reasonable doubt: 

that the threat wag made to obtain, that theattettpt was 

grade to obtain property from Louis Biumenthal with :big colt-

THE COURT: I have already covered that. 

MR. ROSENBERG: I at* your Honor to charge the Jury 

that they must not consider the evidence of the shOoting... 

of Louts Blumenthal to the prejudice of this .defendant. 

THE COURT: *Well, the jury .must consider all the, erti 

may say to them that I do not recall any, evi,m, 

dence that the defendant did this shooting, none 'Whatever. 

It is riot fair to the defendant to infer that he did.- You  

must draw no unfavorable inference from that. .It IS: a 

fact in the case, it is in the case to. explain why DIVOtertio, 

thal is not here as a witness. 

MR. ROSE1BERa: Oh, no, we have admitted .he was -dead* 

your Honor, there was other proof that he *a* dead. 

• THE COURT: /9 there any other request ?, 

MR. ROSENBERG: 1 ask your Honor to charge the jury Olikt 

they must not infer or consider the fact of the explosl..on 

which occurred on the 10th or 11th of Dec embers, Blunten. 

thallg premises as against this defendant. 

THE COURT: I do not ragember anything oonneoting the 



part sf the res 

But there is no legal  ccuflectiOlu 

the defendant with it. 

MR. ROSENEEEG: Then why not have the Jury disregard 

that in considering the question Of his guilt or innocence? 

THE COURT: I have so declared to the Jury. 

R. ROSENBERG: t ask your ,Honor to charge the jury 

• THE COURT: Have I not said that?_ 

MR. ROSENBERG: I did not hear your Honor say 

THE COURT: Then I do say it. 

MR. ROSENBERG: I ask your Honor to charge the Jury 

that the People must prove this case beyond a reasonable 

THE COURT: I think I have said that very thing. 

UR ROSEVBEMG: I ask your Honor to charge the jury that 

they must not consider, in-determining the gat or inn0.* 

cence of this defe4ant, anything except the legal evidence 

which has been adduced upon the trial of this case,. 

:TH COURT: Yes, I have told them that once. I 

fendant took the witness stand 



TE 9.9141? asierpOsing lit hate Z net 

ur 44.144etelY, 1443.1y and sufficiently, in allfair* 

BERG: Well I think 

defendant&-vAdfa AAP;:et 

THE COMT: Ohl it is your right to get up and read . 

many requeSta but does it add to the clearness with which 
• .„ • 

•the jury Woe? 
'-

MR. ROSENBERG: 1 aek your Honor to charge the 

that when the defendant took the witness stand the District 

Attorney could have interrogated the defendant, as to any 

-

 

criminal or vicioue alit in his life which he committed. 

THE COURT I Yes, he might have done that, gentlemen, 

if that help you. 

MR MSS: Along certain lines, your gonorvi, 

THE COURT: Yen. 

MR. ROSENB. ERG: Any criminal or vicious *et the de* 

fondant was guilty of, the District Attorney could hove irtm 

t errogat ed. the defendant bout.a  

THE COURT: Now, slay do you ask me to say it twice? 

MR. ROSENBERG: Well, Mr. Preen says ',along certain 
' 

THE-COUBT: Tell, X charge it as you. 

MR. ROSENBERG Now, I oak your. Honor tO, charge the 

that the question which Was 'propounded to te witness 
• •0 



from his employer, was a, proper question* in view Of the 

claim made by the Distriot Attorney in his summing -up that 

that was an intPrsperoluestionl 

THE COURT: •I decline to tell the a-ury, They remein.' 

ber the answer, and if it wags not proper, would havo e

oluded it. Ilse your good sense, gentlemen. 

MR. ROSENBIKSG:, Well, your Honor admitted 

THE COURT: Then it was. a proper question. NoWo...look 

at the time that would be consumed if you go through the 

entire list of questions and answers and ask me to rule 

MR. ROSENBERG: I except ,to your Honor's 

Vte=glizesuirm to the juryAoontained in the agoond count ,cf 

the indictment, upon the ground that the facts stated have 

not been established. - 

THE COURT: I have submitted to the jury only one 

question, and they may decide it, unless you have further . 

MR.. ROSENBERG: I encoept to your Honor's submitting. 

the jury also th'e question that under this indictment a 

•threat to kill 'has been made out.. Exception. 

THE COURT: You may retire, gentlemen. 



and. rendered the following verdict: 

We.. find. the defendant guilty of attempted ektsrtion 

and we recommend him to tie extreme mercy of the 

TOM3723-:**ill your Honor postpone :sentence' - 

until Wednesday :Or any other day Which your Honor fixes? 

THE COURT: Any day you want. 

MR. IiO,SENBERG: Reserving the right to zalce a motion 

to set aside the Verdict, upon all the grounds'? 

THE COURT: Yes. 
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em suotteone.d at 

ROSENB Will I make my motions .now, your Honor? 

THE COURT: TWO one minute. Have' you any witnieses 

ROBENTBMG; So, sir. 

THE COURT: Then I will hear your motion* 

MR. ROSENBrRG: The defendant moves to set aside the 

verdict of the jury and for a new trial, .upon the following 

grounds": 
:41 

Pint, that the verdict la contrary to law; second, 

the verdict is contrary to the evidence; third., that the 

vex-duct is against the weight .of evidence; fourth, because 

the facts proved., do net constitute a crime fifth, be 

cause the Court misdirected the jury on matters of law, 

to which the defendant duly excepted, and because the Court 

refused to charge as requested by the defendant, to Which 

the defendant duly excepted; seventh, because the COUrt 

erred in denying the defendant's motion to advise the jury 

to acquit made at the close of the People's case, and again. 

at the close of the whole case, to the denial of which MO- • 

tion the defendant duly excepted. Bighlh, because the Court 

erred. in admitting evidence iven by one Louis Blumenthal 

in the Magistrate's Court of the City of New York, First 

Division, 3rd District', on the 13th day, ef•December, 1911 

against the objection and 63a:option of the defendani; ninth, 



and ixmaterial evldenoe, against the objection and excep-

--fion of the defendant, and excluded illegally, competent 

evidence offered on his behalf; because of the mieondUct 

of the Assistant District Attorney in offering illegal and__ 

incompetent evidence, and knowingly propoundintrillegal 

questions to witnesses, and making statements during the 

trial and creating a prejudicial atmosphere against the 

defendant, all for the purpose of influencing the jury 

against the defendant. 

The defendant moves in arrest of judgment, irst, 

that the facts proved do not constitute a crime; second, 

that the facts proved do not constitute the crime of an. 

attemPt to commit the crime of extortion; third, that the 

facts charged in the indictment do not constitute a crime; 

and lastly, that the facts set forth in the second count of 

'the indictment, do not constitute the crime of an attempt 
ti 

to commit the crime of extortion. 

THE COURT: Your motion in all respects is denied. 

MR. ROMBERG: To which the defendant excepts, 



1 
FRBEIG:- Not on matters of law, your Honor. 

THE COUR Very wen, I have decided the (pies Ions 

TiV,1 hear you on such other subjeCte as 

wish to be heard -„on. 

A 
THE COURT: I did, I havoeread bo/4h of your sugges-

- 
tions, and I am prepared to dispo e/of the case. 

MR.,ROSEUBERG: Now, with re4ence to the merits, your 

Honor I believe that if Mr. Wikin, w testified before 

the Coroner's Inquest on lasftedneaday, NIere to be inter. 

rogated by your Honor on t4subject of his 

Honor with-jthe truth or our defense, and the abute I 

canoe of this defendant. 

THE COURT:- Thpit is a matter for you to bring up 

the head of a moiion for a new trial. You have one yea 

MR. RO BP ERG: I think this case will be disposed 

of befora year is 14). 

• COURT: Well, of course, you may appeal; I have 

got to tell you that, but the question is now on thei_sen 



lAB.ENBERG: Noio(I would rathernot ta)e on that 

subject, you Honor. Of course, if this de/ndant was 

guilty, and I suRpose your Honor is boun to assume that 
A 

the verdict of the though X 

disagree with the jury's Verdict. 
N 

THE COURT: Oh, yesOhe jury s convicted him, and in 
\ 

law your disagreement is ao ver, 
1 

ROSEVBERG: NO, of c1; se not, but of course with. 

the prejudicial atmosphere 1?.. was created in this 

it would have been a accident if 4 proper verdict-
-4 

should uiam been render4,  because 'V" the fact that the, 

District Attorney etaxyted out, instea of trying this man 

for extortion, he tried him for either x%*rder or to 

ing up this tenement house. b 
% 

.THE COURT:illo, no, the test of the iss 

the Judge's charge; the grudge's charge submits\the 

submitted-any question of murder to this jury. 

three days an atmosphere created around this defenda 

hioh showed that at 2 otclock in the 

house filled with *women and children, an emplosidn occurred. 



the jury WOU.1.4 have to be other than human not to have 

been nfluenced by that .evidence, and. I say that the 

dUction f that evidence, alt4ough / objected to  Wfroo 

the start, nd persisted in my objection, certainly operated 

to the defend nt's.pr4udice, and 1 think thathill be the 

main reason whybls case stll Ile reversed f for no other 

reason, though I 14 ieve that the introdu ion of the depo-

guilty he was entitled to 

•tion of mercy. 

fact*, if this man were 

eideration, and yet the 

awht in a strong reCommende-
,. 

THE COURT: Ohl yes, 1/shall liAen to that, 

berg, aà give it full 1*ight. 

Charles Vltusky, Imu have been trie 

tried, and conviotee; I believe justly conilipted. The jury 
P 

have recommended Ifou to the extreme mercy of  Coiart,*and 

'I shall hearken unto and give full weight to t 

dation. F 
/-

Under the law, and the law is complicated in Up. 

treme as regards the punishment for your offense, it 

iffiot for me to see what legal punishment can "rope 

be msted out.  I have had briefs submitted both for the, 
Your 

District Attorney and counsel,and the course that I Alt 



c 
"-this commu ity, if we may believe the newspapel; 

of the "Black\ and" nature. It is suggest' that you are. 

both a bomb throirlr and a horse poisoner, nd a "Black Hands 

as well. This comnItIty has too long, certain of its 

is meet and it is proper that the eletreme penalty of the 
N 

law should -be meted out to 64ph a!, you., The recommendation 
N 

of the jury, proper underthe 3ou3n8tances, stays my hand. 

Elmira Reformatory is availabp or you. in view of your 

youth for you appear from)the reccivi to be only twenty-

four, inviewofthefaOthatyouhav.enever had an edu-
,-

cation, in view of the =1"act thatjf youre ever to become 

a good citizen, You 
‘ 

eed to have somethingi of education 

‘ 
and something of w4olesome discipline adMint tared to you, 

Now, if Miss Xossam can be found, I will tikp up 

matter of looking after this man's family in his a 

MR. 'ROSENBERG: Will your Honor stay the executi 

sentencle until Monday? 

THE COURT: You may have a week, if You wish. 

are some questions of liar here that may properly be 
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